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Dear shareholders:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Sanxun Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present to all shareholders the annual report of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, referred to as the “Group”, “we”
or “our”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”).

MACRO ANALYSIS OF THE INDUSTRY

In 2023, China’s real estate market was still in a downside stage,
and the pressure on the capital profile of real estate enterprises
remained unchanged. Under the new situation of significant
changes in supply and demand, the market landscape and
enterprise landscape continued to encounter adjustments. In the
long run, the scale of real estate market will still amount to RMB
10 trillion, and there will still be structural opportunities in different
cities for different demands. Meanwhile, the direction of exploring
new development models in the industry become clear gradually,
and real estate enterprises should seize the market opportunities
and take the initiative to adapt to the new situations, thereby
achieving high-quality development with a balanced structure of
asset-light and asset-heavy business. Looking ahead in 2024,
the national new housing market will continue to be exposed to
downside pressure in the short term, and different real estate
enterprises will need to formulate corresponding strategies
according to their own circumstances to ride out the cycle.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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OPERATING PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group, together with
its associates, recorded a cumulative contracted sales amount
of approximately RMB783.2 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 64.6%. During the Reporting Period,
the Group recognized sales revenue of RMB2,623.4 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 41.5%, and realized an
annual loss of RMB384.8 million. The Group had total assets of
approximately RMB11,158.4 million; and total cash and bank
balances of approximately RMB391.4 million.

REVIEW OF WORK IN 2023

In 2023, the development of the industry has been moving along
a refined and delicate trend. The Group was keen to capture the
development characteristics dynamically. Externally, the Group
actively adopted a number of regional products as models in
terms of research and development characteristics, organised
internal trainings and observations, while absorbing some of the
best practices, thereby reaping good results in promoting the
existing major projects; internally, the Group has re-established
its operation and management system; project controls were
achieved by direct management by the Group, while operation
promotions were done by dynamic interlocking circles where
the Group has vigorously participated in providing support to
proactively identify problems, expose problems, and notify the
Group in real time to reduce the loading time for reviews and
enhance the efficiency of operation, thus achieving a certain
degree of good effectiveness. The Group will continue to promote
efficient and high-quality organisational control and optimisation
of its operation model and continue to expand its operational
effectiveness.
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OUTLOOK FOR THE YEAR 2024

In terms of orientation: combined with the guidelines and
principles of “striving to seek progress amidst stability, promoting
stability through progress, and breaking through before making
achievements”, “strengthening counter-cyclical and cross-cyclical
adjustments in macro policies, continuing to implement proactive
fiscal policies and prudent monetary policies, and strengthening
the innovation and co-ordination of policy tools” proposed by
the Central Economic Work Conference in December, the Group
will continue to actively embrace the market and development,
revitalize assets and gather strength to improve operating
performance.

Through a series of measures in 2023 such as organizational
control, operational control, and high-quality learning, the Group
has refined a series of more effective management models and
management precipitation. The Group continued to uphold the
principles of improving reputation among customers, expanding
the market through reputation, and achieving new growth from
the market. Externally, the Group strictly controlled the quality
and strived to create a good image. Internally, the Group
adhered to financial revitalization, asset revitalization, operational
optimization, organizational activation, and model upgrade.
Through a series of efforts in 2023, it is believed that the Group
can achieve breakthrough in the performance of some major
projects in 2024 and gain certain development space in 2024
while creating more development opportunities and achieving
good performance to return to the market and investors.
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Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all shareholders, customers and partners for
their support, and to the directors, management team and all
employees for their hard work and dedication over the past year
that our management activities regained vitality for the Group. |
am full of confidence and expectation for the development of the
industry and the Group’s business strategy in the next stage. |
believe that the Group has enough courage and ability to face the
challenges ahead and achieve business growth, great progress
and steady development.

Qian Kun
Chairman & Executive Director
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ANNUAL RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

Note:

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately RMB2,623.4 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 41.5% as compared to the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB32.8 million with a gross profit margin of
approximately 1.25%.

Loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB384.8 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 454.3% as compared to the profit for the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
RMB108.6 million. Loss attributable to owners of the parent
was approximately RMB413.3 million.

Total assets as at 31 December 2023 were approximately
RMB11,158.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 21.3% as compared to 31 December 2022.

Contracted sales amount of the Group together with its
associate for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately RMB783.2 million, representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 64.6%; contracted GFA
sold was approximately 108,278 sqg.m. for the year ended
31 December 2023, representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 63.0%.

Cash and bank balances were approximately RMB391.4
million as at 31 December 2023.

Net gearing ratio was approximately 24.4% as at 31
December 2023.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The net gearing ratio was calculated by dividing the net of interest-bearing
liabilities minus cash and bank balances by the total equity.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a real estate developer in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) focusing on the development and sales of
residential properties. Headquartered in Hefei and deeply rooted
in Anhui Province, the Group has established its presence in the
Yangtze River Delta. Since the establishment of its predecessor,
Anhui Sanxun Investment Group Co., Ltd., in 2004, the Group
has been strategically focusing on the real estate market in Anhui
Province, actively expanded cities located in the Yangtze River
Delta, expanded its operation from core prefecture-level cities
to county-level cities in the province, and has also successfully
expanded into the real estate markets of Shandong and Jiangsu
provinces since 2018.

The Group was successfully listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(Stock Code: 6611) by way of the Global Offering (as defined
in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2021)
(the “Prospectus”) on 19 July 2021 (the “Listing”). This marked
an important milestone in the development of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
decreased from RMB4,487.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to RMB2,623.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
including an associate, the Group recorded contracted sales of
approximately RMB783.2 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 64.6%.

By optimizing the debt structure, controlling the debt growth and
strengthening the cash reserves, the Group continued to intensify
its financial risk resistance. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
major debt indicators remained at an industry healthy level,
including a net gearing ratio of 24.4% (31 December 2022: 3.8%),
cash (including restricted cash, pledged deposits and cash and
cash equivalents) to short-term borrowing ratio of 0.59 times (31
December 2022: 1.5 times) and liabilities to asset ratio (excluding
advanced sales proceeds) of 64.9% (31 December 2022: 61.7%).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continueq)

With both opportunities and challenges in the real estate industry,
the Group adhered to its goal of “creating a happy life” and
operational approaches of “maintaining stable results with rising
trend, increasing efficiency and reducing expenditure”. The
Group focused on the improvement of core business capabilities,
deepened its Yangtze River Delta development footprint, forged
ahead and achieved good operational results.

Industry Review

According to the data from China Index Academy, in 2023, the
total sales of the top 100 real estate enterprises amounted to
RMB 6,279.10 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of
17.3%. The year-on-year sales of real estate enterprises in all tiers
declined, with the average year-on-year sales of the top 10 real
estate enterprises dropping by 11.7%, and the average year-on-
year sales of real estate enterprises among the top 11-30, the top
31-50 and the top 51-100 dropping by a larger percentage as to
17.8%, 19.0% and 28.2% respectively.

In terms of enterprise categories, central state-owned enterprises
achieved growing results. Among the top enterprises, sales of
central state-owned enterprises grew by an average of 4.0%,
while sales of stable private enterprises declined by an average of
12.4%, sales of mixed-ownership enterprises declined by 15.8%,
and sales of unstable private enterprises declined by 46.5%.

In terms of land acquisition, in 2023, the total land acquisition
of the top 100 enterprises amounted to RMB 1,319.5 billion,
representing a slight increase of 1.7% year-on-year, and the pace
of land supply at the end of the year was accelerated, which led
the growth rate of the total land acquisition of enterprises to turn
positive. Among the top 50 and top 100 enterprises, central state-
owned enterprises and state-owned enterprises accounted for
about 80%. The top enterprises insisted on setting production
targets according to sales records and keeping expenditure within
the limits of revenues, so as to maintain investment efficiency and
operational stability.
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BUS'NESS REVIEW (Continued)
Industry Review (Continued)

In terms of financing, in 2023, the total amount of bond financing
of real estate enterprise was RMB692.54 billion, representing a
drop of 7.5% year-on-year. Among them, credit bond financing
of real estate industry was RMB 423.31 billion, representing a
year-on-year decline of 9.1% and accounting for 61.1%; overseas
bond issuance amounted to RMB 21.93 billion, increasing by
24.6% year-on-year and accounting for 3.2%; ABS financing
amounted to RMB 247.29 billion, decreasing by 6.8% year-on-
year, accounting for 35.7%.

Overall, in 2023, China’s real estate market is still in a downside
stage, and the pressure on the capital profile of real estate
enterprises remained unchanged. Under the new situation of
significant changes in supply and demand, the market landscape
and enterprise landscape continued to encounter adjustments. In
the long run, the scale of the real estate market will still amount
to RMB 10 trillion, and there will still be structural opportunities in
different cities for different demands. Meanwhile, the direction of
exploring new development models in the industry become clear
gradually, and real estate enterprises should seize the market
opportunities and take the initiative to adapt to the new situations,
thereby achieving high-quality development with a balanced
structure of asset-light and asset-heavy business. Looking ahead
in 2024, the national new housing market will continue to be
exposed to downside pressure in the short term, and different real
estate enterprises will need to formulate corresponding strategies
according to their own circumstances to ride out the cycle.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continueq)
Outlook

In terms of macro environment of economic and policy
environment, economic growth may slow down in 2024, cross-
cycle and counter-cyclical adjustment policies are expected to be
further strengthened.

Looking ahead in 2024, global economic growth is slowing down,
external demand may continue to be sluggish, “One Belt, One
Road” is expected to continue to drive China’s exports, while
the scarring effect brought about by the epidemic is still in place,
the probability of consumer spending exceeding expectations is
relatively low, and the need to stabilise investment has become
even stronger. At the Central Economic Work Conference in
December 2023, “striving to seek progress amidst stability,
promoting stability through progress, and breaking through
before making achievements”, “strengthening counter-cyclical
and cross-cyclical adjustments in macro policies, continuing to
implement proactive fiscal policies and prudent monetary policies,
and strengthening the innovation and co-ordination of policy
tools” were proposed. It is expected that the monetary policy will
further stabilise the economy in the future, and the fiscal policy is
expected to follow up in tandem with the monetary policy, thereby
better unleashing the potentials of economic development.

In terms of policy environment, against the backdrop of “significant
changes in the relationship between supply and demand”, it is
expected that all regions will continue to optimise their property
market policies, and the supporting measures for the “three major
projects” are expected to accelerate.

The meeting held on 24 July 2023 of the Political Bureau of the
Central Committee put forward “to adapt to the new situation
of significant changes in the relationship between supply and
demand in China’s real estate market”, which was a major
judgement to define the real estate market, and since then a
number of ministries and commissions clarified the direction of the
real estate policy optimization, the policies of regions continued to
be implemented. According to the monitoring of the China Index
Academy, in 2023, more than 200 provinces and cities (counties)
have launched real estate control policies for more than 670
times, and most of the restrictive policies of the cities have been
completely released.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continuea)
Outlook (Continued)

At the central level, in February 20283, the magazine “Qiushi”
published an article by the General Secretary Xi Jinping entitled
“Several Important Issues in the Current Economic Works”,
which emphasised the importance of the real estate industry
in the national economy, and proposed “in-depth research
and judgement on the supply and demand relationship in the
real estate market and the landscape of urbanisation, as well
as other major trend and structural changes, and to urgently
carrying out researches on medium- and long-term solutions to
address the problem at root”. The government work reports of
the Two Sessions also emphasised “effectively preventing and
resolving the risks of high-quality leading real estate enterprises”,
“strengthening the building of the housing protection system”
and “supporting rigid and improving housing demand”. In April
2023, a meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central Committee
was convened to analyse and study the current economic
situation and economic work, and the key words for real estate
such as “Housing Without Speculation”, “City-based Policy
Implementation”, “Supporting Rigid And Improving Housing
Demand” and “Guaranteed Delivery Of Housing” and “New Model
Of Real Estate Development” have all continued the previous
propositions, and the overall environment of real estate policies
has remained relaxed.

In July 2023, the meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central
Committee defined the real estate, for which firstly, “China’s real
estate market supply and demand relationship has undergone
significant changes” was clearly put forward and secondly the
transformation of urban villages, public infrastructure “for normal
and urgent use”, as well as the planning and construction of
affordable housing were further promoted. In this context, the
regulatory and control policies launched at the previous stage
where supply could not meet demand need to be adjusted and
optimised in a timely manner, thereby opening more room for the
regulatory authorities as well as the optimisation of the property
market policy across the regions. Since the end of August 2023, a
number of ministries and commissions actively stated their stance
and launched specific measures, and the restricting policies
across the regions were also gradually loosened, such that the real
estate industry really welcomed the policy bottom.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Outlook (Continued)

From 30 to 31 October 2023, the Central Financial Work
Conference made it clear that it would “promote the virtuous cycle
of finance and real estate, optimise the regulatory system for the
business entity of real estate enterprises and the supervision of
funds, improve the macro-prudential financial management of
real estate, and satisfy the reasonable financing needs of real
estate enterprises of different ownerships on an equitable basis,
as well as making good use of city-based policies with the pool of
policies, better supporting rigid and improved housing demand,
accelerating the construction of ‘three major projects’ such as
affordable housing, and building a new model of real estate
development.”

In December 20283, the Central Economic Work Conference
confirmed the policy direction for 2024. Firstly, it continued to
emphasise “resolutely guarding the bottom line of not incurring
systemic risks”, “proactively and steadily resolving the risks of the
real estate, satisfying the reasonable financing needs of real estate
enterprises of different ownerships on an equitable basis, and
promoting the stable and healthy development of the real estate
market”. Secondly, it further specified “accelerating the ‘three
major projects’ such as the construction of affordable housing, the
construction of public infrastructure ‘for normal and urgent use’,
and the transformation of urban villages”. Meanwhile, it proposed
to “improve the relevant basic system and accelerate the building
of a new model of real estate development”. The definition of
policy of “Breaking Through Before Making Achievements” has
also brought stronger optimisation expectations for real estate
policies.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continuea)
Outlook (Continued)

At the local level, since the end of August 2023, favoured by the
frequent introduction of policies across the regions, the policy
of “mortgage granted to homebuyers based on the number of
houses they own rather than their previous mortgage loan record
(RETRE)” for the first home mortgage was implemented in
Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and Shenzhen, and the application
frequency of policy in September 2023 reached its monthly
record high since the fourth quarter in 2022. In terms of purchase
restrictions, 14 second-tier cities, such as Nanjing, Hefei, Jinan
and Qingdao, etc., completely lifted their purchase restriction
policies, while a number of other second-tier cities relaxed their
purchase restrictions by optimising the number of housing units to
be purchased, optimising the scope of purchase restriction, and
relaxing the restrictions on the purchase of housing. Among the
first-tier cities, Guangzhou relaxed the purchase restriction in its
suburbs.

In terms of lending restrictions, various regions have actively
implemented differentiated housing credit policies, with the down
payment ratio of 20% for the first house and 30% for the second
house being implemented in most cities for commercial loans,
and the lower limit of the interest rate for second-unit loans being
adjusted to LPR+20BP, with the down payment ratio in some core
tier-2 cities such as Hangzhou being lowered to 25% for the first
house and 35% for the second house. Among the first-tier cities,
Guangzhou and Shenzhen have lowered the down payment ratio
for commercial loans to 30% for the first house and 40% for the
second house; Beijing and Shanghai have adjusted the down
payment ratio for commercial loans to 30% for the first house
and 40%-50% for the second house, depending on the regions.
In addition, most cities across the country have implemented the
policy of “mortgage granted to homebuyers based on the number
of houses they own rather than their previous mortgage loan
record (RFETFRE)” for the first home mortgage.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Outlook (Continued)

According to the monitoring of China Index Academy, nearly 30
cities have lowered or cancelled the requirement for the number
of years of sales restriction since 2023; more than a dozen cities,
such as Shenzhen, Chengdu, Hefei, etc., have optimised their
price restriction policies. Meanwhile, more than 30 cities across
the country have explicitly implemented housing voucher, and
Guangzhou, one of the first-tier cities, has explicitly proposed to
explore the mechanism of housing voucher policy.

To sum up the above factors, on the one hand, the current
regulatory authorities and governments at all levels have gained a
unified understanding of the real estate industry, and it is expected
that various powerful measures will be implemented gradually and
in concert in the future. After the policy environment has reached
its tipping point, the policies on the supply and demand sides will
be launched, which will be conducive to the market stability and
recovery.

On the other hand, the real estate market has been in deep
adjustment for more than two years since the second half of
2021, representing the longest adjustment period in history, and
there is limited room for the market to continue to move sharply
downward.
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BUS'NESS REVIEW (Continued)
Outlook (Continued)

Based on the above information, looking ahead in 2024, the
recovery of the real estate market still depends on whether the
expectations of homebuyers can be restored, and there is still
room for policies on both the supply and demand sides to take
effect. “Three major projects” will be the main direction of the
policy implementation, which is expected to play an important role
in stabilising investments in 2024 while playing a positive role in
restoring sales and stabilising expectations. Generally speaking,
the new home sales market will continue to face adjustment
pressure in 2024. If the economy continues to recover and home
ownership sentiment improves, coupled with the urban village
transformation progressing on schedule, the sales scale may
achieve modest growth.

Property Development Business
Contracted sales

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded contracted sales
of approximately RMB774.2 million excluding the sales of an
associate, representing a year-on-year decrease of 63.4%, and
contracted gross floor area sold of approximately 107,114 square
meters (“sg.m.”), representing a year-on-year decrease of 60.9%.
The average selling price of our contracted sales for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB7,227.8 per
sg.m., representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
6.5%.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had contract liabilities of
approximately RMB5,201.6 million, as compared to approximately
RMB7,606.1 million as at 31 December 2022, representing a
decrease of approximately 31.6%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBEIWEDM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) %ﬁ@g(f)
Property Development Business (Continued) MEEREE(H)
Sale of properties Y EIHE

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue T &R # IR TR EIM R ZFTR B iR i 18
recognised from sales of properties development, the aggregate RSB D AEBAVELRRIEENDHER
gross floor area (the “GFA”) delivered, and the recognised average A XN EAELEEME((AEEERRE)R
selling price (the “ASP”) per sq.m. by geographic locations for the B HERNFFL K FHEB([FHEE]) :
periods and as at the dates indicated:

For the year ended/as at For the year ended/as at
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
BE2023512A31ALEE/ HZ2022612A31BILEE/
1#2023%12A31R 120224612 A31A
GFA Total Recognised GFA Total  Recognised
delivered revenue ASP delivered revenue ASP
BRI BER BRIH BBER
BEER 10N FHIER BEHE BN THER
sq.m. RMB’000 (RMB/sq.m.) sq.m. RMB'000  (RMB/sq.m.)
AR%  (AR%/ ARE  (ARE/
Cities PHK Fr FAR) FhK Fr FhR)
Chuzhou Al 913 2,140 2,342 1,399 4,632 3,311
Mingguang B3¢ 5,120 22,103 4,317 21017 97,682 4,648
Lixin & 68,018 420,717 6,185 163,090 1,137,480 6,975
Bozhou® e 16,404 106,225 6,476 20,107 165,846 8,248
Fengyang B = - - 108 948 8,778
Hefei = 45,592 623,052 13,666 68,763 841,203 12,233
Fuyang Bl - - - 15,773 50,306 3,189
Tai'an &% 6,260 33,440 5,342 35,385 190,175 5,374
Shouxian 1 = - - 17,798 85,447 4,801
Nanjing HR 1,443 21,014 14,565 62,260 954,775 15,335
Guoyang Vol 20,975 131,094 6,250 111,903 757,799 6,772
Xuancheng B 42,834 277,014 6,467 28,306 199,736 7,056
Suzhou M 59,106 412,363 6,977 - - -
Wuxi Ei35 41,380 367,388 8,878 - - -
Anging T 31,028 205,274 6,616 - - -
Total @/ 28 339,073 2,621,824 7,732 545,909 4,486,029 8,218
Notes: HiaE -
1) Excludes Mingguang and Fengyang. 1) BT R BLRS SABR SN ©
©2) Excludes Lixin. @) FISEGZRRID o
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BUS'NESS REVIEW (Continued)
Property Development Business (Continued)
Sale of properties (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a diverse portfolio of
46 projects, among which 30 were completed projects, 15 were
projects under development and 1 was a project held for future
development.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had completed properties
held for sale of RMB2,850.0 million, representing a 33.9%
increase from RMB2,128.8 million as at 31 December 2022. The
increase was primarily due to the increase in GFA completed
during the Reporting Period. The Group has obtained the
construction completion certificates in respect of all completed
properties held for sale.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had properties under
development of RMB5,231.3 million, representing a 34.3%
decrease from RMB7,960.9 million as at 31 December 2022,
as the Company was more prudent on the construction of new
projects during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBEIWEDM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) E$ 4 IEIVE(Q)

Land Bank T

The following table sets forth the GFA breakdown of the Group’s TR #&FIA L E R 2023412 531 A L ##
land reserves portfolio as at 31 December 2023: HERERBEIT

Estimated
Completed Planned GFA held % of Total
Numbers of saleable GFA Under  for Future Land Land
Projects GFAunsold Development Development  Reserves Reserves

AR BEAR

BRIRE ik | L

MHE mpg R0

BRYE MAREEN [ TR [l
(in sq.m.) (in sq.m.) (in sq.m.) (in sq.m.)

(F5%)  (FH%)  (F5X)  (F5X)

Subsidiaries WEAR
Anhui Province ZHE
Bozhou 2 13 95,536 298,194 - 393.730 19.8%
Chuzhou B 4 11,795 41,439 - 53,234 2.7%
Huainan kR 1 - 118,593 132,101 250,694 12.6%
Hefei Al 3 16,241 99,342 63,816 179,399 9.0%
Suzhou M 2 2,015 108,448 99,436 209,899 10.6%
Xuancheng B 1 7,759 - - 7,759 0.4%
Bengbu i35} 3 - 276,439 64,137 340,575 16.0%
Subtotal s 27 133,346 942,455 359,490 1,435,291 72.2%
Jiangsu Province &4
Nanjing HR 5 5,902 78,369 - 84,271 4.2%
Wuxi £ 4 31,568 230,421 - 261,989 13.2%
Changzhou M 1 - 132,391 - 132,391 6.7%
Subtotal et 10 37,470 441,181 - 478,651 24.1%
Total - Subsidiary Bi-WELT 37 170,816 1,383,637 359,490 1,913,942 96.3% -
Associate BERA]
Hefei AR 1 93 73,276 - 73,368 3.7%
Total - Associate B -HENT 1 93 73,276 - 73,368 3.7%
Total Land Reserves TifEEAE 38 170,909 1,456,912 359,490 1,987,310 100%
Note: » et -
™) Total GFA of the Group’s land bank includes (i) GFA available for sale and (1) AEE T FEEAEEMBERRENERIYED
total leasable GFA for completed properties, (i) GFA for properties under A4 SR IR R AT A AR ST () E R
development and (jii) GFA for properties held for future development. For )5 H 2R SR T AR I (i) R (E AR R BA B M) M 2 58
projects that are developed by the Group’s joint ventures and associate, the HiE - ASESE AR R E QR MENER
total GFA has been adjusted by our equity interest in the respective project. ME  BEEERCERERMRSEBENESH
# o
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue during the Reporting Period consisted of
revenue derived from sales of properties and rental. Revenue of
the Group decreased by 41.6% from approximately RMB4,486.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB2,621.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
primarily due to the decrease of delivered GFA for the year ended
31 December 2023 which was brought by the adverse market
environment. The total aggregate GFA recognised decreased from
545,909 sqg.m. for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 339,073
sg.m. for the year ended 31 December 2023 primarily due to
fewer properties completed and delivered for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The table below sets forth the Group’s revenue recognised,
aggregate GFA delivered and recognised ASP by property types
for the periods indicated:

Bt % B

WA
REBRBREHENRABERENEEE
RESHWA - REEBKA BB ZE2022F
12A31BEFEMHARKAL486. 088 T
WA 41.6%%EH E20235F12A31H LEE
MOAREKE26218EET  TEHRERE
2023F 12 A1 H L FENER N BEEME
B EBRAFNTIBREMSE - B #R
MEREmMBREE2022F12A31H ILEE
#9545,900F 7Kg > = & £2023F 12 A 31
HIEFER339,073F K » FEHREHZE
2023F12A31HIEFEER T RRINMWE
e

TRFIINARBEAEERMEER S D
MEERKRA  EXMNHBZERERDE
REFHERE :

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12B31ALEE
2023 2022
GFA Recognised Recognised GFA  Recognised  Recognised
delivered revenue ASP delivered revenue ASP
2023 20226
ERAMH B} B} BRI BRR BRER
BEAE WA THIEER BEATE KA THEE
sq.m. RMB’000 (RMB/sq.m.) sq.m. RMB'000  (RMB/sq.m.)
AR%  (AR%/ ARE  (ARE/
FrK i FrK) FAxR Tr FhHA)
Residential fFE 331,906 2,543,179 7,662 507,375 4,277,936 8,432
Commercial [EE 5,512 71,630 12,995 10,933 129,273 11,824
Carparks and underground FES R TRYEY
storage space'” 1,655 7,015 4,239 27,601 78,820 2,856
Total @it 339,073 2,621,824 7,132 545,909 4,486,029 8,218
Note: Bt -
(1) Includes non-saleable carparks for which the Group transferred the right of (1) BEAEEBFEREESEE TEFNTAIHEREE
use to customers. 2o
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily represents the costs incurred
directly associated with the property development activities.
The principal components of the Group’s cost of sales includes
construction and labor costs, land use rights costs and capitalised
interest costs on related borrowings for the purpose of property
development during the period of construction.

The cost of sales of the Group decreased by 33.4% from
approximately RMB3,890.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB2,590.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which was due to the decrease in the
delivery of properties during the Reporting Period.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit of the Group decreased by 94.5% from approximately
RMB596.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB32.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 primarily due to the decrease of revenue for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Our gross profit margin decreased to 1.3% for the year ended
31 December 2023, as compared to 13.3% for the year ended
31 December 2022 primarily because of an impairment provision
on inventories due to the continuing downturn in the real estate
industry.

Other Income and Gains

The Group’s other income and gains primarily consist of interest
income, forfeiture of deposits and others. Interest income primarily
includes interest income on bank deposits. Forfeiture of deposits
primarily represents forfeited deposits received from certain
homebuyers who did not subsequently enter into pre-sales/sales
contracts with the Group and penalties received from certain
customers due to their breach of sales or pre-sales contracts with
the Group.

Other income and gains of the Group decreased by 72% from
approximately RMB18.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB5.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, mainly because of the decrease in receipt of
government grants in 2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of sales
commissions, advertising, marketing and business development
expenses, staff costs, depreciation and amortisation, office
expenses, rent, travel and others.

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased by
58.4% from approximately RMB173.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB72.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily due to decreased
promotion and marketing activities for the Group’s projects.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of staff costs, hospitality
cost, office expenses, travel, rental, tax and professional fees.

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by 35.7% from
approximately RMB93.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB59.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily due to the decrease in labor cost arising
from the contraction of the Group’s business.

Other Expenses

Other expenses primarily consist of bad debt losses, penalties,
exchange loss and others. Other expenses of the Group increased
by 832.0% from approximately RMB12.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB119.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, primarily because: (1) the Group
revoked the contract signed with the government for acquisition
of the land in Bengbu to enhance the liquidity and lost part of the
advances amounting to RMB49.6 million in the first half of the
year; and (2) bad debt losses increased because of the downward
real estate market.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Finance Costs

Finance costs primarily consist of interest on loans and other
borrowings and interest on pre-sales deposits, net of interest
capitalised.

Finance costs of the Group increased by 53.3% from
approximately RMB27.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB42.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily due to the increase in the interest on
pre-sales deposits, net of interest capitalised during the Reporting
Period.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses represent corporate income tax, income tax
and land appreciation tax payable by subsidiaries of the Group in
the PRC.

Income tax expenses of the Group decreased by 37.3% from
approximately RMB202.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB127.1 million for the year ended 31
December 20283, primarily due to the decrease in the profit during
the Reporting Period.

Loss for the Reporting Period

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a loss of
approximately RMB384.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, as compared to the profit of approximately RMB108.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

The Group operated in a capital-intensive industry and financed
the Group’s working capital, capital expenditure and other capital
requirements primarily through cash generated from operations
including proceeds from the pre-sales of its properties, as well as
bank and other borrowings, which were typically designated for
specific construction and projects of the Group.

The Group intends to continue to monitor its development and
construction schedules, property sales and land acquisition plans
based on the cash inflow associated with existing and planned
external financing opportunities, including but not limited to the
issuance of corporate bonds or other debt offerings and property
sales proceeds.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately RMB391.4 million (31 December 2022:
RMB976.4 million), which primarily consisted of restricted cash,
pledged deposit and cash and cash equivalents.

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were RMB10,882.5 million and RMB8,833.5 million (31
December 2022: RMB13,780.8 million and RMB11,225.3 million),
respectively. The Group’s current ratio was calculated based on
its total current assets divided by its total current liabilities as
at the respective dates. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
current ratio was 1.2 times (31 December 2022: 1.2 times).

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total indebtedness,
including bank loans and other borrowings, amounted
to approximately RMB901.8 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB1,071.5 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBEIWEDM

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL REBES  MEBERELRER@)
RESOURCES (Continued)
Indebtedness (Continued) B (#&)

The following table sets forth the components of the Group’s &R AL BRI~ B BESHERKED
indebtedness as at the dates indicated:

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFIT
Current Borrowings BENERE X
Bank loans — secured RITER— FEKE 33,877 168,500
Other loans — secured™ HiER—FIE\FO 572,743 402,353
Other loans — unsecured® H A E R — E IR 61,000 64,520
Total Current Borrowings BNERfE SR 4258 667,620 635,373
Non-Current Borrowings JEBNHA B X
Bank loans — secured IRITER—HEKIE 199,390 169,390
Other loans — secured™ Hi B —EHI| o 34,800 266,770
Total Non-Current Borrowings JERNER(E SR AR 5R 234,190 436,160
Total st 901,810 1,071,533
Note: Bist
1) These borrowings are mainly in the form of trust and assets management (1) ZEBREENREARNERMEREEEER
financing arrangements with trust financing providers and asset AFIHEEREAEEEMETHUREAR R
management companies, and other financing arrangements with companies BUE=ZFBEATIHEMBRE LR XIS -

and independent third party individuals.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES (continued)

Indebtedness (Continued)

The following table sets forth the maturity profiles of the Group’s
bank and other borrowings as at the dates indicated:

REEE UEREXER@

&% (4)
TREIIAEERAR A BRTREMBER
COEIEICD AR

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Repayable within one year BR—FARERERE 667,620 635,373
Repayable in the second year BRE_FEE 84,800 262,770
Repayable in the third year BARE=FEE 149,390 173,390
Total @t 901,810 1,071,533

Gearing Ratio

The net gearing ratio which was calculated by dividing the net of
interest-bearing liabilities minus cash and bank balances (including
restricted cash, pledged deposits and cash equivalents) was
24.4% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 3.8%).

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness
of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations. The Group
had no significant concentrations of credit risk in view of its
large number of customers. The credit risk of the Group’s other
financial assets, which mainly comprise restricted cash, pledged
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and amounts
due from related parties, arises from default of the counterparty,
with @ maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments. The Directors do not expect any material losses from
non-performance of these counterparties.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES (continued)

Foreign Exchange Risks

The Group mainly operates its business in the PRC, and all of its
revenue and expenses are substantially denominated in Renminbi.
As at 31 December 2023, among the Group’s cash at bank and on
hand, only RMB0.09 million was denominated in Hong Kong dollar
and was subject to fluctuation of the exchange rate. The Group
does not have any policy to hedge against foreign exchange risk.
However, the Group will closely monitor its foreign exchange
exposure, and strive to maintain the value of the Group’s cash.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
exposure to changes in market interest rates is mainly attributable
to its interest-bearing loans and other borrowings. The Group had
not used derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate
risk, and obtained all bank borrowings and other borrowings with
fixed rates. The Directors do not anticipate significant impacts
to interest-bearing assets resulting from the changes in interest
rates, because the interest rates of cash equivalents are not
expected to change significantly.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings are secured by the pledges of the Group’s assets
with carrying values of approximately RMB1,982.9 million (31
December 2022: approximately RMB2,244.4 million) which mainly
include properties under development.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES (continued)

Contingent Liabilities

The Group provides mortgage guarantees to banks in respect
of the mortgage loans they provided to customers of the Group
in order to secure the repayment obligations of such customers.
The mortgage guarantees are issued from the execution of the
mortgage guarantee contract up until (i) two years after the
maturity of the bank borrowings and mortgages in the event of
customer’s default; or (ii) the registration of the mortgage are
completed. If a purchaser defaults on the mortgage loan, the
Group is typically required to repurchase the underlying property
by paying off the mortgage loan. If the Group fails to do so, the
mortgagee banks will auction the underlying property and recover
the balance from the Group if the outstanding loan amount
exceeds the net foreclosure sale proceeds. In line with industry
practice, the Group does not conduct independent credit checks
on its customers but rely on the credit checks conducted by the
mortgagee banks.

The following table sets forth the Group’s total guarantees as at
the dates indicated:

REEE  BEREXRER@

HARBE
AEERBRTRERHTAREEFZRBER
ASRITIREIRBER - URZEREFPNERK
REFLER - RBEFRAZILRBERS
MBTEE()RTERRZBIHAROMF
(HEPREA) © H(NVRIBOEMKD /L ©
WERBRZBER  AKEBREFEE
NZBEFRAEEREBAYE - HAKEREE
MBERBENR  RERTHABERBYE
MEREEERSH BB BEHEMSER
FFHE MR AKENHRE - HRITEE
Bl AEBETEHAKE cEFETEILE
AZE  BEERBRBRITMETNERSE
% o

TREINNFRARAEENERER

As at 31 December

M12A31H

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT
Guarantees given to banks in connection IR FAEEBEMEERH
with facilities granted to purchasers of BEREIBITIELR 2 &R

the Group’s properties 5,310,298 5,897,790

Total @at 5,310,298 5,897,790

Capital Commitment BN HHE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s capital commitment it
had contracted but yet provided for was RMB1,827.5 million,
compared to RMB2,447.0 million as at 31 December 2022.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the Reporting Period and as at 31 December 2023, there
were no significant investments held by the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Reporting Period, the Group has no significant
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no any plan authorised by the Board for other material
investments or additions of capital assets as at 31 December
2023.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

In January 2024, a total amount of RMB220,000,000 interest-
bearing bank and other borrowing has become default and
repayable on demand.

As of the date of this report, the Company has not paid the
principal and interest on the abovementioned borrowing due and
payable on the maturity date.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 223 employees (31
December 2022: 289). The Group offers its employees competitive
remuneration packages that include salary, bonus and various
allowances. The Group also contributes to social insurance
for its employees, including medical insurance, work-related
injury insurance, retirement insurance, maternity insurance,
unemployment insurance and housing funds. The Group had also
implemented a variety of training programs for its employees at
different levels on a regular basis to meet different requirements
and emphasise individual initiative and responsibility.

The Directors and members of the senior management receive
compensation from the Group in the form of salaries, bonuses and
other benefits in kind such as share option award, contributions
to pension plans. The Board will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management, and will receive recommendation from the
remuneration committee of the Board which will take into account
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem
any of the listed securities of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 and to the date of this report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESRGARAEEEBRN

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Qian Kun (82), aged 47, is one of the founders of our Group.
He was appointed as our Director on 23 November 2018, and
re-designated as our executive Director and the chairman of our
Board on 5 September 2019. He is responsible for the leadership,
overall strategic planning and major decision making of our
Group. Mr. Qian is a seasoned entrepreneur with over 18 years of
experience in the real estate industry. Mr. Qian is the spouse of
Ms. An. Mr. Qian, together with Ms. An, started engaging in real
estate development and other property related business through
Anhui Sanxun Investment Group Co., Ltd. (X =R EELBARE
‘AA]) (the “Anhui Sanxun Investment”) in 2004. Capitalizing on
their experience in the real estate industry, Chuzhou Sanxun Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (BRI =RE B R A 7)) (the “Chuzhou Sanxun”)
was established in 2010 as a regional company for our property
development projects, which has grown to become one of our
major subsidiaries and the centralized management platform of
our property development projects.

Mr. Qian has been the executive vice president of Anhui
Commerce Association of Real Estate (£ B ER ) since
April 2019 and the vice president of Anhui Bo Culture Institute
(ZHEZXLIZES) since August 2017. Mr. Qian obtained a
diploma in industrial and civil architecture from Hefei University
of Technology (AIET % KX2) in the PRC in July 2000 and a
certificate of completion in Real Estate Business Administration
Executive Officer class from Fudan University (8 B AZ2) in the
PRC in December 2009 through part-time learning.
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DIR ECTO RS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. An Juan (Z18), aged 46, is one of the founders of our Group.
She was appointed as our Director on 23 November 2018, and
re-designated as our executive Director, president and chief
executive officer on 5 September 2019. She is responsible for
the overall management of the business operations of our Group.
Beginning with Anhui Sanxun Investment, Ms. An has over 18
years of experience in the real estate industry. As the business
expanded under the leadership of Mr. Qian and Ms. An, Chuzhou
Sanxun was set up in March 2010. Upon the establishment of
Chuzhou Sanxun, Ms. An served as the supervisor of Chuzhou
Sanxun from March 2010 to March 2014 and the executive
director and the manager of Chuzhou Sanxun since March 2014
and she resigned as manger in April 2021. She has also assumed
multiple directorships in our subsidiaries, including Mingguang
Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (FAX =B ZAFR A 7)) (the
“Mingguang Sanxun”) since its establishment in November 2015
and Bozhou Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (M =B EHFRE A 7))
(the “Bozhou Sanxun”) since its establishment in July 2016. Ms.
An is also the supervisor of Anhui Sanxun Investment when it was
established in 2004 but has since assumed a non-executive role.

Ms. An obtained a diploma in accounting and statistics
(computerization) from Hefei University of Technology (& fE T X
&) in the PRC in July 2000 and she is now pursuing an executive
master of business administration at Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business ()T & £Ft) in the PRC. Ms. An is the spouse
of Mr. Qian.

Mr. Wang Zizhong (£ ¥ ), aged 51, was appointed as our
executive Director on 5 September 2019. Mr. Wang is responsible
for the overall management of our subsidiaries located in
Anhui Province. Mr. Wang has over 13 years of experience in
construction and real estate industries. He joined our Group in
March 2010 as a project general manager in Chuzhou Sanxun
and was promoted to the position of general manager in August
2012 and vice president in May 2018. He is serving as a director
in several of our subsidiaries including Chuzhou Jiarui Investment
Development Co., Ltd. (BN EHKXEZRE AR A a]) (the
“Chuzhou Jiarui”) and Lixin Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (F]5F &
=REZEAMRAA) (the “Lixin Sanxun”).

Mr. Wang obtained a diploma in building construction and

management from The Open University of China (B A Z) in
the PRC in July 2017.
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D|RECTO RS (Continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Xiaohui (& B #8), aged 49, was appointed as our
executive Director on 5 September 2019. Mr. Zhang joined our
Group as a vice president of Chuzhou Sanxun in March 2014
and is responsible for cost management of our Group as well
as our property development projects located in the cities of
Chuzhou, Hefei, Huainan and Anging in Anhui Province. He is
serving as a director in several of our subsidiaries including Lixin
Sanxun Jiantou Real Estate Co., Ltd. (FIFFEZ=ERBELAR
‘A A]) (the “Lixin Sanxun Jiantou”). Mr. Zhang has over 28 years
of business management experience. Prior to joining our Group,
he was the deputy director of Anhui Dingcheng Certified Public
Accountants (Z R E5TEIEEFT) (currently known as Anhui
Tongsheng Certified Public Accountants Ltd. (X R & &%
T ETEBR A a))) from August 1995 to July 2001, where he provided
engineering costs consultation services. From August 2001 to
June 2009, he served as the deputy manager of the engineering
audit center of Huapu Tianjian Certified Public Accountants (2%
KSR S BT (R EBE %) LB AT and was responsible
for technical review of engineering costs and consultation
business. From July 2009 to January 2012, Mr. Zhang served as
a cost manager of Hefei Winbond Group Co., Ltd. (& B LEE
BPRRA 7)) and was responsible for the cost management of the
group. He became the general manager of the Chuzhou branch of
Hefei Winbond Group Co., Ltd. from November 2012 to February
2014, where he was responsible for project management in the
city of Chuzhou in Anhui Province.

Mr. Zhang has been the rotating director of Anhui Commerce
Association of Real Estate (Z#& B HE K ®) since April 2019. He
obtained a bachelor degree in construction engineering from Anhui
Jianzhu and Engineering College (Z#EE T 2 2[57) (currently
known as Anhui Jianzhu University (Z &K E)) in July 1995.
Mr. Zhang obtained a certificate of certified public valuer from the
Ministry of Finance of the PRC (% A R A FBIEFEE) in 1999
and a lawyer qualification and a certificate in legal practice from
the Ministry of Justice (A2 A RFEFIEF))%EB) and Department
of Justice of Anhui Province (Z#%& 8))AEZ) in 2001 and 2003,
respectively. He was accredited as a cost engineer by the Ministry of
Construction of the PRC (2 A R A FMEIZEREF) (currently known
as the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Department of the PRC
(PEARLFMBEFEMZELIR) in 2001. He was also accredited
as a registered consulting engineer, a real estate appraiser and
a registered constructor by the Personnel Department of Anhui
Province (Z & A EE) in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
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D|RECTORS (Continued)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Sheng (FR&), aged 51, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 5 September 2019 and he
is responsible for providing independent advice on the operations
and management of our Group. Mr. Chen has rich experience
and market insight in the PRC real estate industry. Mr. Chen was
the consultant of the Finance and Accounting Study Committee
of China Society for Finance and Banking (B & fE2& 4 54t
SHFZEEEZ EE) from July 2014 to July 2016. Mr. Chen is the
chairman of the China Real Estate Data Academy (F Bl & i &
BT ZEBR), a professional urban development and real estate
research institution which focuses on analytical research on the
developments of the real estate industry in the major cities in the
PRC. He currently also serves as the executive director of the
China Real Estate Research Association (fEEMESHE). In
March 2022, Mr. Chen has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of First Service Holding Limited (5 —R#
IR ATR A R]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2107)).

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor degree in material science and
engineering inorganic non-metallic materials from Tongji University
(EEXE) in the PRC in July 1995 and a master degree in
business administration from Fudan University in the PRC in
January 2004.
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DIR ECTO RS (Continued)
Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Tong Yu (&), aged 50, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 14 October 2022 and he is responsible
for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of our Group. Mr. Tong is a practicing lawyer in
the PRC, civil and administrative expert of the Supreme People’s
Procuratorate, member of Intellectual Property Research
Association of Anhui Law Society* (Z & 22 € MHEENES)
and the 9th and 10th deputy director of Financial, Insurance and
Law Professional Committee of Anhui Lawyers Association* (%
BAEMpEeMRBEEZEXEZE®). In December 2019, Mr.
Tong was appointed as an invited administrative law enforcement
supervisor of Anhui Province by the Department of Justice of
Anhui Province for a term of five years. In October 2020, Mr. Tong
was appointed as a mediator by China Securities Legal Services
Center for a term of three years. In August 2022, Mr. Tong was
appointed as the legal counsel of Bureau of Public Security of
Anhui Province for a term of three years. He is also an arbitrator of
the Bozhou Arbitration Commission (M {FE % E€).

From 1998 to 2000, Mr. Tong served as a professional auctioneer
of Anhui Wuhua International Auction Co., Ltd.* (Z & ¥ B K
AE AR 2 7). From 2001 to 2004, he served in Anhui Branch
of China Ping An Property Insurance Co., Ltd.* ({f B &8 ER
@ A% 7 A BR A Bl Z# D A Al) and his last position is compliance
risk management officer. From 2004 to 2009, he served in Anhui
Branch of Tian An Insurance Co., Ltd.* (RZRERMHD AR A A%
#5/A Al) and his last position is compliance risk management
officer, responsible for the regulation compliance and risk
management. From 2010 to 2015, he successively worked at
Anhui Huaren Law Firm* (& #Z A 261 %= 7% FT), Anhui Zhengyu
Law Firm* (Z BB FEAMEFT) and Beijing Dentons Law Office
(Hefei)*(db R AKX (& BB ) 260 F 75 FT) as practicing lawyer. From
2015, he was promoted as the senior partner of Beijing Dentons
Law Office (Hefei)* (AL R A (& AE) 2 AD = #5F7). From January
2018 to March 2021, he was appointed as the member of
management of Beijing Dentons Law Office (Hefei)* (it & K X
(A PE) 2B E5FT), acted as committee member of supervision
committee. From 2015, Mr. Tong has been appointed as a
mediator by Securities Association of China. In October 2021, he
was awarded as an outstanding member of the 9th Professional
Committee of Anhui Lawyers Association* (Z & 2R € 5
NEH%EZE€). From September 2022, he was appointed as
a member of the Financial Professional Committee of All China
Lawyers Association. On 24 March 2023, he was appointed as
the people supervisor at provincial level (the 2nd session) of the
Department of Justice of Anhui Province for a term until 22 July
2025.

*  For identification purpose only
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D|RECTORS (Continued)
Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Tong graduated from the Anhui University of Finance and
Economics in 1998 and obtained the Bachelor of Law. He
obtained the Master of Business Administration from the Graduate
School of Renmin University of China in April 2007. He held
various professional qualifications including: state registered
auctioneer, corporate legal advisor, second hand motor vehicle
appraiser, securities broker qualification, Shanghai Stock
Exchange independent director qualification certificate.

Mr. Wang Ye (£ /&), aged 54, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 28 December 2023 and he is
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations
and management of our Group. Mr. Wang is currently a professor
and master supervisor of Nanjing Audit University and a part-
time doctoral supervisor at Shanxi University of Finance and
Economics. Mr. Wang also currently served as anonymous
reviewer for journals such as “Accounting Research”, thesis review
expert of the Ministry of Education, and high-tech enterprise
review expert of Jiangsu Province.

From November 2010 to December 2016, Mr. Wang was a
professor and the head of Department of Financial Management
at Anhui University of Finance and Economics. From January
2012 to April 2018, Mr. Wang served as an independent director
of Huainan Runcheng Science & Technology Co., Ltd.* (#&)H
BRI AR AF)) (stock code: 831565), a company listed
on NEEQ. From October 2014 to April 2018, Mr. Wang served
as an independent director of Huangshan Tourism Development
Co., Ltd.* (FR#FEZERAMDBR AR (stock code: 600054), a
company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange. From April 2014
to March 2021, Mr. Wang served as an independent director of
Anhui Deli Housedhold Glass Co.,Ltd.* (Z##&H B BB %
BBRAF]) (stock code: 002571), a company listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. From December 2015 to May 2022, Mr. Wang
served as an independent director of Huaan Securities Co., Ltd.*
(FELEHFRD AR AR (stock code: 600909), a company listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang obtained his Bachelor of
Economics (Accounting) and Master of Business Administration
(Accounting) degrees from Anhui University of Finance and
Economics in July 1993 and July 2002 respectively and Doctor
of Philosophy in Management (Accounting) degree from Nanjing
University in June 2011. Mr. Wang is a Certified Public Accountant
in China and a Registered Asset Appraiser (non-practising) in
China.

*  For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Baolin (BRE#K), aged 586, is responsible for the overall
financial management of our Group. He joined our Group in
February 2011 as a finance officer of Chuzhou Sanxun and was
appointed as the director of finance management center of our
Group in May 2017. Mr. Chen has over 30 years of experience in
the real estate industry with a focus in financial management. Prior
to joining our Group, he worked in Chuzhou Jinhuang Real Estate
Company (KM m&ERFHEABR AR from July 1993 to January
2011 with his last position as the chief accountant. Mr. Chen
Baolin obtained a diploma in auditing from Anhui Commercial
College (ZHHEEHRIEE) in the PRC in July 1993 and graduated
in auditing through a correspondence course from Nanjing Audit
University (B Rz 2b2(currently known asf RZE T AE)) in
the PRC in July 2004. Mr. Chen obtained the qualification as an
accountant in May 1998 accredited by the Ministry of Personnel of
the PRC (2 AR FBI AEE) (currently known as the Ministry
of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC (FFZE A R £
B A 1B IRFIEZRZF)).

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Zhang Ya (53R E2) has been the accounting manager of the
Group since 2019 and is responsible for the day-to-day regional
financial accounting and reporting matters of the Group, such
as the management of the budget and financial reporting of the
Company and handling listing compliance matters of the Group.
Mr. Zhang Ya has 17 years of experience in accounting and
finance work. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang Ya worked
as a deputy accounting and finance manager in Sinopec Jiangsu
Oil Field Branch (FEBIA{L) &M A D 2 7)) from July 2007 to
December 2012. From March 2013 to November 2018, he had
worked in Chongqging Huayuan Investment Co., Ltd. (EEF R
K& BREMAR) and had been responsible for the financial
accounting matters of that company.

SNEEE

BREM&ELE - 565% 0 BEAEENEEY K
BB o HH2011E2 AMAKREBEERIMN=
BB EERN2017E AEE X AREH
BERBROLNES - REERFEHETE
HEBHBI0FHET  FERMBEERE - 1A
AREER] - BHR1993F7 AZE2011F1 A&
BT BEHEFR AT - B BATE
L ARBEETRD o BREME EN1993F7 AEH
Bl 2@ X B R B REEET UR KR 2004
F7TRABBREREEEN P ER AT 20
(AR RBEFTARE)FBTR - R AEN1998
FEARMSHEFPEARLMBAEICGREF
EARLME A DB RMLSRES) BER
GEEER o

BEATRMWE

RELEB2019F REAREE AR -
BEEAEBRNEEREVESEARERSE
B WNEBRARRINBERTEERBRAKRE
BAEENLEIMAREE - ROLEEF17
FHRH LI IIELSS - IMAXRERR -
RIS A R2007F7 AE2012F 12 AR
AEIERES AREASH RV BERE -
MR2013E3AE2018F 118 » FREEER
KEBREERAGLIE  BEZARTNUS
2EEH -

SEo=FER SREREEARAH 39



JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES (continued)

Mr. Zhang Ya obtained a bachelor’s degree in financial
management from Anhui University of Technology (Z# T %X
£ in 2007. He has also acquired an intermediate accounting
professional qualification issued by Ministry of Human Resources
and Social Security and Ministry of Finance in the PRC in 2018 and
obtained a certificate of accounting professional issued by Anhui
Provincial Department of Finance in the PRC in 2006.

Ms. Cheung Yuet Fan (38R B %) is a director of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited, Asia’s leading business expansion
specialist. Ms. Cheung has over 33 years of experience in the
corporate secretarial field. She has been providing professional
corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as
multinational, private and offshore companies.

Ms. Cheung is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and a Fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.

Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy
from City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (now known as City University
of Hong Kong) in November 1993.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Save as disclosed above, during the year and up to the date of
this report, there is no other change in information of Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in developing and selling
properties in cities in Anhui Province and other cities in the
Yangtze River Delta Region in the PRC. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December
2023 by its principal activities is set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group on page 104 in this
report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this report
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the Group on pages 96 to 97 of this
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
General

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development during the year are set out
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 8 and pages 10 to 32,
respectively, of this report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental protection
policies, performance and relationships with employees,
customers, suppliers and major stakeholders are set out below
in this directors’ report. Particulars of important events affecting
the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 235 in this report. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 32 of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHE

BEEEMARIREZEE2023F12A31HILEE
M FRBELEBIXGE P IERE ©

FERK
ARA/—HEREERAR BEWNB R AR
PEZHEET REIZ AN MR T
HEHRBERHEEYE - AREHE2023%F12
ABTBELFERTIEXBEDNBARKE
EEOMBERAREFZ104EREE LR A I
BMRMRE -

5
AREBEZE2023F12A31 B ILFEMEEH
RARE [EEREE | — SR AREF6CH
EFU7EMNAEEGAERREMEEKE
e LA

E 3 3E1)

—R=1R
AEEARKEEZZBOBRASERRE
BERRZABI BN AREFSAELSH
M EERBEFINFEI0EEFERENERE
Al am R AT IR

o - BREAEERREE « REUKERE
B BF HEBLEIEZEMDEBENS®
BRTXAESZgREF - BHE2023F12
A1 BRFELERARBEENTEAE
ERERNEEFBEHN LIRS F235B MRS
B ISR R 740 - BEREFER I FEERIFIE
EHAEEAFEANKRRELHITHR
AREFI0EEFREN [EBEm &S
M —&f o

—EoCEFR SREREEERAR 41



BUS'NESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group’s operations involve certain risks, some of which are
beyond its control. These risks can be broadly categorized into: (i)
risks relating to its business; (i) risks relating to the industry; and
(iii) risks relating to the PRC.

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) risks
related to the performance of the economic conditions in the PRC
and the PRC property markets; (ii) uncertainty as to identifying
desirable locations or acquiring land use rights for future property
development on favorable terms; (iii) uncertainty as to obtaining
sufficient funding for land acquisitions and future developments
and capital resources may not be available on favorable terms; (iv)
risks related to the fluctuation of profitability of property projects;
(v) risks related to the government policies and regulations
regarding the PRC property industry; and (vi) risks related to the
increasing raw materials price and labor costs.

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Group are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Environmental policies and performance

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting
a sustainable and environmental friendly environment, and the
Group strives to minimise its environmental impact and comply
with the applicable environmental laws and regulations.

The measures it takes to ensure its compliance with the applicable
environmental laws and regulations include:

(i) strictly selecting construction contractors and supervising
the process of construction;

(if) applying for review by the relevant government authorities
in a timely manner after the project is completed; and

(i) actively adopting environmentally friendly equipment
and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions
with respect to environmental protection and make
energy conservation and emission reduction as primary
considerations when designing its property projects.

None of the Group’s properties had received any material fines or
penalties associated with the breach of any environmental laws or
regulations during the year ended 31 December 2023. The 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group shall
be published separately.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the
Shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The
Group’s subsidiaries are mainly incorporated in the PRC. The
Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Group’s
subsidiaries in China.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the PRC and
Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report, the Group has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the PRC and Hong
Kong that have a significant impact on the Group.

Relationship with Employees

The Group places emphasis on human capital and strives to
create an environment that enables employees to develop their
full potential and assists them in their personal and professional
development. The Group provides a fair and safe workplace,
promotes diversity among its employees, offers competitive
remuneration and benefits and career development opportunities
based on their achievements and performance, and makes
continuous efforts to provide employees with comprehensive
training and development resources to attract and retain skilled
and talented employees from reputable universities of PRC.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to developing good relationship with
suppliers as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the
Group’s businesses. The Group reinforces business partnerships
with suppliers by ongoing communication in a proactive and
effective manner.

Relationship with Customers

The Group's customers are primarily individual buyers and
corporate entities. Customer satisfaction with our services and
products has a profound impact on our profitability. The Group
values customer feedback on its products, its dedicated sales
team is in constant communication with its customers and
potential customers to identify customers’ pain points alongside
grasping the market trend, thus helping the Group to timely adjust
our operating strategies to fit the market requirement.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to pay a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s borrowings during the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. In respect of
Company, the Company had approximately RMB268.7 million
distributable reserves as at 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 99
in this report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report were:
Name of director Position
Executive Director
Executive Director

Executive Director
Executive Director

Mr. Qian Kun (Chairman)
Ms. An Juan

Mr. Wang Zizhong

Mr. Zhang Xiaohui

Mr. Chen Sheng

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan
(resigned on
30 September 2023)

Mr. Wang Ye (appointed
on 28 December 2023)

Independent non-executive Director
Independent non-executive Director

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Tong Yu Independent non-executive Director
In accordance with Article 84 of the articles of association of
the Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the articles of association of
the Company, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of Members
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting.

The Company at the general meeting at which a Director retires
may fill the vacated office. Accordingly, Mr. Wang Zizhong, Mr.
Wang Ye and Mr. Tong Yu shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “2024 Annual General
Meeting”) and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company and each of the independent non-
executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of 3 years. None of the Directors who are
proposed for election or re-election at the upcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation. There is no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors,
the management, shareholders of the Company nor their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competed or might compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to restrict competition activities with the Company,
each of Mr. Qian Kun, Ms. An Juan, Q Kun Ltd. and Juan L
Ltd., all being the controlling shareholders of the Company (the
“Controlling Shareholders”), has confirmed to the Company that,
for the year ended 31 December 2023, he/she/it has complied
with the Deed of Non-competition dated 28 June 2021 (the
“Undertakings”) as defined and disclosed in the Prospectus.

Upon receiving the confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders, the independent non-executive Directors had
reviewed the status of compliance and the confirmation provided
by the Controlling Shareholders as part of the annual review
process. On the basis that: (i) the Company has received the
confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders regarding the
Undertakings; (ii) there was no competing business reported by
the Controlling Shareholders; and (iii) there was no particular
situation rendering the full compliance of the Undertakings being
questionable, the independent non-executive Directors are of the
view that the Undertakings have been complied with and been
enforced by the Company in accordance with the terms.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme
through shareholders’ written resolutions on 23 June 2021 (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to recognize and acknowledge the contributions that
the eligible participants had or may have made to the Group. The
Directors believe the Share Option Scheme will enable the Group
to reward the Group’s employees, Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group.

Details of the Share Option Scheme

(1) Purpose
The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme
prepared in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules and is established to recognise and acknowledge
the contributions that the Eligible Participants (as defined
in paragraph (2) below) had or may have made to our
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in
our Company with the view to achieving the following

objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimize their
performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group;
and

(if) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going

business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of our Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of the Share Option Scheme (Continued)

)

(3)

(4)

48

Participants

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an
option to the following persons (collectively the “Eligible
Participants”) to subscribe for such number of new
Shares as the Board may determine at an exercise price
determined in accordance with paragraph (6) below:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(if) any directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;
and

(iif) any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers,
distributors and such other persons who in
the sole opinion of the Board will contribute or
have contributed to our Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

The maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the day on which
trading of the Shares commences on the Stock Exchange,
and such 10% limit represents 66,000,000 Shares,
representing 9.77% of the total Shares in issue as at the
date of this report.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of the Share Option Scheme (Continued)

()

(6)

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptances
of the options duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favor of our Company of HK$1.00 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by our
Company on or before the relevant acceptance date. Such
payment shall in no circumstances be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted
and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The
period during an option may be exercised or vesting period
will be determined by our Board in its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years
after it has been granted.

Price of Shares

The subscription price for a Share under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, but must be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

(if) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and

(ifi) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of the Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(7)

50

The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
the period of ten years commencing on the date of listing
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Date”) (after which, no
further options shall be offered or granted under the Share
Option Scheme), but in all other respects the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the rules of
the Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this report, the
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately
seven years and three months.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to
the section headed “Appendix V — Statutory and General
Information — D. SHARE OPTION SCHEME — 1. Share
Option Scheme” in the Prospectus.

Since the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme
and up to the date of this report, no options have been
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme, and there were no outstanding options
under the Share Option Scheme. As at 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023, the number of options available
for grant under the Share Option Scheme is 66,000,000
Shares.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (the “SFQO”)) which were required to be entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or which were otherwise required, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are set out
below:

INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

EERRSTRAERAQFH
HEEEZENRE - HERO R
EEENERERAR

MR20283F12A31H ' AR EBFERE=TH
ABEARRB S EEEEE(EEREBED
FEET1EBEAFRIEEO ([EHRBEKRE )
FEXVEB) KRR - BEERG RERBEFREEIR
BEAS LS GO EI52EMEARTBAFE
MECDMATENEAERRAR @ AR
BEETFAME AR R RBZAMTHEZR A
BHEIMT :

RARQ TR AV

Number of
Shares or Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares shareholding @
Name of Director Nature of Interest %15 ok 48 B8 A% 15 BEA)HF AR
EEME e HEO Epa:at
Mr. Qian Kun® Interest in controlled corporations/ 434,895,000 (L) 64.38%
B S Interest of spouse

Ry EEEs ABER

Ms. An Juan® Interest in controlled corporations/ 434,895,000 (L) 64.38%

L8 £ Interest of spouse
SRk @R BB

Notes:

(1) The letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. The letter “S”
denotes the person’s short position in the Shares.

(2) Mr. Qian Kun is the sole shareholder of Q Kun Ltd. and is therefore deemed
to be interested in the 397,275,000 Shares held by Q Kun Ltd. Mr. Qian Kun
is also the spouse of Ms. An Juan and is therefore deemed to be interested
in all the 37,620,000 Shares Ms. An Juan is interested in through Juan L Ltd.

3) Ms. An Juan is the sole shareholder of Juan L Ltd. and is therefore deemed
to be interested in the 37,620,000 Shares held by Juan L Ltd.. Ms. An Juan
is also the spouse of Mr. Qian Kun and is therefore deemed to be interested
in all the 397,275,000 Shares.

(4) As at 31 December 2023, the number of issued Shares was 675,529,000

Shares.
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@) B ERQ Kun Ltd. A9 —RR - BILER A
M Q Kun Ltd. # 5 397,275,000 0% i& 15 &
W  BEEANMATERZIMERS  FHiLHE
ﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂ\luan LLtdBAEEXNEI
37,620,000/% f& 15 F #E B #E s ©

@3) Zi§Z+ Aduan L Ltd. B ME— 3R - LR A
#Juan L Ltd.3 A #)37,620,0000% B {5 & i & 4
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

Name of associated
corporation

iEliabs: By

Nature of interest
s

Name of Director

EEMA

Mr. Qian Kun
R

Q Kun Ltd.
Q Kun Ltd.

Beneficial owner

EalBA

RAEEEE Ay RS

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
BORRED L

Number of Shares
BRmEE

1 100.00%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2023,
the following persons (other than a Director or chief executive
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
Shares of the Company:

MR2023F 128318 ' B EXFIEEN » &
RAESERERTHRAEBMERAARSNE
HEEB(TERBFFRBEGAEXVI) 2
f&in - HBERO REEETS  HEREBEES
N ERE 651 55352168 7850 AZ IG5 M & 5 it
MERIAR  HRBEETRAMNS AR
AR ABRZFTRIERIORE °

FERRREMALREQTR
D RAEBRONVER KA

R2023F 12831 H  EARQRFTA - LA
T(BRARRIEFTRTZETBAEIIN RER
AR DS ABRE R P A RIEZ S R E K
BIEEXVEBFE2 R B3I EBHVE AR AR R
BEMESRAR KB ARDRRREES K
S &PIZE336 KA TR EMNE MR EZ
SRR - SREESEEER A BN 5%k
LA EfEas

Number of
Shares or Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares shareholding
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest A& 15 sk FE 78 A HF IR
R L &R = EE IR EE O ERzl=dl
Q Kun Ltd. Beneficial owner 397,275,000(L) 58.81%
BEmEEA
Juan L Ltd. Beneficial owner 37,620,000(L) 5.57%
EnlEEA
Mr. Qian Bing® Interest in a controlled corporation 37,620,000(L) 5.57%
23 Stasl) R LE kR
Bing L Ltd. Beneficial owner 37,620,000(L) 5.57%

BEmEAA
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Note:

(1) The letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. The letter “S”
denotes the person’s short position in the Shares.

(2) Mr. Qian Bing is the sole shareholder of Bing L Ltd. and is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Bing L Ltd.

(3) As at 31 December 2023, the number of issued Shares was 675,529,000

Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
Shares of the Company.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report and the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions”, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to which the
Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or his connected entities had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue attributable
to the five largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than
30% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

The major suppliers of the Group are construction material
suppliers and construction contractors. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the five largest suppliers of the Group, which are
all independent third parties, accounted for less than 30% of the
total purchases of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholders, which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares,
had an interest in the share capital of any of the five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report, the Group entered into the following transactions as
described below with persons who are regarded as “connected
persons” pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
conducted the following transactions which constituted continuing
connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules), which
are subject to the reporting and annual review requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

Property Management Services

On 23 June 2021, our Company entered into a property
management services framework agreement (the “Property
Management Services Framework Agreement”) with Anhui
Sanxun Properties Management Co., Ltd. (X =W*EEE
fRA7R]) (“Sanxun Properties Management”), pursuant to which
our Company may (for ourselves and on behalf of our subsidiaries)
engage Sanxun Properties Management for the provision of
property management services, including (i) property management
services for unsold properties, car parking lots and properties
owned by us; and (ii) on-site security, cleaning, greening, as
well as customer services to property sale offices (the “Property
Management Services”), for a term commencing from the Listing
Date (i.e. 19 July 2021) until 31 December 2023.

The annual caps for the service fees under the Property
Management Services Framework Agreement for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2022 were RMB7.5 million and RMB8.1
million and for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB8.5
million, respectively. The actual transaction amount during the
year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB1.4 million and did not
exceed the annual cap for the year.

Sanxun Properties Management is owned as to 95% by Anhui
Sanxun Investment and as to 5% by Ms. An Juan, our executive
Director and the spouse of Mr. Qian. Anhui Sanxun Investment
is owned as to 84% by Mr. Qian Kun, our executive Director,
as to 8% by Ms. An Juan, and as to 8% by Mr. Qian Bing, the
father of Mr. Qian Kun. As such, Sanxun Properties Management
is a connected person of our Company for the purpose of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions under the Property
Management Services Framework Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions for our Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the
profits ratio) for the Property Management Services Framework
Agreement was expected to be over 0.1% but all the applicable
percentage ratios was less than 5% on an annual basis as of the
Listing Date, such transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions for our Company upon the listing that are exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement but
subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
Landscape Architecture Services

On 28 June 2021, our Company entered into a landscape
architecture services framework agreement (the “Landscape
Architecture Services Framework Agreement”) with Anhui
Qiaoyi Garden Construction Co., Ltd. (X BBE2EMS EHER
R A R]) (“Anhui Qiaoyi”), pursuant to which our Company may
(for ourselves and on behalf of our subsidiaries) engage Anhui
Qiaoyi for the provision of landscape architecture services for
our property development projects, including landscape design
and planning, construction, gardening and maintenance (the
“Landscape Architecture Services”), for a term commencing
from the Listing Date until 31 December 2023.

The annual caps for the service fees under the Landscape
Architecture Services Framework Agreement for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2022 were RMB103.9 million and
RMB119.6 million and for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB131.3 million, respectively. The actual transaction amount
during the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB29.3 million
and did not exceed the annual cap for the year.

Anhui Qiaoyi is held as to 60% by Mr. Lu Zhen (%) and as to
40% by Ms. Shi Xiaoli (AEEEE), on trust for the benefit of Mr.
Qian Kun. As confirmed by Mr. Qian Kun, such trust arrangement
had been entered into due to his lack of time in managing the
business and affairs of Anhui Qiaoyi. As such, the legal title of
Anhui Qiaoyi was entrusted to Mr. Lu Zhen and Ms. Shi Xiaoli with
a view to delegating to them the daily management authorities
of Anhui Qiaoyi. As such, Anhui Qiaoyi is a connected person of
our Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the transactions under the Landscape Architecture Services
Framework Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction for our Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
Landscape Architecture Services (Continued)

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the
profits ratio) for the Landscape Architecture Services Framework
Agreement was expected to be over 0.1% but all the applicable
percentage ratios were less than 5% on an annual basis as of the
Listing Date, such transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions for our Company upon the listing that are exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement but
subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into in (i) the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant
agreements governing the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practise
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have
issued their unqualified letter containing the findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are provided under
note 34 to the financial statements. None of these related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules that is
required to be disclosed, except for those described in the sub-
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” above, in
respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Pursuant to Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing Rules, at the time of
Listing and at all time thereafter, the Company must maintain
minimum public float of 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company taking into account the partial exercise of the
over-allotment option. Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the number of shares held by the public in the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report has been in compliance with the minimum percentage of
public float prescribed by the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of opinion that the Company had adopted, applied
and complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” section of this report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in the section
headed “Five-year financial summary” on pages 236 of this report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, every Director is
entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective
offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain
through their own fraud or dishonesty, pursuant to the articles of
association of the Company.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance for the year ended 31 December 2023, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors. The permitted indemnity
provision was in force during the year ended 31 December 2023
and remained in force as at the date of this report for the benefit of
the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2023.

P HE

AEESROAEAMBFENREUNEER
BECHEHNAREE236E [ AFHHH

2|

L= NG
RAFEIR2023F12 A31 BHIME A 7l =15 #
REFE BT TREMIFE o

BAERRERE
RRNERARRER > REAQARABER
AR BUE=ARASENBBINITER
ASfERRTHEBAERBRERERRAMIEL
TR BENESRNTIERMAIREES
ARRHMEHRDR KA BR - BK B
ERHAX  RARRCEERSRELER
PREMEBE  HUERBRETSHREZARSE
ZHFFRAHETAMELXRINES (W
B)-

AREBREZE2023F12A31BILEEDREE
MEBESEATRE  AESREBEENR
R o B/ERTFR R E R E = 20234F 12 A 31
BEFEMRAREBRAEENIE &
AR o

IR SR 9 155

B (BB S | — BT B &SN - i E=2023
FI2A3MBLFE  MEREHBRER
EFFIFE -

EEAEN

HE2023F12831HIEFE  BMEEBFAARN
AIEKEESTMNEARONEERITRY
HER AR ERNT LR ERFE -

- EEARAT 59

A
|
1
&l
4y
S
b=}
1



ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The upcoming annual general meeting will be held on Friday, 28
June 2024. A notice convening the upcoming annual general
meeting will be published on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and dispatched to the Shareholders
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in
due course. For the purposes of determining the Shareholders’
eligibility to attend, speak and vote at the upcoming annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to Friday, 28 June 2024
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will
be effected. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the upcoming annual general
meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 June 2024.

AUDITOR

The Company’s shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange
on 19 July 2021, and there has been no change in auditor since
the Listing Date. The consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited
by Ernst & Young who will retire at the upcoming annual general
meeting. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young
as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the upcoming
annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Sanxun Holdings Group Limited
Qian Kun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects
its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is
imperative to act with probity, transparency and accountability.
By so acting, the Company believes that Shareholder wealth will
be maximised in the long term and that its employees, those with
whom it does business and the communities in which it operates
will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to
ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is committed
to maintaining and developing robust corporate governance
practices that are intended to ensure:

— satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

= that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the holders (the
“Shareholders”) of the shares (the “Shares”) of the Company and
to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company has adopted and applied the corporate governance
code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) contained in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code on corporate governance
and, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company had
complied with all applicable code provisions under the Corporate
Governance Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Qian Kun (Chairman)
Ms. An Juan

Mr. Wang Zizhong

Mr. Zhang Xiaohui

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Sheng

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan®
Mr. Tong Yu

Mr. Wang Ye®

Notes:
m Resigned on 30 September 2023
@ Appointed on 28 December 2023

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consists of four executive
Directors, namely Mr. Qian Kun (Chairman), Ms. An Juan, Mr.
Wang Zizhong and Mr. Zhang Xiaohui, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Sheng, Mr. Wang Ye
and Mr. Tong Yu. An updated list of the Directors and their roles
and functions is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and of the Company, respectively. The overall management
and supervision of the Company’s operation and the function of
formulating overall business strategies are vested in the Board.

Confirmation by newly appointed Director

Mr. Wang Ye was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 28 December 2023 and had executed the then
applicable form B regarding the declaration and undertaking with
regard to directors and confirmed he understood his obligations as
a Director.
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BOARD COM POS'T'ON (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Chan Ngai
Fan resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director on 30
September 2023. Following the resignation of Mr. Chan, the
Company failed to meet the following requirements of the Listing
Rules that:

(1)

(i)

(iv)

the Company must appoint at least three independent non-
executive directors, one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules;

the Company must appoint independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board
pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules;

the Company must have at least three members of the
Audit Committee which is chaired by an independent
non-executive director, with at least one of them being
an independent non-executive director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2)
pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules;

the Remuneration Committee must comprise a majority of
independent non-executive directors pursuant to Rule 3.25
of the Listing Rules; and

the Nomination Committee must comprise a majority of
independent non-executive directors pursuant to Rule
3.27A of the Listing Rules.

Following the appointment of Mr. Wang Ye as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 28 December 2023, the Company has
re-complied with Rules 3.10, 3.10(A), 3.10(2), 3.21, 3.25, and
3.27A of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COM POS'T'ON (Continued)

Saved as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2023, the Board has at all times met the requirements of Rules
3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The three independent non-executive
Directors represent more than one-third of the Board, complying
with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
whereby independent non-executive directors of a listed issuer
must represent at least one-third of the board. The Board believes
there is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard
the interest of Shareholders. During the Reporting Period, the
Board performed the following corporate governance duties:

e reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. reviewed the compliance with Securities Dealing Code for
Directors;
25 reviewed the training and continuous professional

development of Directors;

4. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management system
and internal control system; and

oF reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

Mr. Qian Kun, the chairman and an executive Director, is the
spouse of Ms. An Juan, an executive Director, president and chief
executive officer of the Company. Save as disclosed, there are no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
among members of the Board.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees all major matters of the Company,
including the formulation and approval of all policy matters, overall
strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitor the performance of the senior executives. All Directors
have carried out their duties in good faith and in compliance with
the standards of applicable laws and regulations, and have acted
in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.
As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including four executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. Their names and biographical details are
set out in the “Directors and Senior Management’s Profile”
section of this report. Liability insurance for Directors and senior
management of the Company is maintained by the Company with
appropriate coverage for certain legal liabilities which may arise in
the course of performing their duties.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with
other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board
from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day management
and operations of the Group. Executive Directors and senior
executives meet regularly to review the performance of the
businesses of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources
and make financial and operational decisions. The Board also
gives clear directions as to their powers of management including
circumstances where management should report back, and will
review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are published in a
timely manner. In respect of Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, it is stated that for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group’s current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to RMB901,810,000 while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB46,707,000. This condition,
along with other matters as set forth in Note 2.1, indicates that
a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern (the “Audit
Issue”). The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
forecast covering a period of twelve months from the end of 31
December 2023 and are of the opinion that taking into account
of the appropriate plans and measures, the above situation will
not have a material impact on the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern and that the Group will have sufficient funds
to support the Group’s operations and repay the above debts on
time. Details of the measures to improve the Group’s financial
positions are set out in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report. The Directors consider it appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 on a going concern basis. Having
considered the future liquidity and performance of the Group, its
available sources of financing and the Group’s cash flow forecast
covering a period of twelve months from 31 December 2023, the
Board and the audit committee of the Company are of the view
that the plans and measures are effective to resolve the Audit
Issue. However, as the plans and measures are still ongoing,
their successful implementation are subject to multiple significant
uncertainties as described in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which are crucial to the going concern assumption. As
at the date of this report, the Group has 35 projects on sale, all of
which have already obtained pre-sale licenses. The Company has
commenced the promotion of sales and is expected to generate
a cash flow of approximately RMB447 million in the next twelve
months by selling such projects based on the projections set out in
the Group’s cash flow forecast covering a period of twelve months
from 31 December 2023. In addition, the negotiation is still on-
going for the defaulted borrowings and extension or renewal of
bank and other borrowings. In this regard, the Group has been
communicating and constructively engaging with certain lenders
for the extension of repayment and for the formulation of a holistic
solution for the defaulted borrowings with an aggregate principal
amount of approximately RMB610 million. In addition to this, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements
of the Group on a going concern basis.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in
the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views
carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. The functions of
independent non-executive Directors include bringing an impartial
view and judgement on issues of the Company’s strategies,
performance and control; and scrutinising the Company’s
performance and monitoring performance reporting.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have made positive contributions to the
development of the Company through providing their professional
advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of three years.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors
has been assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules
and each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual written confirmation of independence to the Company
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year ended 31 December 2023 which sets
out the processes and procedures to ensure a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises
independent judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’
interests.

Save as mentioned in the section “Board Composition” above, the
Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-
executive Directors that represent at least one-third of the Board,
such that there is always a strong element of independence on
the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgment.
Each independent non-executive Director is required to provide
an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the Company
and the nomination committee of the Company is responsible
to assess the independence of each independent non-executive
Director at least annually.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, are given equal opportunity and channels to
communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the
Group in order to make informed decisions. All Directors have
full and timely access to all the information of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The chairman of the Board will hold meetings with the independent

non-executive Directors without the involvement of other Directors
at least annually to discuss any issues and concerns.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Independence Evaluation (Continued)

Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such
Director will be required to declare his/her interests before the
meeting and abstain from voting and not counted towards the
quorum on the relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors who, and whose associates, have no material interest in
the matter should attend the relevant Board meeting.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need
improvement or further development. The evaluation process also
clarifies what actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain
and improve the Board performance, for instance, addressing
individual training and development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on our Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diversified
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s
strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and
experience, including commercial property operation, overall
business management, legal and compliance, finance and
investment. They obtained degrees in various majors including
industrial and civil architecture, accounting and statistics,
construction engineering, science and political economics.
We have three independent non-executive Directors who have
different industry backgrounds, representing over one-third of our
Board members. Furthermore, the Board has a wide range of age,
ranging from 46 years old to 54 years old. We have taken and will
continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of
our Company, including but without limitation at our Board and
senior management levels. As of 31 December 2023, one of the
senior management members of the Company is a female. Taking
into account our business model and specific needs, we consider
that the composition of the Board satisfies our board diversity

policy.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the board
diversity policy further provides that the Board shall take
opportunities to increase the proportion of female members over
time when selecting and making recommendations on suitable
candidates for Board appointments. The Board would ensure
that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with
reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing
our Board to gender parity. Going forward and with a view to
developing a pipeline of potential successors to the Board that
may meet the targeted gender diversity ratio set out below, we
will (i) continue to make appointments based on merits with
reference to board diversity as a whole; (ii) take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Group by recruiting staff of
different gender; (iii) consider the possibility of nominating female
management staff who has the necessary skills and experience to
the Board; and (iv) provide career development opportunities and
more resources in training female staff with the aim of promoting
them to the senior management or board of the Company so that
we will have a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to our Board in a few years’ time.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior
management as at the date of this annual report:
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

The nomination committee will use its best efforts to identify and
recommend female candidates to the Board for consideration
for appointment as Directors with an ultimate aim to achieve at
least 20% female representation in the Board within five years
since the Listing, subject to there being suitable candidates and
the Directors being satisfied with the qualification and experience
of the relevant candidates after a reasonable review process
based on selection criteria designed with the best interests of the
Company’s business in mind. The Directors will exercise fiduciary
duties in the process, acting in the best interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole when making the relevant
appointments.

The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring diversity
within of the Board members and will use its best efforts to identify
and recommend suitable candidates, including female candidates,
for the Board’s consideration. We also welcome candidates of
different gender to apply for our mid to senior level positions. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merits and
the contribution which the selected candidates could bring to
our Board and management team. The Board believes that such
merit-based selection criteria will best enable the Company to
serve the Shareholders and other stakeholders going forward.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term. Such term
is subject to his retirement by rotation and re-election at an
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association. Pursuant to the Article 83(3)
of the Company’s articles of association, the Board shall have
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director, there shall be no maximum number of Directors unless
otherwise determined from time to time by the Shareholders in
annual general meeting. Any Director so appointed shall hold
office only until the first annual meeting of the Company after his/
her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the Article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of
association, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
that one-third), shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election. The members of the Company may, at any
general meetings convened and held in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association, remove a Director by ordinary
resolution at any time before the expiration of his period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Company’s articles of
association or in any agreement between the Company and such
Director and may by ordinary resolution elect or appoint another
person in his stead.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

For every newly appointed Director after the Listing, the Company
would arrange a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
session on his/her appointment to ensure he/she would have
a proper understanding of the Company’s businesses and
operations as well as his/her responsibilities and obligations under
relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations as a director of a
listed company.

As part of continuous professional development of the Directors,
the Company also provides briefings and other trainings to
develop and refresh the Director’s knowledge and skills and
continuously update Directors on the latest developments
regarding the Group’s business, the Listing Rules and other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all the Directors
attended training session on update on the recent Listing Rules
amendments, and read relevant materials to keep themselves
abreast of regulatory developments and changes.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications. The Board intends to hold
at least four meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals
after Listing. Additional meetings would be arranged, if and when
required. The date of each meeting is decided in advance to
enable the Directors to attend the meeting in person.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Board meetings (Continued)

The Company has fully comply with code provision C.5.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code and has held at least four Board
meetings annually at approximately quarterly intervals.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 4 Board meetings
were held and 1 annual general meeting was held. 2 meetings of
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), 1 meeting of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the
Company was held. The attendance records of each member of
the Board is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of
Audit
Committee
Meeting(s)
BN/
EVEZEE
SERY

Attendance/
Number of
Board
Meetings
HERE/
]

Name of Director SHNE
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Attendance/
Number of
Nomination
Committee
Meeting(s)
RS,/
REEE®

B

Attendance/
Number of
Remuneration
Committee
Meeting(s)
HERE/
FHZEEE
2RRY

Attendance/
Number

of General
Meeting(s)

HERE,/
RRREREK

Mr. Qian Kun BBLE 44 NATER N/A N 11 11
Ms. An Juan TR/ T 4/4 N/A i F 1/1 N/A A3 i
Mr. Wang Zizhong TraksE 4/4 N/A NEA N/A NE A N/A TE A 1/1
Mr. Zhang Xiaohui ERBELAE 4/4 N/A T N/A i A N/A i 1/1
Mr. Chen Sheng BREE 4/4 2/2 N/A NiE A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Tong Yu RFEk4E 4/4 2/2 2/2 11 1/1
Mr. Wang Ye? TR 11 N/A TNEF N/A @ N/A NE A N/A &
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan' BRELE 4/4 2/2 11 11 1/1
Notes: Biat -
itz Mr. Chan Ngai Fan resigned as independent non-executive Director on 30 1. PRIRE £ B MN2023F9 A0 B EB L IFHITE
September 2023. o
2 Mr. Wang Ye was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 28 2. F R AEBR2023F 12 A28 BB ZE AB L IEH
December 2023. TESE -

Apart from regular Board meetings, the chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

The independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Directors have attended general meeting of the Company to
gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of the
Shareholders.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions conducted by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own
Code of Conduct for securities transactions conducted by relevant
Directors and employees. After making specific enquires to all the
Directors, each of them has confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of
the Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits
them to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/
she possesses insider information in relation to those securities.
No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
officers and employees was noted by the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to
which the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, provided that the Group records a profit after tax
and that the declaration and distribution of dividends does not
affect the normal operations of the Group. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board would take into account (i) the Group’s financial results;
(i) shareholders’ interests; (iii) general business conditions and
strategies; (iv) capital requirements; (v) taxation considerations;
(vi) contractual, statutory and regulatory restriction, if any; and any
other conditions that the Board may consider relevant. Whilst the
Board will review from time to time for determination on proposed
dividend with the above factors taken into account, there can
be no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during

a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to Shareholders’ approval.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the positions of the
chairman and the chief executive officer were held separately. The
role of chairman was held by Mr. Qian Kun, and the role of chief
executive officer was held by Ms. An Juan. For the relationship of
Mr. Qian Kun and Ms. An Juan, please refer to the section headed
“Directors” in the biographies of Directors and senior management
above for further information. The segregation of duties of the
chairman and the chief executive officer ensures a clear distinction
in the Chairman’s responsibility to manage and provide leadership
for the Board and the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility to
manage the Company’s business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees with specific written
terms of reference to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs. All the Board committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on
Stock Exchange’s website and/or the Company’s website.

Audit committee

The Company established the Audit Committee in compliance
with Rules 3.21 to 3.283 of the Listing Rules with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set
forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on 23 June 2021. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist our Board in
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of our Group’s
financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system, to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by our Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ye (being the chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chen Sheng and Mr. Tong Yu. In
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the chairman of
the Audit Committee possesses the appropriate professional and
accounting qualifications.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit committee (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meeting of the Audit
Committee was held. A meeting was held on 31 August 2023
to review the Group’s interim financial results for the six months
ended 30 June 2023 for submission to the Board for approval,
review the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, review and monitor the effectiveness of internal audit
function and oversee the audit process.

The Audit Committee held another the meeting on 31 March 2023
at which, among other things, it reviewed the audited consolidated
results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and made recommendations to the Board for its
consideration and re-appointment of Ernst & Young at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 20 June 2023 as the
independent auditor of the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the appointment, selection, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibility for the consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility
for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are prepared in a manner which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis
and are in compliance with the relevant accounting standards
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 has been prepared on this basis. In
addition to the matter described in the Directors’ Responsibilities
for Financial Statements”, the Directors were not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The statements by external auditor, Ernst & Young, about their
reporting responsibility on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference (modified on 30 December 2022)
in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code on 23 June 2021. The Remuneration
Committee reviews and recommends to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Group to its Directors
and senior management. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to establish and review the policy and structure
of the remuneration of our Directors and senior management and
make recommendations on employee benefit arrangement.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members
including one executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors. The three members are Mr. Tong Yu (being
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Ms. An Juan and
Mr. Wang Ye.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year to consider
the relevant matters regarding/to review and make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
determining/reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management; and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including executive
Directors and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration packages of executive Directors are also determined
with reference to the Company’s performance and profitability, the
prevailing market conditions and the performance or contribution
of each executive Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration committee (Continued)

The remuneration policy for independent non-executive Directors
is to ensure that independent non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated
to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board
committees. The remuneration for the independent non-executive
Directors mainly comprises Director’s fee which is determined with
reference to their duties and responsibilities by the Board.

Nomination committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code on 23
June 2021. The primary function of the Nomination Committee
is to review the Board composition and Board Diversity
Policy, develop and formulate a nomination policy, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Director, and to
make recommendations to our Board on the appointment and
succession planning of members of our Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members including
one executive Director and two independent non-executive
Directors. The three members are Mr. Qian Kun (being the
chairman of the nomination committee), Mr. Chen Sheng and Mr.
Wang Ye.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended 31
December 2023 to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and to consider the qualifications of the
retiring Directors standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to review the Board Diversity Policy and Director
Nomination Policy and to consider and recommend to the Board
on the appointment of independent non-executive Director. The
Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
selection criteria and procedures to nominate board candidates.
The Nomination Committee aims to nominate suitable candidates
to the Board and advise the Board on the appointment of directors
and make recommendation to the Board, after assessing a
number of factors of a candidate as set out in the nomination

policy.

Pursuant to the nomination policy, the Nomination
Committee shall identify suitable board candidates and make
recommendation to the Board, after assessing a number of factors
of a candidate, including, but not limited to:

° reputation for integrity

° accomplishment and experience

° compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

° commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

° diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to

gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service

The Nomination Committee may also consider such other factors
as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

During the year ended 31 December 20283, the Nomination
Committee recommended to the Board the appointment of a new
independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Ye. The
appointment was subject to a stringent nomination process in
accordance with the Director Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, to ensure the Board possesses the necessary
skills, experience and knowledge in alignment with the Company’s
strategy.

The Nomination Committee will review the nomination policy,
as appropriate, and recommend revision to the Board for
consideration and approval from time to time.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM

Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company
and the Group. In preparation of the financial statements,
International Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted
and the appropriate accounting policies have been consistently
used and applied. The Board aims to present a clear and
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance in the annual
and interim reports to the Shareholders, and make appropriate
disclosure and announcements in a timely manner. Pursuant
to the then applicable code provision D.1.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, management would provide such explanation
and information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

The work scope and reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young,
the Company’s external auditor, are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 92 to 95 of this report.

Risk management and internal control system

The Board confirms that it is responsible for maintaining adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group as a going concern and reviews annually the effectiveness
of the Company'’s internal controls and risk management systems
to ensure the adequacy of the internal controls and the risk
management systems in place. These systems are designed to
manage, not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that there will be no material misstatement or loss.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM (continued)

Risk management and internal control system (Continued)

The Board has established a comprehensive risk management
and internal control system, which consist of an organization
framework, as well as policies, procedures and risk management
methods that the Board considers to be appropriate for our
business operations. The system is designed to allow us to
identify, report and address those risk and incidents that may
significantly affect our performance or otherwise expose us to
significant losses, liability or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. The risk management system comprises the
formulation and implantation of a set of policies and procedures
relating to relevant risk areas, including compliance with laws and
regulations, construction quality, work safety and environmental
matters. We are constantly monitoring the effectiveness of our
risk management system. The Board oversees the implementation
of the risk management and internal control measures and is
responsible with reviewing the effectiveness of such system. The
Board is responsible for approving our business and investment
plans, adjusting the risk management plans and strategies in
response to risks identified in our business operations. The internal
control system covers various aspects of the operations, including
information system control, procurement and accounts payable
control, cash management, compensation management and
financial reporting control. The internal audit functions have also
been carried out under the leadership of the Board and the Audit
Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
implemented procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. In particular, the Group:

- has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published
by the Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012;
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FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM (Continued)

Risk management and internal control system (Continued)

- has established its own disclosure obligation procedures,
which set out the procedures and controls for the
assessment of potential inside information and the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The procedures
have been communicated to the senior management
and staff of the Company, and their implementation was
monitored by the Company; and

- has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information
to the public through channels such as financial reports,
public announcements and its website.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the audit committee and
the executive Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed
at least once each year by the Board. During the year ended
31 December 2023, these systems were reviewed, covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls of the Group, and considered effective and adequate.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for
employees of the Company and those who deal with the Company
to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matters related to
the Company.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM (Continued)

Risk management and internal control system (Continued)

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open and
available for employees of the Company to report any suspected
corruption and bribery. Employees can also make anonymous
reports to the internal anti-corruption department/internal audit
function, which is responsible for investigating the reported
incidents and taking appropriate measures. The Company
continues to carry out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities
to cultivate a culture of integrity, and actively organizes anti-
corruption training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness of
anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fee paid/payable to the
external auditor of the Company in respect of audit services and
non-audit services is set out as follows:
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REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO MEMBERS
OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to the then applicable code provision E.1.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code, the annual remuneration of
members of the senior management (other than Directors) by band
for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Nil to HKD1,500,000 %1,500,0007% 7T
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Mr. Zhang Ya and Ms. Cheung
Yuet Fan as joint company secretaries. Ms. Cheung Yuet Fan is
a director of an external service provider, Tricor Services Limited,
assisting Mr. Zhang Ya in discharging his duties as the company
secretary of the Company. Mr. Zhang Ya is the principal contact
person of Ms. Cheung Yuet Fan in the Company. Each of Mr.
Zhang Ya and Ms. Cheung Yuet Fan has confirmed that for the
year ended 31 December 2023, they have taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographies of Mr. Zhang Ya and
Ms. Cheung Yuet Fan are set out in the “Directors and senior
management’s profile” section on pages 39 to 40 of this report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Company’s articles of association,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
for the Shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals may request
the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph
headed “Convening an extraordinary general meeting”.

Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 46/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

E-mail address: zhangya@sanxungroup.com
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the
forthcoming annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy. The policy aims at promoting effective communication
with Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging
Shareholders to engage actively with the Company and enabling
Shareholders to exercise their rights as Shareholders effectively.
The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and the results were
satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report,
annual accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s
report and, where applicable, its summary financial
report; (b) the interim report and, where applicable,
its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting;
(d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and (f) a proxy
form. The Corporate Communication of the Company
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided to
Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s
securities in both English and Chinese versions or where
permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as
required by the Listing Rules. Shareholders and non-
registered holders of the Company’s securities shall have
the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese)
or means of receipt of the Corporate Communication (in
printed form or through electronic means).

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.)
and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of
Association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

HERRBERREEBRRm@)

MR SR ELECR ()
(@) R AEIEE

(b)

B EMRAMAE - [AE@HA IR
RAmELEHETELUAEEEAES
B3 A A2 RBIREITEN M 1] S0 -
HEPBFEETRRARD RN T4
@EFgmE  FEEKRAERZEENR
FEIRAR(ER) MBHERS  (b)
RERE R (WER) P BB ERS ¢ (0
SRBE (LTXHE: @BH: &
HRREERE - ARBIWH A AAAE
1RIB TR BIR IR E R R TE A R AT A8 L
(www.hkex.com.hk) & & 2 7B
VAR~ BEXCARA (AN ERTA] - DA —
BT )RR EMABORE & FERR
RIIFBEROARRBLETEARE - K
RREBTDHARARBERFFEAGRERE
BERAR@MzES (BP0
A (ENRISC AN EF ) o

WRIE_L AR RIEI 2 & R B A XA

AR BRI AR R K B H 708 SRR
MUBTHLAE(BARABHEE - £ET
BRRXHEEE) REAM I (FI AL
BRAMEAR) -

—EoCEFR SREREEERAR 89



COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (Continued)

(c)

(@

90

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on
the Company’s website (http://www.sanxungroup.com/).
Other corporate information about the Company’s
business developments, goals and strategies, corporate
governance and risk management will also be available on
the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company
shall provide Shareholders with relevant information on
the resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to
enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on
the proposed resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged
to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies
to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where
appropriate or required, the Chairman of the Board and
other Board members, the chairmen of board committees
or their delegates, and the external auditors should attend
general meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’
questions (if any). The chairman of the independent board
committee (if any) should also be available to answer
questions at any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.

Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

HERRBERREEBRR@

B BRI AR SR ()
(c) Al

(@)

EEHEHFRERMBUENEAQAE
SR L) B = A NI/ B O R A
(http://www.sanxungroup.com/)A o £2
RARERER - BIRHEER  BEE
Ak EREIER BN EM AR ER IR
RARRFIEER] -

REA &

AABNBRRBFAEREMBRAE
REARRERRBBNEEYSR - AR
Bl R E AR B ARE MBS R AR R 1R
HEBRRAS LEZMNRERNVERE
B TRHENENESAERTENE
£t AR BES B B HOR B RIE D
HIERTE o RAB SRR EBBRA
SHEERELFEAEEZERRLE
EREg EARERE - EREXTER
BT BEFEXFEREMESTEK
B EXZEFFUEZENNEK
VA K2 SNES A 20 6D & th 5 AN 2 BB BRUCR K
SUEES FEEFBRRER(NE) - BY
EXZZEe(WA)NIENELEEM
HERER S ST HE M B RFRIB T
HENRZXZHBERAE - YRE EOE

el o



COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (Continued)

(e)

()

(9)

Shareholders’ Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

Registered shareholders should direct their enquiries
about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, via its online holding enquiry service at
https://www.computershare.com/hk/en/individuals/shareholder/
manage-shareholdings-by-phone-mail-in-person, or call its
hotline at +852 2862 8555, or go in person to its public
counter at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters
to be put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries
to the Board by email: zhangya@sanxungroup.com or by
post to 46/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Webcast

Webcasts of the Company’s interim and annual results
briefings are available.

Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms

Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic
and international), media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc. will be
launched on a required basis.

AMENDMENTS TO THE MEMORANDUM AND
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

During the Reporting Period, the Company has amended its
memorandum and articles of association. At the annual general
meeting held on 20 June 2023, the Shareholders passed a special
resolution to approve the amendments to the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.

Details of the amendments are set out in the circular to the
Shareholders dated 19 May 2023. An up to date version of the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association is available
on the respective website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BY MRS

Ernst & Young RIKE RIS TR Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place B EE Fax{&E: +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road REEI75E ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong Kith—RE274&

EY:

To the shareholders of Sanxun Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Sanxun Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 96 to 235, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the potential interaction
of the multiple uncertainties relating to going concern and
their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial
statements as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

92 Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

B=REREEERATARR
(RASHSEME LA BHRL )

BERTER
EEEERIIBNECA S LB AMN 2
2REBARAT(EAR))REMEAR
((BEE ) rEABBRE - £BER2023
F12 A1 BENBARMBRRRERZZA L
FEMEABRRREARSR  BORES
PREGARSAER  URBAUBHRE
3 REEAGHBEEN -

EETHESENGAMBEHRRERER -
HRBERSECENS AT RERNEZNEE
HEERREYRAVBRRAEEENR
BEEBUIEEREATEREANERE
i) BEEEIBEAVBRERTEKE
cEERREAMBEHRRERNAAEMLTT
EERE B R TURBIM KRB R E L SHE -



BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainty related to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recorded a net loss of RMB384,819,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounted to
RMB901,810,000, out of which RMB667,620,000 will be due for
repayment within the next twelve months, while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to RMB46,707,000. As at 31 December
2023, the Group did not pay a principal of RMB390,013,000 of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings which were due for
repayment. Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Group did not
repay a principal of RMB220,000,000 of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings due in January 2024. These conditions, together
with other matters set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties which
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which
are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
The validity of the going concern assumption on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared depends
on the outcome of those measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including:

(i) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing
lenders of the defaulted borrowings and the reaching of
agreements with them for not taking any actions against the
Group to exercise their right to demand immediate payment
of the principals and interest of those borrowings;

(if) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders
for the renewal or extension for repayment of the Group’s
bank and other borrowings;

(i) the Group’s ability to accelerate the sales of its properties
by carrying out the Group’s business strategy plan and to
accelerate the collection of outstanding sales proceeds;
and

(iv) successful and timely implementation of the plans to
dispose of certain of its other assets, such as lands, equity
interests in project development companies and timely
collection of the proceeds.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
Material uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential
interaction, and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were
unable to form an opinion as to whether the going concern basis
of preparation is appropriate. Should the Group fail to achieve
the above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able
to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s
report. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is SIU FUNG TERENCE HO.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HeBEnkEME2ERaE R

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 | #£2023F12 A31H ILF &

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREET T
REVENUE Uk & 5 2,623,434 4,487,643
Cost of sales SHERL AR (2,590,613) (3,890,822)
GROSS PROFIT EF 32,821 596,821
Other income and gains H At U A K ez 5 5,120 18,318
Selling and distribution expenses 5% ko iHFA (72,090) (173,221)
Administrative expenses TR (59,925) (93,167)
Other expenses HME (119,307) (12,799)
Fair value loss on investment REYEN T ERIE
properties 14 (10,400) (15,000)
Finance costs A A AR 7 (42,293) (27,580)
Share of profits and losses of: JE A5 B M B4
Associates i /N 8,320 18,104
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBLAT(E518)RR 6 (257,754) 311,476
Income tax expense Frig®if = 10 (127,065) (202,836)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR X (&18) (384,819) 108,640
Attributable to: AT AR -
Owners of the parent BARHE A (413,295) (86,124)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR = 28,476 194,764
(384,819) 108,640
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AEelEakREMEERSE X

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 | #£2023F12 A31H I FE

2023 2022
—E_=HF — T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hi2m(ER) ki
(LOSS)/INCOME
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FR2E(ER),
(LOSS)/INCOME FOR W sazg
THE YEAR (384,819) 108,640
Attributable to: AN AL &L -
Owners of the parent [SYNSIETF-PN (413,295) (86,124)
Non-controlling interests FEITRRRERS 28,476 194,764
(384,819) 108,640
LOSSES PER SHARE BAREBEERBEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EBiEERER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted HEANEE RMB(0.61) RMB(0.13)
12 AR¥(0.61)T AR®(0.13)7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e Bk R &

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 A31H

2023
—m— =

—= =

RMB’000
AR®TR

2022
e —

_<——

RMB’000
ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE M RE 13 2,796 4,793
Investment properties B 14 72,300 137,200
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 15(a) 833 406
Investments in associates REE N TIHIRE 16 47,341 39,021
Deferred tax assets FEIERIEE B 17 152,571 216,329
Total non-current assets IR EELETE 275,841 397,749
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development KRR 18 5,231,337 7,960,874
Completed properties held for sale #F{EHED R T 19 2,850,019 2,128,816
Trade receivables TEWWE S8 20 17,296 1,127
Due from related parties FE WG BE S 2B 34 76,598 88,938
Prepayments, other receivables TEfTFIE - HEK
and other assets WRIE N E A E E 21 1,948,505 2,247,584
Tax recoverable Al B8 286,604 286,854
Contract cost assets SN EEE 22 80,722 90,228
Restricted cash XRHRE 23 263,864 687,487
Pledged deposits BHEFR 23 80,868 155,564
Cash and cash equivalents e RBLEEY 23 46,707 133,333
Total current assets MENEERE 10,882,520 13,780,805
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and bills payables ENEZRER
e RIR 24 1,323,200 1,420,541
Other payables and accruals Hib BT FHIER
EEtE A 25 1,142,450 1,068,179
Contract liabilities SHBE 26 5,201,646 7,606,122
Due to related parties FE(TREES I8 34 31,222 15,615
Interest-bearing bank and FHERITREMMER
other borrowings 27 667,620 635,373
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 833 201
Tax payable FEBFE I8 10 466,554 479,247
Total current liabilities A=K 8,833,525 11,225,278
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,048,995 2,555,527
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEABERABESE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,324,836 2,953,276
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NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank and other

FRBEE

FHEIRIT R EMER

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

2023
—— =

—= =

RMB’000
AR®T

2022
—E-—

RMB’000
ARETT

borrowings 27 234,190 436,160
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) - 217
Deferred tax liabilities BRLERIAEE 17 2,303 881

Total non-current liabilities R EERRE 236,493 437,258

NET ASSETS EEFE 2,088,343 2,516,018

EQUITY EH

Equity attributable to owners BATEE A
of the parent FE{L R
Share capital [N 28 6 6
Reserves HEiE 29 1,136,351 1,549,646

1,136,357 1,549,652

Non-controlling interests IR 951,986 966,366

TOTAL EQUITY EEsE 2,088,343 2,516,018

Qian Kun An Juan
$258 ZE

Chairman and Executive Director

FERPITEF

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

TTRBERNITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARBEDE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 | #%2023%F 12 A31 B I F/E

Attributable to owners of the parent
BAREE AR
Statutory Non-

Share ~ Share  Merger ~ Other  surplus Retained controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total Interests  equity
EER
Ra ROEE AHRE EtRE R REEN a FERER REEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Tr ARETT ARMTT ARETR T ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Note 28 Note 29(a) Note 29(b)
firzo8 HEE29(a) HiEE29(0)

As at 31 December 2021 and 20215124318 &

1 January 2022 202251718 6 677,009 7,726 13,400 152,814 790,210 1641,215 964,006 2,605,281
Capital contribution from HBLFFEERRRLE

non-controlling shareholders

of subsidiaries - - - - - - - 7800 7800

Acquisttion of non-controling interest  Yrf £ R R g - -
(Loss)profit and total comprehensive ER(EE) /R EE

(5,439) - - (5439) (61,651) (67,090)

(loss)income for the year (B8)/ hanE - - - - - (86,124) (86,124) 194,764 108,640
Appropriations to statutory surplus AR ZET R GEE

reserve - - - - 14574 (14,574) - - -
Dividend declared to the AFERRRERRS

non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - (148,613) (148,613

As at 31 December 2022 20204124318 6 677,000° 7726" 7961" 167,388" 689,512" 1,549,652 966,366 2,516,018

As at 31 December 2022 and 2020512 A31E ]

1 January 2023 200351A1A 6 677,009 7,726 7,961 167,388 689,512 1,549,652 966,366 2,516,018
(Loss)/proft and total comprehensive £ (F) /BHR2E
(loss)/income for the year (BB)/ Mizas - - - - - (413,295) (413,295) 28,476 (384,819)
Disposal of subsidiaries EEMBAF - - - - - - - (42,856) (42,856)
Appropriations to statutory PREETRABER
surplus reserve - - - - 1411 (747) - - -
As at 31 December 2023 20235128318 6 677,059*  7,726*  7,961* 174,859 268,746* 1,136,357 951,986 2,088,343
> These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBREFERERNGAVBLRAETRGEAS R
RMB1,136,351,000 (2022: RMB1,549,646,000) in the consolidated AR %1,136,351,000 70 (2022 & : A R ¥
statement of financial position. 1,549,646,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBEERERX

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 | #520234 12 A31 B I F &

Notes

2023
—E-=F

RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REFHBRERE

ftat

AR®TF T

(Loss)/profit before tax BB AT (E1B), 5 A (257,754) 311,476
Adjustments for: TP EBEHFAE -
Depreciation of items of property, ¥ - &= &% #E
plant and equipment IERTE 6,13 2,157 10,713
Depreciation of right-of-use assets & AEEEITE 6,15(a) 1,005 3,545
Finance costs YN 7 42,293 27,580
Gain on disposal of items of HEME BEN
property, plant and equipment RABIER 2 Was = (123)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o= o NGIE & 30 (431) -
Share of profits of associates DAGEEE R B 16 (8,320) (18,104)
Impairment loss recognised ERABFIEHEZ
for completed properties DRITMER
held for sale and properties BRPYEZ
under development VEREY E 18,19 502,892 228,888
Impairment loss recognised B R BN A
for amount due from I BEREE
related parties 34 20,565 -
Impairment loss recognised EREMNGKE - H
for prepayments, other B8 WK IR K EAth
receivables and other assets BERERE 21 38,708 -
Other income from lease REHESOEHH
contracts change H A = (99)
Changes in fair value of WEMENTFEES
investment properties 14 10,400 15,000
Interest income FEUA 5 (2,624) (4,792)
348,891 574,084
Decrease in properties under BRAVERBIELE
development and completed BRTITYERD
properties held for sale 1,502,504 2,312,924
Decrease in restricted cash TR &3 R 393,129 268,878
Decrease in pledged deposits BB FEROR D 68,953 117,260
Increase in trade receivables JE U 5 RIEE N (16,170) (1,002)
Decrease in prepayments, other  TE{T2kIE - HAbfElUL
receivables and other assets RIENREMEERD 68,477 109,709
Decrease in contract cost assets & LI AN EER 146 11,010
Decrease in trade and FERTE 55 E R IER
bills payables R (87,944) (324,227)
Increase/(decrease) in other Ho b A SR IE N AT
payables and accruals &g, (R ) 137,217 (134,997)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHBERY (2,168,493) (2,290,310)
Increase/(decrease) in due to JE 1~ BE B 7 OB AN,
related parties (Rt ) 4,186 (35,363)
Cash generated from operations K& FEBHES 250,896 607,966
Interest received 2 HAE 2,624 4,792
Interest paid EFE (89,149) (99,030)
Tax paid EEHE (91,005) (112,216)
Net cash flows from operating K& EZERERERE
activities R 73,366 401,512

— B =R =%u
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2202312 A31H L F &

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING #®&ZEFEBEEHRE

ACTIVITIES
Disposal of subsidiaries =N 30 13,936 -
Purchases of items of property, BEWE  BENERE

plant and equipment IHH 13 (327) (42)
Proceeds from disposal of Hj’iff%% B &R

items of property, plant and I8 B FT{S5B

equipment - 658
Advance to related companies Bl B ENGIEE 34 (88,708) (84,000)
Repayment of advance to RSN EEERN

related companies 34 121,296 -
Advances to an associate ) — A A B AR 34 (45,000) -
Repayment of advances to B N REERR

associates 34 - 22,632
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEEFRE,(FiA)

investing activities RERETFH 1,197 (60,852)
CASH FLOWS USED IN METHMARERE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of non-controlling WEE—RENB AR Z

interests in a subsidiary IEPRARRE RS - (57,090)
Dividends paid to non-controlling A E A Al JEIE AR AR R

shareholders of subsidiaries SRR B - (18,744)
Repayments to non-controlling BB A7) FEVERR

shareholders of subsidiaries e (6,056) (81,160)
Principal portion of lease MENFHAEESE D 15(b),

payments 31(b) (1,017) (3,501)
Proceeds from interest-bearing HEIRIT R EAE R

bank and other borrowings FT{S 318 31(b) 61,900 434,343
Repayment of interest-bearing EE qu B 4R1T R E A

bank and other borrowings B 31(b) (231,623) (961,684)
Advance from related companies 3 8 B A AR 34 15,607 15,615
Net cash flows used in financing BEZEHFARERE

activities B (161,189) (672,221)
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 | #£2023F12 A31H L F &

2023
—E-=F

Notes RMB’000
ftat AR®TF T

NET DECREASE IN CASHAND H4&RBRESZEYRED

CASH EQUIVALENTS (86,626) (331,561)
Cash and cash equivalents FHReMREEEY

at beginning of year 133,333 464,894
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS E£XHAERBEZEEY

AT END OF YEAR 46,707 133,333
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES RERESZEEY

OF CASH AND CASH HERDAT

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B RIRTT4 23 391,439 976,384
Less: Restricted cash B XREIRE 23 263,864 687,487

Pledged deposits [ EEER 23 80,868 155,564

Cash and cash equivalents as ReERERMIRESR

stated in the statement of HEEEY

cash flows 46,707 133,333

—Eo=sgf =ppemsEan - 103



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R A< MY aE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 1. 2FER
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated AR AE—HRASESEMEIY
in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of BRAAE o NRAR K FEM I EEH
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box it & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. P.0O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °
The Company is an investment holding company. During RAARA—BEEERARF - RF
the year, the subsidiaries now comprising the Group were A AEBEENETHNBARTNRSE
involved in property development. The immediate holding MERE - AR EZEERARAQ
company of the Company is Q Kun Ltd. The controlling Kun Ltd. o ZN& BRI AR R A5 %
shareholder of the Group is Mr. Qian Kun (the “Controlling A(TERBRR]) -
Shareholder”).
The particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out RARIMEBARFIBHIIAT
below:
Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment Percentage of
and place of Nominal equity interest
operations value of attributable to
S registered the Company  Principal
Subsidiaries Rt R AR share capital AATEMLRE  activities
] PN mEh R AEE BAt FEEX
Directly held:
EEEE:
Sanxun Ltd.™* British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100%  Investment holding
7 December 2018
Sanxun Ltd.** RBRUES 50,000% 7T 100% REER
2018F12A7H
Tongxun Ltd.*™ British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100%  Investment holding
7 May 2019
Tongxun Ltd.* EBRRHE 50,0005 T 100% REHER
2019F5A7H
Indirectly held:
HERE
ZRBEERAA Hong Kong of China/ HKD1 100%  Investment holding
Sanxun(HK) Ltd.* 18 December 2018
—ERFRBRDA REEE/ BT 100% HEER
201812 A18H
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% R R MY R

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

Principal
activities

FREHR

MRS« ()
SmBBERAR Hong Kong of China/ HKDA1 100%  Investment holding
Zhong Ying (HK) Ltd.* 21 May 2019
FREBRRAF HEEE,/ 187 100% HEER
2019%5A218
“R(RRCEERBRATA People’s Republic RMB10,000,000 100%  Investment holding
Sanxun (Anhui) Enterprise of China (“PRC")/
Management Co., Ltd.” Mainland China
28 March 2019
“R(RHCEERERARN HRE AR LRE AR#%10,000,0007T 100% REER
([+@El),/
H B 3
20193 H28H
BNEREEERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 60%  Property
Chuzhou Jiarui Investment 23 August 2012 development
Development Co., Ltd.*™**
(“Chuzhou Jiarui”)
BNERRERRBRDA™ HE/RE RN AR #50,000,0007 60% MEMRE
(MBMES) 201248A238
BM=ZEXERAF PRC/Mainland China  RMB1,100,000,000 100%  Property
Chuzhou Sanxun Real Estate 31 March 2010 development
Co., Ltd.**
BH=RBEERAF HE/RE R ARH 100% WER%E
201053H31H 1,100,000,0007T
B =—EBEEERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100%  Property
Mingguang Sanxun Real Estate 2 November 2015 development
Co., Ltd.**
AR =—REEXERAR RE /B A AR 100% MERE
2015511 A28 20,000,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 4R Ak MY

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023512 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) &

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiERE ()

AR =RERREXBRAR

Mingguang Sanxun Yihaoyuan
Real Estate Co., Ltd.”

AR =RERREZBERAA

AR =RAPEXBRAF

Mingguang Sanxun Minzhong
Real Estate Co., Ltd.”

BrX=ERHREZERNA"

EN=RPEEXERLA
Bozhou Sanxun Chengnan
Real Estate Co., Ltd.
EN=BHEEFERAR

BE=REXERAF

Fengyang Sanxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.*™

BE=REZBRAA

BM=RHBEEXERLF

Chuzhou Sanxun Suchu Real
Estate Co., Ltd.*

BM=ZHREXBRAE

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

PRC/Mainland China
15 May 2017

RE/ RERL
2017454150

PRC/Mainland China
3 July 2017

RE/REAL
201797 A3H

PRC/Mainland China
15 December 2016

RE/RERL
201612 4150

PRC/Mainland China
9 May 2017

RE/ RERL
2017F5A79H

PRC/Mainland Ghina
14 November 2016

RE/ RERL
2016411 A14H

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

A K #50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

YNCIE-¢21¢ J)

Percentage of

equity interest

attributable to

the Company

FRREERE

B

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal
activities

TEEHR

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development

EGE:S

Property
development

EGES

Property
development

EGE:S

Property
development

EGES
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A E{E

B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

FREHR

BiEss : (8)

BHN=EREEZEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100%  Property

Chuzhou Sanxun Chengnan Real 29 November 2016 development
Estate Co., Ltd.*”"

BHN=RAEEEER AR RE/RER AR #20,000,0007T 100% MR

2016511 A29H

FIFrG=—REXFRAF PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Property

Lixin Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd.* 26 May 2016 development

MFErB=REEXBERLT hEl,/ B AR#50,000,0007 100% WERE

2016%5H26H

FFG=ENREZER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 60%  Property

Lixin Sanxun Zhongtong Real Estate 31 July 2018 development
Co., Ltd.**(“Lixin Zhongtong”)

MFEG=RPBEEERAT™ hEl,/ B AR#30,000,0007 60% MEF%
([FFHE]) 2018%7A31A

FFG=ERBEZERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 100%  Property

Lixin Sanxun Jiantou Real Estate 18 May 2017 development
Co., Ltd.***(“Lixin Jiantou*)

MrErG=REREEERAT™ hEl,/ B AR#40,000,0007 100% WER%E
([FFER]) 2017654188

MFG=EAREZERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 51%  Property

Lixin Sanxun Bangtai Real Estate 9 March 2018 development
Co., Ltd.***("Lixin Bangtai")

MEG=RAREEBBRAA™ HE/HER AE#50,000,0007C 51% MER%
([FIEHR]) 201843 A9H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 4R Ak MY

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023512 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) &

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiERE ()

ZN=BEZXBRAF
Bozhou Sanxun Real Estate

Co., Ltd.**
ZM=REXBRAA™

ZEN=BABEXERAF

Bozhou Sanxun Gongguan
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*

BN=BAEEEFRAA

EN=REXREZARLF

Bozhou Sanxun Jinfurong Real Estate

Co., Ltd."***("Sanxun Jinfurong®)

(Note(a))
BNZBEXABEER AR

([ZRERE])(Wit(a)

ZNER=-REZERAR
Bozhou Jiantou Sanxun

Real Estate Co., Ltd.™*
MR =REXERAF™

EIL=EREXBRAA
Huaibei Sanxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.***

EL=REXBRAF™

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

PRC/Mainland China
13 July 2016

RE/ RERL
20167 A13H

PRC/Mainland China

11 September 2017

RE/REAL
2017F9A11H

PRC/Mainland China
15 August 2017

RE/RER
2017987158

PRC/Mainland China
3 January 2018

RE/REAL
2018%1A3H

PRC/Mainland China
4 April 2018

RE/REAL
2018F4 4R

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

RMB100,000,000

AE#100,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AR#50,000,0007

RMB50,000,000

AR#50,000,0007

RMB32,500,000

AR#32,500,0007

YNCIE-¢21¢ J)

Percentage of

equity interest

attributable to

the Company

FRREERE

B

100%

100%

100%

100%

48%

48%

70%

70%

60%

60%

Principal
activities

TEEHR

Property
development

EGES

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development

SR

Property
development

MERE

Property

development

S
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)
MRS« ()

BHE=REXARAA

Ningyang Sanxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.*™

BE=REXABR A"

BMNERBEEXBERAR
Xuzhou Xunsheng Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™*

BMEEEXBRAF™

AE=REXBRATF

Hefei Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd."™**
(“Hefei Sanxun”)

AR=EEXZERAF™
([BR=2))

SERBEXBRAR

Shouxian Jinggiao Real Estate
Co., Ltd.”* (“Shouxian Jinggiao’)
(Note(a))

BERBEXBERAR™
([BBRE](WiE)

B LBEHERRAA

Fuyang Shangjun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.”* (“Fuyang Shangjun”)
(Note(a))

BB LR ERRA R
([RB L) (Hita)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of Nominal
value of
registered
share capital

St RAHE

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
K

PRC/Mainland China RMB220,000,000
11 June 2018

B R ERL ARE
2018F6A11H 220,000,0007T

PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000
3 July 2018

RE/ R E R AE¥50,000,0007
201857 A3H

PRC/Mainland Ghina RMB83,340,000
19 December 2018

RE/HER AR #83,340,0007C
2018%F12 41968

PRC/Mainland China RMB47,076,923
27 December 2018

RE /B R AR#47,076,9237C
2018%F12 4278

PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000
8 November 2018

RE B R AR#50,000,0007T
2018411 A8H

B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

FREHR

100%  Property

development

100% WEFR%

51%  Property

development

51% WER%

60%  Property

development

60% MER%

35%  Property

development

35% MERE

100%  Property

development

100% PERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 4R Ak MY

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023512 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) &

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiERE ()

ER=EEXERNA

Huainan Sanxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.**

ER=REEBERDA

HRAREXBRAR

Nanjing Jiuxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd."™*

HRAREZFBRAA™

HR=REXBRAR

Nanjing Sanxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.*™

HR=EEZBR A

AERREXBERAA

Hefei Tongxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™

AEREEXBERAR"

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

PRC/Mainland China
3 January 2019

RE/ RERL
2019F1A3H

PRC/Mainland China
5 January 2019

RE/REAL
2019F1 A58

PRC/Mainland China
5 January 2019

RE/RERL
2019F1 A58

PRC/Mainland China
15 March 2019

RE/ RERL
2019437 15H

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

RMB80,000,000

AE#80,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

RMB100,000,000

ARE
100,000,0007T

YNCIE-¢21¢ J)

Percentage of

equity interest

attributable to

the Company

FRREERE

B

100%

100%

51%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal
activities

TEEHR

Property
development

EGE:S

Property
development

EGE:S

Property
development

EGE:S

Property
development

EGES

110  Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1. QXFAER@

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A E{E

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

FREHR

BiEss : (8)
AREAZREXBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100%  Property
Hefei Jiuxun Real Estate Co., Ltd.** 15 March 2019 development
BREAREEERAF" B/ BN AE#20,000,0007 100% WEEE
2019%3A15H
BHN=REX£ERLA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 30%  Property
Suzhou Sanxun Real Estate 21 March 2019 development
Co., Ltd.*** (“Suzhou Sanxun”)
(Note(a))
BH=REZBBR DA™ HE/ R E RN AR#50,000,0007T 30% MERE
([EN=2])(Hit(a) 2019F3F21H
AEZREXBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Property
Hefei Zexun Real Estate Co., Ltd.* 27 March 2019 development
ARIEERELERAF B/ BN AE#50,000,0007T 100% WEEE
2019%3A27H
BEMEEZERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Property
Hefei Jiaze Real Estate Co., Ltd.* 27 March 2019 development
REMEEXERAF HE/ BN AE#50,000,0007T 100% ¥EmEE
2019F3H27H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 4R Ak MY

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023512 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) &

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiERE ()

MFF=ZTBEAEZARLA

Lixin Sanxun Zhongtong Nancheng
Real Estate Co., Ltd.***

MFrE=RPBEUEXFRR A

AEREEEERAH
Hefei Jinxun Real Estate Co., Ltd.**
ARRREEERAR

BRIMEEEERLA
Nanjing Jiaze Real Estate Co., Ltd.**
HRAMEEEBRAF

FERREXBRAR

Shanghai Tongxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.**

TEREREXBRAF

ZMAREEXBRAA

Bozhou Jiuxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.**

EMARBEBRAR

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

PRC/Mainland China
20 February 2019

RE/ RERL
20192 4208

PRC/Mainland China
26 March 2019

HE/HER
20193 H26H

PRC/Mainland China
17 May 2019

RE /B R
2019F5H17H

PRC/Mainland China
15 April 2019

B/ BN
201947158

PRC/Mainland China
16 April 2019

B/ B
2019%4 7168

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

RMB70,000,000

AR ®70,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB95,000,000

AR #95,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000

AR#10,000,0007T

RMB100,000,000

N
100,000,0007C

YNCIE-¢21¢ J)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

55%

55%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal
activities

TEEHR

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development
MERE

Property
development

ESGES

Property
development

MERE

Property

development

UESGES
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A E{E

B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

FREHR

BERE (&)
ZNZREXBRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB98,039,200 100%  Property
Bozhou Qianxun Real Estate 16 April 2019 development
Co., Ltd.*
SMNEREEBRAF RE /R R AR #98,039,2007C 100% MEME
20195474168
BHBREZERNA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100%  Property
Chuzhou Xunze Real Estate 9 April 2019 development
Co., Ltd.*
BMNEEEEERAR R/ B R AE#20,000,0007C 100% MEME
201954 A9H
BMNBEEZAERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Property
Chuzhou Jinxun Real Estate 9 April 2019 development
Co., Ltd.**
BMBREZERAR R/ B R AE#50,000,0007C 100% MEME
201954 A9H
HREREXBRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 100%  Property
Nanjing Tengxun Real Estate 17 June 2019 development
Co., Ltd.*
HRBEREEBRAR RE /R R AE#40,000,0007 100% MEME
2019F6A17H
AR EEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 30%  Property
Nanjing Hongxun Real Estate 21 May 2019 development
Co., Ltd.™* (“Nanjing Hongxun’)
(Note(a))
BRLERMEREERAA™ RE /B R AR#20,000,0007T 30% MERE
([FR3AR])(Wit(a) 2019F5A21H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 4R Ak MY

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023512 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) &

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiERE ()

AER=BXERNTA

Hefei Jiusan Real Estate Co., Ltd."**
(“Hefei Jiusan”) (Note(a))

ARA=BEERRA™
([ER%R=])(Hita)

BMIMEEEBRAF

Chuzhou Jiaze Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™

BMMEEZERRR

AREBREEXBRAF
Hefei Yixun Real Estate Co., Ltd.**
BIREREXERAA

ZMNEREXBRATF

Bozhou Hexun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.*™*

ENAREZARAT"

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

PRC/Mainland China
12 April 2019

RE/REAL
2019F4 128

PRC/Mainland China
9 April 2019

RE/REAL
2019F4A9AR

PRC/Mainland China
27 May 2019

HE/HER
2019%5A278

PRC/Mainland China
20 May 2019

FE/FER
2019%5 /3208

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AE#20,000,0007T

RMB100,000,000

ARE

100,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

YNCIE-¢21¢ J)

Percentage of

equity interest

attributable to

the Company

FRREERE

B

30%

30%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal
activities

TEEHR

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development

EGE:S

Property
development
MERE

Property
development

EGES
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1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)
MRS« ()

EMRREZBRAA

Bozhou Rongxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™

EMREEXBRAF™

EMNEREZXBRAA

Bozhou Hengxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™

EMERERZBR A

AEEREEXBRAA]

Guoyangxian Taixun Real Estate

Co., Ltd.**(“Guoyangxian

Taixun") (Note(a))
REGREERFARA R

([BEERE])(Mita)

MEGFEEXBRAF

Lixin Taixun Real Estate

Co., Ltd.**("Lixinxian Taixun’)

(Note(a))
HEERRELERAT
(TREHRR)) (M)

AEHEEZERRA
Hefei Chengxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.*™*

AEBREZERAR"

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

PRC/Mainland China
30 May 2019

RE/REAL
2019957308

PRC/Mainland China
30 May 2019

RE/REAL
2019957308

PRC/Mainland China
14 May 2019

RE/RER
2019F5 7146

PRC/Mainland China
10 August 2019

PE/RER
201984108

PRC/Mainland China
30 July 2019

PE/RER
20197 A30H

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A E{E

RMB71,430,000

AE#71,430,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

RMB80,000,000

AR#80,000,0007

RMB20,000,000

AR#20,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR#20,000,0007T

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of

equity interest

attributable to

the Company

FRREERE

B

70%

70%

100%

100%

30%

30%

34%

34%

100%

100%

Principal
activities

FREHR

Property
development

ESGES

Property
development

ESGES

Property
development

ESES

Property
development

MEFRH

Property
development

MEFRH

—EC=FFHR ZBEREEERAA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 4R Ak MY

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023512 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) &

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiERE ()

ERmttREEFRAF

Chaohu Shixun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™*

ERTmHEEEREROR

BNEREXBERAA

Chuzhou Tengxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™

BMNEEEXERAF

BMEREXBERAR

Chuzhou Hengxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.*

BMNEREXBERAR

BMAREZEBERAH

Chuzhou Jiuxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™

BMAREZERRR

BNRREXBRAA

Chuzhou Rongxun Real Estate
Co., Ltd.™

BMNREEZBRAF

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

PRC/Mainland China
24 July 2019

RE/ RERL
20197 A24H

PRC/Mainland China
25 July 2019

RE/REAL
201997 A25H

PRC/Mainland China
25 July 2019

RE/RERL
201997 A25H

PRC/Mainland China
25 July 2019

RE/ RERL
201947 A25H

PRC/Mainland Ghina
25 July 2019

RE/ RERL
201997 A25H

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB22,222,200

AR#22,222,2007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007T

YNCIE-¢21¢ J)

Percentage of

equity interest

attributable to

the Company

FRREERE

B

60%

60%

90%

90%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal
activities

TEEHR

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development

EE:S

Property
development

EE:S
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A E{E

B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

FREHR

BiEss : (8)
HREREXBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 100%  Property
Nanjing Chunxun Real Estate 16 August 2019 development
Co., Ltd.**
HRZREZBR A hEl/ B AR#40,000,0007T 100% WER%E
2019587168
HREREXBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 100%  Property
Nanijing Xixun Real Estate Co., Ltd.** 16 August 2019 development
BREREEERAA B/ BN AE#40,000,0007T 100% WERE
2019%58A16H
ZNEREXBRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 35%  Property
Bozhou Xunsheng Real Estate 14 July 2020 development
Co., Ltd.**(“Bozhou Xunsheng”)
(Note(a)/Note(b))
ENRRELBERDA e/ B R AR#50,000,0007T 35% MERMHE
(TZMBE])(Hiita) Hitb) 202067 A148
BE-REXARAA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 80%  Property
Lingbi Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd.*** 4 June 2020 development
BE-RELERAA™ B/ RE N AR#50,000,0007C 80% MEM%
20206 4R
EERERHERRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 27%  Property
Guangde Shengfa Real Estate 28 June 2019 development
Co., Ltd.**("Guangde Shengfa”)
(Note(a))
BEERERHEARAR™ e/ B R AK#10,000,0007C 21%  WERE
((EERE])(Mita) 20195642808
—Eoc=faR ==EpeEgRaa - 117



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% 4R Ak MY
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1. QXFER@

118

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

TEEHR

BERE: (&)
e ATEL £ 21,05 PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 87%  Property
Huaiyuan Tongxun Real Estate 24 June 2020 development
Co., Ltd.**
BRERAREEERAF™ RE /R R AR#20,000,0007T 87% WEMHE
202067240
BREREEERNA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 87%  Property
Huaiyuan Xunsen Real Estate 13 July 2020 development
Co., Ltd.**
BREREEERAA™ R/ B R AR#20,000,0007T 87% WEMHE
20207 H13H
BREFEXEERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 87%  Property
Huaiyuan Xungui Real Estate 13 July 2020 development
Co., Ltd.**
BREEEEERAA™ R/ B R AR#20,000,0007T 87% WEMHE
20207 H13H
BREXEEERNA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 87%  Property
Huaiyuan Xunmao Real Estate 13 July 2020 development
Co., Ltd.**
BREREEBERAA™ RE /R R AR#20,000,0007C 87% WEMHE
20207 H13H
BMARGEEBBRAH PRC/Mainland China RMB620,000,000 100%  Property
Chuzhou Jiuxun Enterprise 12 October 2020 development
Management Co., Ltd.™
BMARCEERERA A RE /R R AR 100% %
2020104128 620,000,0007C

Sanxun Holdings GroUp Limited - Annual Report 2023



CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A E{E

B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

FREHR

MRS« ()
IRMEREEERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 31%  Property
Jiangyin Chengrun Real Estate 12 August 2020 development
Co., Ltd.**(“Jiangyin Chengrun”)
(Note(a))
IemEREXERAR™ HE/ R E N PN 31%  MERE
(IR (Hia) 2020%8A12A 100,000,0007%
IEmEEERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 31%  Property
Jiangyin Xurun Real Estate 12 August 2020 development
Co., Ltd."*("Jiangyin Xurun”)
(Note(a))
IemREEXERAR™ HE /B R N 3%  MERE
(IRemR ) (Hi(a) 202068 A12H 100,000,0007T
TRRREZBRAF PRC/Mainland China RMB81,630,000 51%  Property
Jiangyin Liangsheng Real Estate 9 November 2020 development
Co., Ltd.™**
IRRREXBRAF™ HE/ R E N AE#81,630,0007C 51% WERE
2020511 H9H
LE=REZXBRAA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Property
Shanghai Sanxun Real Estate 13 July 2020 development
Co., Ltd.**
TB=RELBERNA" HE/ R E N AE#50,000,0007C 100%  MERE
2020%7H138
LEEREMESERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100%  Trading
Shanghai Xixun Building 20 July 2020
Material Trading Co., Ltd.*
FRERBHMEHBERAA HE L/ HE R N 100% 2%
202057 H208 100,000,0007T
—Eo=FFR Z=pREEsRAT - 119



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 4R Ak MY
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) &

Subsidiaries
HELH

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiERE ()

LTBREEHREBRLA

Shanghai Zhensheng Marketing
and Planning Co., Ltd.™

ERBERRBERAT

LTBREENESHERAA

Shanghai Sanxun Building Material
Trading Co., Ltd.*

TERREMESBRAA

TERERMESBRAR

Shanghai Weixun Building Material
Trading Co., Ltd.*

LERERMESBERAR"

ENRROFERANARAT
Bozhou Yaoxun Enterprise
Management consulting
Co., Ltd.**
ENERLEERZABRAA

BE(LE)PXERBRAR

Jinxun (shanghai) Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd.**

BER(LE)CEEBERAR

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
FEMmRL
RIHERAHR
KEwE

PRC/Mainland China
20 July 2020

RE/RERL
20207 A20H

PRC/Mainland China

22 December 2020

RE/REAL
202012 A22H

PRC/Mainland China
28 January 2022

RE/REAL
202241 A28H

PRC/Mainland China
2 February 2022

RE/REAL
20222 A2H

PRC/Mainland China
2 February 2022

RE/REAL
20222 A2H

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A EE

RMB1,000,000

AE#1,000,0007T

RMB120,000,000

ARE

120,000,0007T

RMB410,000,000

ARE

410,000,0007¢

RMB5,000,000

AE#5,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000

AK®10,000,0007T

YNCIE-¢21¢ J)

Percentage of

equity interest

attributable to

the Company

FRREERE

B

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal
activities

TEEHR

Trading

g5

Trading

g5

Trading

g5

Investment holding

RAER

Investment holding

REER
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Subsidiaries
B

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of

operations
HEMmRL
RIHERAHR
Fed$iit s

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nominal
value of
registered
share capital
R A E{E

B 7% R AR MY RE

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

DA ER™ @)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Company
NG ) S
BAt

Principal
activities

FREHR

BiEss : (8)
EHREEZXERLA PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 70%  Property
Wuxi Xunyi Real Estate Co., Ltd.*** 10 February 2022 development
BHREEEERAR RE/HER AE#70,000,0007C 70% MER%
202242 A10A
HERRUELERANF PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Property
Bengbu Xunfeng Real Estate 10 Aug 2022 development
Co., Ltd.**
HRRUELBERAR RE/HER AE#50,000,0007C 100% MEME
2022871008
ENREEXEBAF PRC/Mainland China RMB278,600,000 51%  Property
Changzhou Xunfeng Real Estate 1 Nov 2022 development
Co., Ltd."***("Changzhou
Xunfeng”) (Note(b))
FNREBEERAR RE/RER ARE 51% WER%E
([EMNEE))(Hitb) 2022411 A1A 278,600,0007T
EMBREXERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Property
Changzhou Jinxun Real Estate 13 Oct 2022 development
Co., Ltd.**
EMBRREERB A" RE/RER AE¥50,000,0007C 100% MEME
2022%10A138

The People’s Republic of China is hereafter referred to as TXBREARENE A [FE] -

the “PRC”.
The Renminbi Yuan is hereafter referred to as “RMB”. TYBARETAETARK]-
The Hong Kong dollar is hereafter referred to as “HKD”. TXWETE BTl -

The United States dollar is hereafter referred to as “USD”.

TXBELRIER] -

—EoCEaR c=ppEEaRan o 121
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CORPORATE |NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

*

*%

Sanxun (Anhui) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. is
registered as a foreign-owned enterprise under PRC
law.

These companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company.

These companies are subsidiaries of non-
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and,
accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by
virtue of the Company having control over them.

Note (a): The Group was granted more than a majority of voting rights in the

shareholders’ meeting according to the contractual arrangement
and articles of association with the equity holders, which gives the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of these
entities, therefore, these entities were accounted for as subsidiaries
of the Group.

Percentage of voting rights
held by the Group

Sanxun Jinfurong 100%
Shouxian Jinggiao 51%
Suzhou Sanxun 51%
Nanjing Hongxun 70%
Hefei Jiusan 51%
Guoyangxian Taixun 51%
Lixinxian Taixun 51%
Bozhou Xunsheng 51%
Guangde Shengfa 51%
Jiangyin Xurun 67%
Jiangyin Chengrun 67%

Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023
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YNGIE-¢51¢ ))

*

Wit (a)

ZR(ZBLEEEARAA
REBEFBEAEREMAIEBEE
°x-

ARARBENZENE

=113

DI\
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o
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ARBBEAZF R E R E 2
ARSI KB AR

RIFEBERBEANGOLHERERE
R ARERBRAS L ERER
ZEREERE  ERAKERBAENE
BZEEROAMEY Bt 258
BARI AAEENKBAR

FEEFFRRE
WESL

—REER 100%
EHRE 51%
BN =5 51%
FmohEE 70%
AIEKR= 51%
RS GRR 51%
MEHHRRE 51%
=P 51%
BERE 51%
LR e 67%
ke EE 67%




CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Note (b): The percentage of attributable equity interests presented is the
percentage of beneficiary interests held by the Group. The equity
interests in these entities legally held by the Group are lower than
the beneficiary interests because of the existence of the financing
arrangement which is recognised as borrowings.

The Group legally transferred the equity interests in the following
subsidiaries as collateral to the financing companies as at 31
December 2023:

Percentage of equity

transferred as at
31 December 2023

Bozhou Xunsheng 1%
Changzhou Xunfeng 14%

The Group is exposed to variable returns from its involvement
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the relevant activities of these entities in the ordinary course of
business. The financing companies earn fixed return from their
investments and their rights in these entities are considered
protective in nature. In this regard, the investments from financing
companies are treated as liabilities of the Group and these entities
are considered as subsidiaries.

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs (which include all standards and
interpretations approved by the IASB, and International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”), Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretations approved by the IASB that
remain in effect), and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties, which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

1.

2.1

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

~ElER @)

Kiatb) 25N EERET DL AREBFE
NSBEARZADLE - AERFEEEER
BIERNBELRE  ~A&EEAEEEN

ZERROBRRBRZ S ARSED

20236128318 » NEBHEATHE
ARIHREESZERTRELNR  BA

HAEY)
R20234F
12831 BEE
WRER D
ZMER 1%
GYAES 14%

AEBEE2EMZAAELDE I H
ENBRHEEAREBBRETHZEE
BAEMEZINENRYEZSER - &
ARRNERERRDETER - IE
HZEEBNEIN KRB REE
Homtms  KEREARANKRER
BARKENAE  MaxSERUNG
RHEAT -

2NEE
ZEMBRRIRBEERS B REE
A (BRNAE BB &5 282
EZeHENMARERZE  KER
S EREESSHENBFR S ER
([EREER D EEREEZES
2B)LBBATGINKEZLE
B ZEPBRRIIREBEELRAR
RE - HCRATFEFENREME
BROb - ZEMBBREAARKE (AR
W27 BEAHRBI AR
HMBERBOTMH -

—To=EFfR =wEpEEsEAR - 123
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2.1

124

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Going concern basis

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded a net loss of RMB384,819,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounted
to RMB901,810,000, out of which RMB667,620,000 will be
due for repayment within the next twelve months, while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB46,707,000.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not pay a principal
of RMB390,013,000 of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings which were due for repayment. Subsequent to
31 December 2023, the Group did not repay a principal of
RMB220,000,000 of interest-bearing other borrowings due
in January 2024.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In view of
such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
undertaken a number of plans and measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, including:

(i) The Group has been negotiating with the Group’s
existing lenders of the defaulted borrowings and
reaching agreements with them for not taking any
actions against the Group to exercise their right to
demand immediate payment of the principals and
interest of these borrowings;

(if) The Group has been actively negotiating with the
Group’s existing lenders for the renewal or extension
for repayment of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings;

(iii) The Group continues to implement measures to
accelerate the pre-sales and sales of its properties
under development and completed properties, and
to speed up the collection of outstanding sales
proceeds; and

(iv) The Group will continue to seek opportunities to

dispose of its assets, such as lands and equity
interests in project development companies.

Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023
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2.1

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow forecast covering a period of twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. They are of the opinion
that, taking into account of the above-mentioned plans
and measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the directors believe it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the management of the Group will be able
to implement the aforementioned plans and measures.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern will depend upon the Group’s ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows through the
following:

(i) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing
lenders of the defaulted borrowings and the
reaching of agreements with them for not taking any
actions against the Group to exercise their right to
demand immediate payment of the principals and
interest of those borrowings;

(if) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing
lenders for the renewal or extension for repayment of
the Group’s bank and other borrowings;

(iii) the Group’s ability to accelerate the sales of its
properties by carrying out the Group’s business
strategy plan and to accelerate the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds. and

(iv) successful and timely implementation of the plans to
dispose of certain of its other assets, such as lands,
equity interests in project development companies
and timely collection of the proceeds.

2.1
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2.1

126

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned
plans and measures, it might not be able to continue
to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the Group) for the year ended 31 December
20283. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023
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2.1

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

128

IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Plillar
Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The
Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2 to the financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any
items in the Group’s financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continueq)

(o)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes
in accounting policies. Accounting estimates
are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax
asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The
adoption of amendments to IAS 12 did not have any
material impact on the basic and diluted earnings
per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, other comprehensive income and the
consolidated statements of cash flows for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continueq)

130

(d)

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes, including the disclosure of
current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did
not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become

effective.

Amendments to

IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback’
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the "2020 Amendments”)" *

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

(the “2022 Amendments”)" *

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

‘ As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that

Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the

corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3

132

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and |IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or
loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the ISAB. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.4
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of the associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the associates, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

136

(Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial
assets at FVTPL at fair value and investment properties
at the end of each year. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 2 -

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to

the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required
(other than financial assets, properties under development,
completed properties held for sale and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;
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(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(Continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to Group or to the parent
of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal estimated useful lives and the annual depreciation
rates are as follows:

Motor vehicles 20%-25%
Office and electronic equipment 20%-33%
Temporary facilities improvements 20%-33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-
occupied properties or inventories, the deemed cost of
a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value
at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by
the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as
a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and
any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.
For a transfer from inventories to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for
sale after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost comprising land costs, construction costs,
borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period and net realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless those will not be realised in the normal
operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the
statement of financial position at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment
of the total costs of land and buildings attributable to the
unsold properties. Net realisable value takes into account
the price ultimately expected to be realised, less estimated
costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

Allocation of property development cost

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to its
occupied gross floor area (“GFA”) to the total occupied
GFA. Construction costs relating to units were identified
and allocated specifically. Common construction costs
have been allocated according to the saleable GFA similar
to land costs.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and

is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 5 years.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:
Plant and machinery 2 to 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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(Continued)
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LLeases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and
vehicles that are considered to be of low value.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, at fair value
through profit or loss, and at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is

primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive

cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs.

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 2 -

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Stage 3 -
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of each of
the reporting period. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables, deposits
received and accruals, amounts due to related companies,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

2.4

BEARSFBEER @
SRMEEZREE)

BT %

RESEUFENS  AEEERE

e Z=tERMERERE - At - &
SEYEEVEERRES MR
BEREHRNEMAHEEHER
REBREE ARECDRIREESB
EEEBERERAE BB RE - I
BEBAZKEEMBEERRREHER
BELHAE -

TRAE

Mth R R A E
SEABERIARDE S AREAT
B AREOSRAE  HRRME
B EAROE - SR E AN

HEOEARTANMITAETA (W@
R) -

e €A EnRD T ERR R MH
BYFZEAFEFABRENERE
AEREEEBERXHHA

(R

$$l2$ﬂﬁta%%%ﬁﬁm

CRFARMEMNFRIE - 2 RIRE R
%ﬁ%%%@@ﬁﬁ J& 1 Ba B 12 )

KA HEBBENUNGRRITREM
fE3K



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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(Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
each reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sale of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
asset is transferred to the customer.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.

For a property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains the
physical possession, or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument of the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract.

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset related. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Employee retirement benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain proportion of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme. No forfeited contributions
may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for its employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
which operate in the Hong Kong SAR. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No
contribution have been forfeited during the year ended
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its
contributions to the MPF Scheme in future years (2022 nil).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs include interest expense, finance charges
and exchange differences arising from foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs. The exchange gains and
losses that are adjustments to interest costs include the
interest rate differences between borrowing costs that
would be incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its
functional currency, and the borrowing costs actually
incurred on foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are
estimated based on forward currency rates at the inception
of the borrowings.

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes
more than one accounting period, the amount of
foreign exchange differences eligible for capitalisation is
determined for each annual period and is limited to the
difference between the hypothetical interest amount for
the functional currency borrowings and the actual interest
incurred for foreign currency borrowings. Foreign exchange
differences that did not meet the criteria for capitalisation
in previous years should not be capitalised in subsequent
years.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency because the Group’s
principal operations are carried out in Mainland China.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

2.4
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a
critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumption involves making a judgement by the directors,
at a particular point of time, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The directors consider that the Group has the capability
to continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that may
individually or collectively cast a significant doubt upon the
going concern assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
completed properties held for sale

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by
the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If the
portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify
as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates

The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate is based on whether the Group
is determined to have control, joint control or significant
influence over the investee, which involves judgements
through the analysis of various factors, including the
Group’s representation on the chief decision-making
authorities of an investee, such as the board of directors’
meetings and shareholders’ meetings, as well as other
facts and circumstances.

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their
assets, liabilities and transactions are included line-by-
line in the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
whereas the interests in joint ventures and associates are
equity accounted for as investments in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are included in note 17 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Significant financing component in contracts with
customers

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed by the
parties to the contract provides the Group with a significant
benefit of financing.

Certain advance payments received from customers
provide a significant financing benefit to the Group.
Although the Group is required by the government to place
all deposits and periodic payments received from the pre-
completion sales in a stakeholder account, the Group is
able to benefit from those advance payments as it can
withdraw money from that account to pay for expended
construction costs on the project. The advance payments
received in effect reduce the Group’s need to rely on other
sources of financing.

The amount of the financing component is estimated at
the inception of the contract. After contract inception, the
discount rate is not updated for changes in interest rates
or other circumstances, such as a change in credit risk.
The period of financing is from the time that the payment
is received until the transfer of goods to the customers is
completed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each year,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year, are disclosed below:

Provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical
experience and the nature of the subject properties, the
Group makes estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion of properties under development, and the costs
to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease
in net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease
and this may result in a provision for properties under
development and completed properties held for sale. Such
provision requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, the carrying value and provision for properties
in the periods in which such estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income tax in the PRC.
As a result of the fact that certain matters relating to
the income taxes have not been confirmed by the local
tax bureau, objective estimate and judgement based on
currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related
policies are required in determining the provision for income
taxes to be made. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally recorded,
the differences will impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision
for LAT is based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by
the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its
LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities
for certain of its property development projects. The final
outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and any differences will impact on the LAT
expenses and the related provision in the period in which
the differences realise.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimate of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties under construction carried at fair
value were revalued at each reporting date based on
the appraised market value provided by independent
professional valuers. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making the
estimation, the Group considers information from current
prices in an active market for similar properties and uses
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to estimated rental
values with reference to the current market rents for similar
properties in the same location and condition, appropriate
capitalisation rates and expected profit margin. The
carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December
2023 was RMB72,300,000 (2022: RMB137,200,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial
statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of the
Group’s business which includes property development
by project location for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
As all locations have similar economic characteristics
with a similar nature of property development, business
processes, types or classes of customer for the
aforementioned business and methods used to distribute
the properties, all locations were aggregated as one
reportable operating segment.

Geographical information

No further geographical information is presented as the
Group’s revenue from the external customers is derived
solely from its operation in Mainland China and no non-
current assets of the Group are located outside Mainland
China.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers
under common control accounted for 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue for each year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A% R M
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hftlg AR Wz

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA
2023 2022
—_E_= —_=F_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Revenue from contracts with BE AW A
customers 2,621,824 4,486,029
Revenue from other sources H b AORA
Rental income EaUA 1,610 1,614
Total Bt 2,623,434 4,487,643
0) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WA S RRER
2023 2022
—E-= g
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETTT
Types of goods or services B e AR A A
Sale of properties HeEWE 2,621,824 4,486,029
Timing of revenue recognition: W e wE SR A ]
2023 2022
—E_=HF —_EF_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Revenue from the sale of HEMEWA -
properties:
Recognised at a point in time A ER R R 2,621,824 4,486,029
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

WA - HUWRA RS

WADRBER (#)
TRIRRA e 5 B P RERR AT AR
SHRTcANARERERBENRE
ERZBHEEERZWEER :

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E=-=

— =

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue recognised that was RIRE BRI AELY
included in contract liabilities at BEZDHERNES
the beginning of the reporting

AR®TF T ARBET T

period:
Sale of properties MEEE 2,147,437 3,712,913
(i)~ Performance obligations iy BHEE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

For property sales contracts, the Group recognises revenue
equal to the contract amount when the purchaser obtains
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

AEBROEEZER BT

IMERHEANME  AKERES
ESEVMAAEXCRIMENLE
FIEEESKREERSEERGNE
B

HZE12A31H ' pEEFBRBHEME
(REOEHDRABIT)NRSERS
B -

2023 2022

—EB-= —_F_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT

Amounts expected to be TEEERAMAN S
recognised as revenue:

Within one year —FR 3,023,481 3,994,259
After one year —FE% 2,178,165 3,611,863
Total HmEt 5,201,646 7,606,122

174  Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023



(ii)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)
Performance obligations (Continued)
Sale of properties (Continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate to
construction services, of which the performance obligations
are to be satisfied within two years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

(if)

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

WA - HaUWA RS

BRIEE#E)

YEHE (#)

BN —FRERSBANRIRELD
EENRZERESBERZEREA
B EBRORESKMERNET - 2
EENBBENETNMEEMRSE
REBRA BN —FRERBSEA -
LRAFENESETBRZRG A
RE-

HipW A RS TAT

2023 2022

—E-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Interest income 2 YA 2,624 4,792
Forfeiture of deposits RWURE 615 884
Investment income FEWA - 58
Government grants T 1 B 83 9,192
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries EENB AR 431 -~
Others H A, 1,367 3,392
Total other income and gains HAg A RIS 4858 5,120 18,318
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6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PFRBiFI(EE) BF
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after REBERBRBAT(EIR) 5 F Ty L
charging: TEIBEHREER

2023
—g=—=

RMB’000
AR®TR

2022
—EF-—

RMB’000
ARETT

Cost of inventories sold EEFERA 19
Impairment losses recognised  Z%[E F 4 2 R 451
for properties under HEDRITYE
development and completed REREEE
properties held for sale 18,19 502,892 228,888
Depreciation of property, plant %1% « BE &

2,089,896 3,662,762

and equipment HETE 13 2,157 10,713
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE

assets 15(a) 1,005 3,545
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & HB A 7z 5 431 -

Lease payments not included ~ REt 2R E & ERI

in the measurement of lease Rt ABMHEER K
liabilities 15(c) 381 2,129
Auditor’s remuneration A=A 3,100 3,720

Employee benefit expense EERFFAXZ
(Including directors’ and chief  (BIFEE M
executive’s remuneration): EETHAE

) -
Wages and salaries ¥ekI&
(including bonuses) (BIETELT) 39,427 66,518

Pension scheme contributions  :E{RKEsHEIEH T
and social welfare gy =¥l 6,356 9,289
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FINANCE COSTS 7. ®WERK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKAN DT
2023 2022
—_Eg-= —_ET——
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Interest on bank and other RITREAMERAF B
borrowings 103,929 111,322
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMNe(MiF150c)
(note 15(c)) 76 554
Interest expense arising from WAENEENF BT
revenue contracts 446,698 351,000

Total interest expense on financial I JEIE A F{EEH AIBZEEY
liabilities not at fair value through £ g & E&IF &

profit or loss il 4258 550,703 462,876
Less: Interest capitalised B BAREFE (508,410) (435,296)
Total Bt 42,293 27,580
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8. ESZERESTHASEM

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, R ETAER - BB R BEMEE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (@ (b) ) RNOHERAT(EREEEH
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and =EMBRINE—BLOAEBENEER
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about BRTBABFEHFMET

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022
—E_=8F ===
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Fees e 319 433
Other emoluments: HEiapil& -
Salaries, allowances and benefits T & -~ 8L R EWEF
in kind 3,202 4,983
Performance-related bonuses* RIZEMHIEAT 133 -
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTEIHE R &
and social welfare R 410 447
Total fees and other emoluments  #14 42%8 & E b B & 4,064 5,863
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8. EEREBETHAEHFM@)
REMUNERATION (continued)

Independent non-executive directors (@ BIFNTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RENENTEILFNTESFSHES
during the year were as follows: W
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETTT
Fees 1w
— Mr. Chan Ngai Fan(iii) - BRERE o A (i) 102 144
— Mr. Chen Sheng -REEE 108 144
— Mr. Zhou Zejiang(i) - BRI E) - 114
— Mr. Wang Ye(iv) - B A (v) 1 -
— Mr. Tong Yu(ii) - RFF () 108 31
Total wEt 319 433
Note: Kiat -
0] Resigned as independent non-executive director on 14 October i) MR2022F 10 A 14 BB EB L IERITE
2022. F o
(ii) Appointed as independent non-executive director on 14 October (ii) R2022F 10 A 14 B B R EAB I IEHNIT
2022. BExo
(ifi) Resigned as independent non-executive director on 30 September (iii) MR2023F9AS0 R BHEB L FEHITES
2023.
(iv) Appointed as independent non-executive director on 28 December (iv) M2023F 12 A28 AR ZEAB M IEHIT
2023. EEo
There were no other emoluments payable to the REABERN TEUIIERNTESH
independent non-executive directors during the year (2022: E & (20224 : &) o
Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8. ESERESITBRAEFM@
REMUNERATION (continued)

(o)  Executive directors b) BITEF
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12A31HILFE

Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances and Performance- contributions and Total
Fees  benefitsinkind related bonuses  social welfare remuneration

1% BER SR A
g RUgN  RRAWRL RAHEREA st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR ARBTT ARBTR AR%TT ARBTR

Executive directors: #iEs:

- Mr. Qian Kun -BBRE - 943 - 133 1,076

- Ms. An Juan -RiEnt - 1,492 - 133 1,625

- Mr. Zhang Xiaohui - ERERH - 409 75 7 556

- Mr. Wang Zizhong -IFREE - 358 58 7 488

Total &t - 3,202 138 40 3,745
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12A31HILFE

Salaries, Pension scheme
allowances and Performance-  contributions and Total
Fees  henefitsinkind  related bonuses soclal welfare remuneration

T& 2¥R SR
g EWREH  RRASEL Ft &R st
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARRTT ARRFT ARRTT ARRTT ARRTT

Executive directors: 0EE:

- Mr. Qian Kun -EEEE - 1,067 - 126 1193

- Ms. An Juan - Rt - 2,800 - 126 2,926

= Mr. Zhang Xiaohu -ERELE - 626 - 127 753

- Mr. Wang Zizhong -TFRRE - 490 - 68 558

Total &5t - 4,983 - 447 5,430
Ms. An Juan is the chief executive officer and an executive RBRTZLTARNRABITHRERRHNITE
director of the Company. There was no arrangement under Fo FRNITH|MESZHITHBHARK
which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to R EFR BT L -

waive any remuneration during the year.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees for the year included
four directors (2022: four director), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2022: one)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

TE  RUENEWEF

Salaries, allowances and benefits

9;

A% R M
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TEmEFNES

FRANAEERRTNEEREREE
H(2022F : MAREE) - HFMFE
R EXHES - FR - FIWIEAE
REAEERAERTRAENH TR
(2022%F : — )&= % 0EES HE M
=N

2023
—E-=F

2022
e

— =

RMB’000
ARBTT

RMB’000
ARET T

in kind 307 731
Performance-related bonuses RIZBMATEAL 54 -
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTEI R

and social welfare HeEF 14 127
Total @t 375 858

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

FHEBRNATEENFEZRIFRS
TRABNGREHMEBRAZDT

Number of employees

BEAH

2023

—Eg-=

Nil to HKD1,500,000 £ 21,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 c&

2,000,000/ 7T, - -
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001#& %

2,500,000/ 7T = -
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 7T

23,500,000/ 7T - -
Total st 1 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
of the Company or the five highest paid individual as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

AEEMBEARNRAREZTALLES
FMALXNEAME  ERMAR
SEINMARNEE N ER - KIES
BERHI(E -
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10.

182

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in
which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and British Virgin Islands, the Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin
Islands are not subject to any income tax. The Group’s
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong were not liable
for income tax as they did not have any assessable profits
currently arising in Hong Kong for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China were
subject to the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25%
for the year.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures. The Group has estimated,
made and included in taxation a provision for LAT
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant the
PRC tax laws and regulations. The LAT provision is subject
to the final review and approval by the local tax bureau.

10.

st

AEBEERRAEEKE AFERK
KEAERB A EEEERRE R
HH) R L BB E EMANFTEH - IR
BEHREHENEBEZHESNHARR
ER O AEBERFAESBEENREBEX
BB M/ B A R B A NE
G  AKEREBFMAKH
MEARINREE2023F12 431 H 4
EBEZMAENR  BAZEAGR
BRI ENEBEETWERE AT

AEBRFEABEENHBRRR
FRBIR26% K B R B B b X P
B/ -

43 3B B T £ 3R (E BB IR FR30%
E60% M RER KU - LHIRERE
A E Y PR ISSRIRR AT HUR A S (&2
TR LM A (R FREA S E A 4) 5 5
B ) - AEERBEERTBEREA
RIEERORE MR - FHRFHEL
IR E IR o DI EHBE
ARBEHRBEEETREERZLY
JE o

2023 2022

—_ZE_= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETFT

Current tax; BNEAFIE -

PRC corporate income tax AR 1 ZE TS ER 59,091 106,666
PRC LAT PR £ I (E 11,227 5,935
Deferred tax IRIER TR 56,747 90,235
Total tax charge for the year FRHIES KA 127,065 202,836
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. Fi8®i
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to BARRNBIREKRE DK B AR GEMAT
profit before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions ERVERRR 2 EEB ETERNRTA
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries Y )3 A 8O TS B B S B R IR T 1S
are domiciled to the income tax expense at the effective BMEAENMEHAIHENMERK
income tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate KR(AEAEME) BB RN RN
(i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate are as T
follows:
2023 2022
—Eg-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
(Loss)/Profit before tax AT (E518) 5 (257,754) 311,476
Tax at the statutory tax rate A EMRTER TS (64,233) 77,869
Effect of different tax levy enacted 75 # &5k ~ E i & HY
by local authorities 2 (206) 94
Profits and losses attributable to B4 X R E(G % 5| I B 18
associates (2,080) (4,526)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 824 2,723
Unrecognised temporary differences < 72 7Y E b Z= 58 135,676 62,736
Tax losses not recognised RIER N TLIEER 48,664 59,489
Provision for LAT + 3% (E T B 11,227 5,935
Tax effect on LAT THIEETR RS E (2,807) (1,484)
Tax charge at the Group’s BEAEEERHETEN
effective rate HmEZH 127,065 202,836
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10.

11.

12.

184

|NCOME TAX (Continued)

Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial
position represents:

10.

FrEH m)
(A BHS RN 25 A R IR S -

2023 2022

—_E-= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETIT
PRC corporate income tax R ERER 299,483 321,740
PRC LAT PR £ I (E 167,071 157,507
Total tax payable FEHF B AR 466,554 479,247

The share of tax expense attributable to associates
amounting to RMB2,778,000 for the year (2022: tax
expense RMB6,035,000) is included in “Share of profits
and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

LOSSES PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic losses per share amount is
based on the losses for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 675,529,000 (2022:
675,529,000) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic losses
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the
Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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12.

BIEBERRZHEARINE/SAR
#2,778,0007T (20224 : FIEFAZ A
R #6,035,0007T) 2t ASIRERA 1B
mREMEEKER [ AT
A e BRI A e

B

RABREE2023F12A31HILEE
R TR 30K [ ] BB (20224 -
) o

BRAEREERFREAEMA
BRER

EREABESENEAREEERS
BEAEBGFEABEERFRAZBEH
17 i B N 39 675,529,000 Ak
(20224 : 675,529,000/% )5t & -

A RNE B H E 20234 2022512 A
SIHIEFEHEERTBESRELE
A% - Bt I BE e B IE H A £ 2023
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12. LOSSES PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BREIEBREEEEARK

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BREE @)
THE PARENT (continueq)
The calculations of the basic and diluted losses per share EREAREEEBBRETIKIE
amounts are based on: ATE
2023 2022
—E_-= —ZE-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Losses B8
Losses attributable to ordinary HRREEBESRFEA
equity holders of the parent FE(h A (413,295) (86,124)
Shares &v
Weighted average number of FAE BT E @A IR
ordinary shares in issue during NS E
the year 675,529,000 675,529,000
Losses per share BREE
Basic and diluted EARREE RMB (0.61) RMB (0.13)

AE#(0.61)7T ARE(0.13)7C
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% BERRHE

Office and Temporary
Motor electronic facilities
vehicles equipment improvements Total

HAR
nE BYRE EHREES )
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR  AR®TR  AR®TR

31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H

At 1 January 2023: W2023F1A18 ¢
Cost AR 7,745 9,126 53,773 70,644
Accumulated depreciation 2ETE (6,775) (6,440) (52,636) (65,851)
Net carrying amount REFE 970 2,686 1,137 4,793

At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1 A1H -

accumulated depreciation Nk EHE 970 2,686 1,137 4,793
Additions HE - 327 - 327
Disposals HE - - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries RENBAR - (167) - (167)
Depreciation provided FERTERE(HT6)

during the year (note 6) (273) (768) (1,116) (2,157)

At 31 December 2023, net of ~ 72023%12 4310 -

accumulated depreciation Nk 2E 697 2,078 21 2,796
At 31 December 2023: R2023%F12A31H ¢

Cost B 7,745 9,286 53,773 70,804

Accumulated depreciation 2EE (7,048) (7,208) (53,752) (68,008)

Net carrying amount FHFE 697 2,078 21 2,796
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥% BERRE@®

(Continued)
Office and Temporary
Motor electronic facilities
vehicles equipment  improvements Total
PAR
HE EFHE  RHRmEE &ar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T ARETT ARETT
31 December 2022 20226128318
At 1 January 2022: F2022F1 A1R -
Cost A 7,727 9,084 54,275 71,086
Accumulated depreciation Z:nE (6,025) (5,568) (43,494) (55,087)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,702 3,516 10,781 15,999
At 1 January 2022, net of 202251718
accumulated depreciation KR EFHE 1,702 3,516 10,781 15,999
Additions RE - 42 - 42
Disposals & (33) - (502) (535)
Depreciation provided FERNTERE(HT6)
during the year (note 6) (699) 872 (9,142) (10,713)
At 31 December 2022, net of 722022412318 -
accumulated depreciation Nk EHE 970 2,686 1,137 4,793
At 31 December 2022: #H2022F12A318 :
Cost A 7,745 9,126 53,773 70,644
Accumulated depreciation 2:E (6,775) (6,440) (52,636) (65,851) -
Net carrying amount EmFE 970 2,686 1,137 4,793
—To=gaf =sprRsEsRAE - 187
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REY=E

Under

construction

rE [=3: s st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®TF T ARWF T

Completed Total

188

Carrying amount at 202212 H31H &

31 December 2022 and 2023F1H1H8

1 January 2023 ZERMEE - 137,200 137,200
Disposal of a subsidiary REWNE AR - (54,500) (54,500)
Net loss from a fair value NHERREEFE

adjustment - (10,400) (10,400)
Carrying amount at R2023F12H31H

31 December 2023 ZERmEE - 72,300 72,300

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland
China. The Group’s investment properties were revalued
on 31 December 2023 based on valuations performed
by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited (“JLL”), an independent professionally qualified
valuer, at RMB72,300,000 (2022: RMB137,200,000). The
Group’s senior finance manager and the chief financial
officer decide, after approval from the board of directors
of the Company, to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s senior finance
manager and the chief financial officer have discussions
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed for financial
reporting.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueaq) 14. REWME @)

Fair value hierarchy AEER

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TR AEEREMEN D FEE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: EER -

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
R2023F12A31 BERAU T REBN A FEE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

ERT & EXTBE EAFTEE

e BAHE BAHE
(5—EBR) (B=B&R) (B=ER) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARBT R

Recurring fair value TFIER L

measurement for: DFEHE
Completed commercial BRTHENE

properties - - 72,300 72,300
Total R - - 72,300 72,300

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2022 using
2022512 A1 BRAA T EBEN A T B2
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
TR EXABR SATIHE
FTiR(B 1% BAZE BASR
(5—B#&) (5=ER) (E=ER) mst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETTT ARETTT

Recurring fair value TFER LT

measurement for: AVERE:
Completed commercial BRTHEDSE

properties - - 137,200 137,200
Total wst - - 137,200 137,200
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14.

190

|NVESTMENT PROPERT'ES (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

14.

Significant
unobservable inputs

EAFTREGARE

Valuation techniques

faER

REWME @)

N EEHRE)

FA AFEFEVERET—EHR
FE_ERHEER  TEEALELD
FE=EH(2022%F : &) -

AT REREMEMBBERMNEGEE
MEEZBHABRNME

Range or weighted average
HENNETLHH

2023 2022
o= —m—

—_ = =

Completed commercial
properties

Income capitalisation
method

ERTHENE VUN-V.V3

Estimated rental value
(RMB per sg.m. and
per month)

A REBAGTEAKR
ARETT)

Capitalisation rate

15-41 13-41

1.26%-6.00% 1.52%-6.21%

AERfpt X

The fair value of completed commercial properties is
determined by the income capitalisation method, taking
into account the net rental income of the properties derived
from the existing leases and/or achievable in the existing
market with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which have been then capitalised
to determine the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation
rate. Where appropriate, reference has also been made
to the comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market.

A significant decrease in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant decrease in the fair value of
the investment properties. A significant increase in the
capitalisation rate would result in a significant decrease in
the fair value of the investment properties.
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15.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The higher market value of land use right would result in
the higher fair value of the investment properties under
construction. The higher expected gross margin would
result in the higher fair value of the investment properties
under construction.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for offices used in its
operations. Leases of offices generally have lease terms
between 2 and 5 years.

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

14.

15.

(@

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

BEWHEm)

DNHEBE (&)
+TiERENTIEEERS  BER
EREEMENATFERS - EHE
FEHS  BEREEREDVENR
FEBS -

HE

AEBIEREAEA
AEBREEBEMARAEILHEE
B MAEHENHH-—RAME
Gt

EHESE

FAREBEFTAREENERERE
;R :

2023 2022
—E-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Carrying amount at beginning of ~ FE¥]EEE{E
the year 406 22,531
Additions NE 1,432 562
Depreciation charge FATERZ (MiF6)
during the year (note 6) (1,005) (3,545)
Decrease arising from lease term  EFREA4R | F iR 2
termination - (19,142)
Carrying amount at end of the year FREMEE 833 406
—Eo=f4R ==rpeEsRAE - 191
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. #HE @)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEREMEAE)

(b)  Lease liabilities (b) HEEBEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements RBEHEESEaBNEmERES
during reporting periods are as follows: mr

2023 2022
—g=-= —E-—

RMB’000 RMB’000
UNEL - ARETT

Carrying amount at beginning of FHERMEE

the year 418 22,599
New leases wHE 1,432 562
Accretion of interest recognised F IR B 1L

during the year 76 554
Decrease arising from lease term  [EFHHA4R |- iR 2

termination - (19,242)
Payments BN (1,093) (4,055)
Carrying amount at end of the year FREEMHEE 833 418
Analysed into: =1

Current portion BNERER > 833 201

Non-current portion JERNERER = 217

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HESBBEMNIBBRAY MRPFHRE
37 to the financial statements. PHFER7IEE -
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. #HE @)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEBEREBAE)
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) REEREEEFENSTENT

leases are as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=HF —_EF_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARMEFIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBENE 76 554
Depreciation charge of FREEENERS
right-of-use assets 1,005 3,545
Expense relating to short-term HEZHHEREEEEE
leases and and leases of HEEBEMNFAX
low-value assets included in FFAHE RITHAX
selling and administrative
expenses 381 1,515

Total amount recognised in profit ~ AIBZERM A S EE
or loss 1,462 5,614

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed innote 31to () FHEMBEETHABFEATHRE
the financial statements. BizE31 -

—Eo=ggf =ppemsEan - 193
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. REBERTNRE

2023 2022

—EC=F — =T

RMB’000
ARMT T

RMB’000
ARBTT

Share of net assets FE(LEEFE 47,341 39,021

AEBBEEBERNFNE S EWKIA
K FEAS RE SRR B IR B TS SRR MY 34

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances with
its associates are disclosed in note 34 to the financial

statements.
(a)  Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows: (a) AEBZEEATFBEOT -
Percentage of
BAk
Place and
Paid-in year of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name of company capital registration interest power  sharing activities
ARERB BEWEX dIfMtARES HEEER REE BAIE TEEK
RMB’000
ARETR
Hefei Liangjin Enterprise Management 200,000 Hefei, PRC 17.34% 51% 17.34% Property
Consulting Co., Ltd. 2019 development
(“Hefei Liangjin”) (note 1)
BERBEEERFAERAA REISAE MERE
(TRIERR ) (Hrzt1) 2019%F
Anhui Qinmin Real Estate Co., Ltd. - Hefei, PRC 30% 30% 30% Property
(“Anhui Qinmin”) (note 2) 2023 development
ZERREZBRAA(RERR]) REAE MERE
(Hzt2) 2023%
Note 1: Pursuant to the articles of association of Hefei Liangjin, the Group KaE1 - BRBARRENABSZEMA  A5H
has significant influence by holding 51% voting power, and the RERBLINEEEBEEEATZEN
other three shareholders hold 17%, 17% and 15% voting power, MEM=2REIRNFEI7T% - 17%
respectively. However, it requires two thirds of the total voting RA15%ITERE - AT - HEAIGLRKRE
power to control and operate this entity. Therefore, Hefei Liangjin EH=D 2 ZAEFIREEZEL - B
was accounted for as an associate of the Group. It ERRBARIAREENHEQ
=
Note 2: Pursuant to the articles of association of Anhui Qinmin, the Group Hiatz - BEZHFBROEHBERMER - AEER

194

has significant influence by holding 51% voting power, and the
other three shareholders hold 30%, 34% and 36% voting power,
respectively. However, it requires two thirds of the total voting
power to control and operate this entity. Therefore, Anhui Qinmin
was accounted for as an associate of the Group.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continues)y 16. REZE A TMNIERE @)
(b)  The following table illustrates the aggregate financial (b)  TFERE AN 5 B A E Rl & K e B
information of the Group’s associates that are not BREINEHYBER

individually material:

Share of the associates’ profits DN B EY % ) N
EiE M 2 mEmR A

and losses and total

comprehensive income
Aggregate carrying amount of

the Group’s investments

in the associates

REBREE QA
REMERmAE

2023 2022
—E-=

RMB’000
AR®T

—E-—
RMB’000
ARETT

8,320 18,104

47,341 39,021

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in the financial statements.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment was necessary as at 31 December
2023 as the investments in associates were considered
fully recoverable (2022: Nil)

R BE®ET - B2 R ARAERDE
N

RAREBERE » KR2023F 12 A 31
A BRREBE QRN ERRER
BHWE B EEDRERE
(2022 : 4&)

—Eo=ggf =ppemsEan - 195
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17. DEFERRED TAX 17. EEFIR
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during REH  BEHEEERABED
the reporting period are as follows: FEhmn -
Deferred tax assets REFIBEE
Losses
available
for
offsetting
taxable Unrealised Unpaid
profits revenue  Accrued and
against Unrealised received in construction value Lease
future profits  advance cost addedtax liabilities Others
At Bl
ARERH AR gt A
R EE AEREH MBA  BERF IHEER HEER 2 it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETn ARETR AR%Tn ARETr ARMTR ARETR ARETR
AtTJanuay2022  R2022%1A1R 29,981 3905 250236 - 40 5650 909 338285
Deferred tax credlted/ R AR/
(charged) toprofitor (B 1BH 1K)
loss during the year EnE (3,469) (505) (89,140) 16,408 (14,965) (5,545) (2,300) (99,521)
At31 December 2022 2022127318 26,512 3400 161006 16403 24456 105 6793 238,764
Disposal of subsidiaries  REMNE AR - - (11,959 - - - - (11,959)
Deferred tax credited/ A AExE/
(charged) toprofitor (BB )8
loss during theyear ~ EXRE (16,237) @ (53472 (46%) 3126 104 15012 (56,159)
At31 December 2023 2023127318 10285 3398 95665 11,713 27,581 209 21,805 170,656
196 Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023
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DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 17. iﬁﬁﬁlﬁ(,ﬁ)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during RBERH  BEHEEEREED
the reporting period are as follows: (continued) gEn T : (88)

Deferred tax liabilities EERIEBE

Fair value Fair value

adjustment adjustment

arising from arising from

Right-of- business Sales investment
use assets combination commission properties

L3 ES
e e
RREEE AQTERAE  #EAE  ATESRR EH
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARMTR AR®TR ARETR

At 1 January 2022 ©2022%1H18 5,633 901 25,309 759 32,602

Deferred tax credited to ~ ERREZET AR
profit or loss during the ~ IEERIE

year (5,532) (239) (2,756) (759) (9,286)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A31H 101 662 22,553 - 23,316
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ EEMER A - - (2,340) - (2,340)
Deferred tax credited to ~ ERRERET AR

profit or loss during the ~ IEERHIE

year 107 (662) (33) - (588)
At 31 December 2023 #2023%F12A31H 208 - 20,180 - 20,388

—To=EFR =wEpEEsEAR - 197
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17.

198

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

17.

EERIE (@)

HREFEH  ETECHEZER
EEOAEARBRIENEH - B
B RS F - AEEEERE
EHRAIFIMT :

2023
—s-=

RMB’000
AR®T R

2022
e —

—_——

RMB’000
ARET T

Net deferred tax assets recognised #34& B #iR KR NIERH
in the consolidated statement of EEFITEE EFE
financial position 152,571 216,329
Net deferred tax liabilities FRE BRI R AERER
recognised in the consolidated BRI A FEFE
statement of financial position (2,303) (881)
150,268 215,448
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a RIBPRBESEFRSHE - RPBEAL

10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group’s fund will be retained in Chinese Mainland for the
expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future
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EHE - WIMEEE A ERASIEKIEN
ﬁ” AEERERARER10% - B
AEEARZERTRE R
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18.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The aggregate amounts of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totally approximately RMB 1,962,475,000
(2022: RMB 1,451,663,000).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefits through future taxable profits is probable.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

17.

18.
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EERBIE ()

ER 35 & 75 7R B ;A 3t B /BB 8 B 8 BB T ok
BRECHBABZEREZHREE
ARG ARYA,962,475,0007T (2022
£ AR¥1,451,663,0007T) °

11 525 38 R 20 R R A )t 1) 22 3R AR B A IR
Yok - AIBLAES IR E B ERIELTH

EERRYES

2023 2022
—_E_= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1 MERAE 7,960,874 10,645,871
Additions NE 1,067,878 1,784,306
Disposal of subsidiaries EENB AR (325,705) -
Transferred to completed ERERENERRT
properties held for sale (note 19) ¥ (K1:19) (3,152,139) (4,311,328)
Impairment losses recognised EwRREBENE6)
(note 6) (319,571) (157,975)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31 BHEEEE 5,231,337 7,960,874

The Group’s properties under development are situated on
leasehold lands in Mainland China.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB1,982,889,000 (2022:
RMB2,244,363,000) were pledged to secure bank and
other borrowings granted to the Group (note 27).

AEBEOBRETYEMR S B A
MELHE -

R2023%F12A31H @ AEERmAE
#49 A R#1,982,889,0007T (2022 F :
AR #2 044,363,0007C) KR T Y
¥OER  EAAEEERMEITR
H A& KA IR (BT 5E27) ©

—Eo=sgf =ppemsEan - 199
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18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 18. BRI YEw)
(Continued)
The movements in provision for impairment of properties BREPYENOREREEESHOT -
under development are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —=E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1HAEREE 200,672 42,697
Impairment losses recognised EHERREEE (M)
(note 6) 319,571 157,975
Carrying amount at 31 December R 12 A31 BMEREE 520,243 200,672
The value of properties under development is assessed RAEFYENBERNSHRERERE
at the end of each reporting period. An impairment exists TEE - EERAEBBEEIRFE
when the carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. B BIEfERE - ATEIRFET2 R
The net realisable value is determined by reference to the RAOMSERTHNEERTIKES
selling price based on the prevailing market price less the HEET A BB HER B -
estimated cost to be incurred at the time of completion and
applicable selling expenses.
19. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR 19. BEHESR I Y

200

SALE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1BEMEREE 2,128,816 1,550,335
Disposal of subsidiaries Al EPNG (159,894) -
Transferred from properties under HEEHYEE L
development (note 18) (Ht5#18) 3,152,139 4,311,328
Transferred to cost of sales (note 6) ## = $5E K A (Kf:2£6) (2,089,896) (3,662,762)
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE(Mi76)
(note 6) (183,321) (70,913)
Impairment losses write off AR B 2,175 828
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31HHEREE 2,850,019 2,128,816
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20.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of completed
properties held for sale are as follows:

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

BFIELECRTITWEw)

FEHER R THEORERBED
o -

2023 2022

—g== —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1HAERAEE 89,410 19,325

Impairment losses recognised EHERREEE (M i76)

(note 6) 183,321 70,913
Impairment losses write off SR E B 1R (2,175) (828)
Carrying amount at 31 December 712 A31 BRI IRMEIE 270,556 89,410

The value of completed properties held for sale is assessed
at the end of each reporting period. An impairment exists
when the carrying value exceeds its net realisable value.
The net realisable value is determined by reference to the
selling price based on the prevailing market price less
applicable selling expenses.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

RFLECRTITYENEERSRE
HIMAREITRE - EFRmEBBER
BIRFER - BFERE - T#RF
BN2RBRTHHERTNEERE
RMHERSERE

B2 BRI

2023 2022

—_E_= —_E-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
Trade receivables g S WA 17,296 1,127
Impairment DERIE! - -
Total a5t 17,296 1,127

Trade receivables mainly represent partial property
payment receivables from customers. The payment was
mainly compensations for area discrepancy. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk.

BHRBRFBEERERKEFNED
MEFE - ZHRBETERERERN
e - aEHEEEEEHESE -
ERLRBERARNEENE 5 R
RERTRAEPERH  RABB AN
EERBES -

—Eo=Egf =mppemsEan - 201
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.
The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to
their fair values. An ageing analysis of the trade receivables
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

Less than 1 year LR—F

20.

g 5 EWFEIE )

BHRWHRBAREERRTHE - &
FRWHFENREEREE X FER
HeNBEHREK - BHERWFER
RBEZAHHREOTOT ¢

2023
e

— =

2022
e

=

RMB’000
ARETTT

RMB’000
AR®T

17,296 1,127

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to diversified customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss
rate of trade receivables is assessed to be 0.1%. Based on
the evaluation on the expected loss rate and gross carrying
amount, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the ECL in respect of these balances is considered
to be immaterial, and therefore, there has not been a loss
allowance provision.

202
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PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS

Prepayments for acquisition of

Wi 3o R TR 5O

ANRE - HtERRIER

HEE

2023
===

— =

RMB’000
ARET T

2022
—_E-—
RMB’ 000
ARETIT

land use rights 37,160 136,770
Prepayments for construction cost K ANTE 1~ FIH 56,169 35,072
Deposits B 132,689 93,015
Other tax recoverable E 4t AT Yk @] F7 18 610,429 752,523
Due from non-controlling NGRS

shareholders of the subsidiaries P& B FRIB 1,062,869 1,180,286
Due from third parties JEUEE = A 71,324 38,000
Receivables from disposal of KEREWBRARZ

subsidiaries FEUFRIE 1,410 -
Other receivables H At U RIE 20,519 19,126
Other prepayments HAFER5RIE 5,216 3,364

1,997,785 2,258,156
Impairment allowance BEEE (49,280) (10,572)
Total =t 1,948,505 2,247 584

The movements in provision for impairment of
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are as
follows:

BENRE - Rt AEREMEE

ZREREERINT

2023 2022

—E-= —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1R ZERAE 10,572 6,213
Impairment losses recognised ERERFEBE 38,708 4,359
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31H ZEEEE 49,280 10,572

Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand.

HERRIBEREER 28 AAR

ZREE -
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21.

22.

204

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS (continued)

The internal credit rating of amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from
third parties, loans to counterparties for acquisition of
land use rights, other receivables and interest receivables
were regarded as the grade of performing. The Group
has evaluated the expected loss rate and gross carrying
amount, measured the impairment based on the 12-month
expected credit losses, and assessed that the expected
credit losses were RMB49,280,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB10,572,000).

CONTRACT COST ASSETS

Contract cost assets are initially recognised for commission
to the sales agents when the agreement for sale and
purchase is signed with a property buyer, if recoverable.
The amounts recognised as contract cost assets are
amortised on a systematic basis which is consistent with
the transfer of the related property to the customer.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
cost assets as at 31 December 2023 is as follows:

21.

22.

FENMIE - HEWRFIER
HE=E @

UK B ARKIEIERBESE - &
WE=F7E - WL AR
FHELZER  HtEWREKEE
WREHANIBEEIREEEBNE
T AEEEFHBEHEERLER
®E RE12EAEHREEEEBHTE
BE - WA ER2023F 12 A31 B HY
TEH{E B 518 A A R#49,280,0007T
(20224 : AR¥10,572,0007T) °

BRRETEE
ANRARENRDEESFEEE
BRERBEREZMEMPLHR
(AT - WRAAMRFEEZ
RERHEAECHRARYE B2
RREES -

N2023F12 A31H - FEHM Bk #AE
AHRAEERESISHOT

2023 2022

—_E_= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETITT
Within one year —F R 47,753 40,748
After one year —F % 32,969 49,480
Total contract cost assets BHNABEERE 80,722 90,228
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 23.
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BeRkATSEY  ZRT

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED HeEREEBER
DEPOSITS
2023 2022
—E-= —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Cash and bank balances Re NIRITHER 391,439 976,384
Less: Restricted cash B XRHIRE S 263,864 687,487
Pledged deposits BT 80,868 155,564
Cash and cash equivalents BeMESEEY 46,707 133,333

In accordance with relevant government requirements,
certain property development subsidiaries of the Group are
required to set up designated bank accounts with certain
amount of pre-sale proceeds for the construction of the
relevant properties. The restricted cash can only be used
for payment of construction costs of the relevant properties
when approval from the relevant government authority is
obtained. Such restricted cash will be released after the
completion of construction of the relevant properties. As
at 31 December 2023, the restricted cash for this part
amounted to RMB165,870,000 (2022: RMB663,920,000).
As at 31 December 2023, the restricted cash included an
amount of RMB97,994,000 (2022: RMB23,567,000) which
was frozen by the People’ s Court due to lawsuits.

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits of
RMB80,868,000 (2022: RMB155,564,000) were pledged
as security for purchasers’ mortgage loans, construction of
projects, or pledged to banks as collateral for issuance of
bank acceptance notes.

RIEEBBRITIAE - AEEE TR
EHB AR EREEYETIZER Mg
ERTHRETHEEESER - R
HI3R & 12 /] RES A B B HERE O HE /i
BN A ENRERES - %5
ZREFESERTENERBBAYER
LI o M2023%12A31H @ ZEXR
H138 & & A R # 165,870,000 7T (2022
£ AR#663,920,0007T) © 722023
F128318 * XBRHRS T BIEEF
A A BERT R4S B9 AR 97,994,000
JC(2022%: AR #23,567,0007T) °

R2023F12 831 H + AR%80,868,000
JC(20224F : A R#155,564,0007T) 2
BT AIEERIZIBER - @R%E
B s R T RITERBITRITRA AL ZR
ofaigiidye

—To=EFR =wEpEEsEAR - 205
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23.

206

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOS'TS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
following currencies:

HERBELSEEY - ZRH
HERCEBER @)

REeRReFEMWATIERE -

2023 2022

—=E_= =z
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT

Cash and cash equivalents RERBEESEEBY

Denominated in RMB UARBEE 46,611 133,040
Denominated in HKD LB TLETE 93 292
Denominated in USD AZFEITEHE 3 1
46,707 133,333

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2023, the internal credit rating of
restricted cash, pledged deposits and cash and cash
equivalents was performing. The Group has assessed that
the credit risk of the restricted cash, pledged deposits and
cash and cash equivalents has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and measured the impairment
based on 12-month expected credit losses, and has
assessed that the expected credit losses are immaterial.
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TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 24, BESENRERESERE
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the REFER BEZENRBERENZER
end of each year, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HRNBEZEQHMERESITOT ¢
2023 2022
—E-= -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARET T
Less than 1 year DR—F 1,270,872 1,368,765
Over 1 year il —F 52,328 51,776
Total Bzt 1,323,200 1,420,541
The trade payables are unsecured and are normally settled BESEMNZEAEIRN —RIZZE
based on the progress of construction. HEESEE o
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. HinENRERESER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET AREFTT
Retention deposits related to EENEEBERES
construction 65,773 55,478
Deposits related to sale of MEEEERRER
properties 11,800 14,204
Advances from the non-controlling  Bff B A &) # FE#% AR A% 3R #h 30
shareholders of subsidiaries 894,583 885,603
Maintenance fund HIEES 36,817 21,545
Interest payable FEA 72 33,013 43,902
Payroll and welfare payable FEN TE&RERN 22,4083 23,772
Business tax and surcharges EERRMME 19,713 12,068
Accrued liabilities fEEtBE 48,127 6,005
Listing expenses payable Rt FTRR S 3,552 3,552
Others Hh 6,669 2,050
Total “BEt 1,142,450 1,068,179
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26.

208

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Contract liabilities AHEE

BWERE
ARABZFENT -

2023 2022
—_E_= —E-—

RMB’000

ARETIT

RMB’000
ARET T

5,201,646 7,606,122

The Group receives payments from customers based
on billing schedules as established in the property sale
contracts. Payments are usually received in advance of the
performance under the contracts which are mainly from
property development and sales.

Management expects that 58% and 42% of the amount will
be recognised in profit or loss within one year and in more
than one year, respectively (2022: 53% recognised within
one year and 47% recognised in more than one year).
The amount disclosed above does not include unsatisfied
performance obligations that were related to the Group’s
contracts with customers with an original duration of one
year or less.
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27. T E#H{TRHEMMERR

BORROWINGS
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
PUPRESPYRIN: 2022F12A31H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRFI%E(%) HE AR%TR | ERAE) 38 ARBTR
Current B
Other loans - secured B -HEA - - - 14,60 2023 6,350
Other loans - unsecured ~ EE 7 — &K 6.00-10.00 2024 61,000  6.00-10.00 2023 64,520
Current portion of long term  EHHTEH 7
bank loans - secured HEEr - HHE 6.00-8.00 2024 33877  4.75-8.00 2023 168,500
Current portion of long term  EHEMERZ
other loans - secured A -FER 3.65-15.00 2024 572,743 3.65-13.00 2023 396,003
Total - current ast—e 667,620 635,373
Non-current FEH
Bank loans - secured ROSH-BER 7.50-7.75  2024-2025 199,390 750 2024-2025 169,390
Other loans - secured BB -HER 2.80  2025-2026 34,800  2.80-15.00  2024-2025 266,770
Total - non-current Bt — 3£ H 234,190 436,160
Total @it 901,810 1,071,533
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27.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27.
BORROWINGS (Continued)

STERTREMER @

2023 2022

—E_= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT

Analysed into: Ak

Repayable within one year BR—FAERE 667,620 635,373
Repayable in the second year JBRE —FEE 84,800 262,770
Repayable in the third year HRE=FEE 149,390 173,390
Total FEE 901,810 1,071,533

As at 31 December 2023, a total amount of
RMB390,013,000 interest-bearing bank and other
borrowing has become default and repayable on demand.

R2023F 128318 @ st BRIT N HAM
e a5 AR 390,013,000t 2 &4
WEREREE -

R2023F12H31H#& » AEEBEWKRE
BR2024F1 A30BEIH - A& 5B A
AR#220,0007T 25T BIRIT R E b5

=
A °

After 31 December 2023, the Group did not repay a
principal of RMB220,000 interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings due on 30 January 2024.
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27. stES1TREMER @)
BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are REE 2 & TRITREAEFKAK IR
secured by the pledges of the following assets with carrying TIHEEERARD  HEAEENSSF
values at the end of each year: RERMEEWT :
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F12H31H 2022F12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Properties under development BRAYENT18)
(note 18) 1,982,889 2,244,363
As at 31 December 2023, the controlling shareholder, Mr. M2023%12 A31H @ HEARARER 258 5%
Qian Kun and his spouse, Ms. An Juan, have guaranteed ERERBLREBLZLTHELZAREE
certain of the bank and other borrowings of up to Nil (2022: T.(20224F : AR#35,500,0007T)HVE
RMB35,500,000). FHR1T R EAIEFTIREIER -
As at 31 December 2023, R =R EEEER Q7 20235 12A31H  “H=RKEE
(“Anhui Sanxun Investment Group Co., Ltd.”) has EERAT([ZB=BREEEERD
guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans amounting to 71 HAEE RS AR 4,040,0007T
RMB4,040,000 (2022: RMB48,000,000). (20224 : AR #48,000,0007T) K9%&

TIRITEFRMER -
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27. s E#{TREMER @)
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The proportions of equity interests pledged by the Group at A& B R S HA R AR A9 AR #E b
the end of each reporting period are as follows: AR

31 December
12H31H

2023
===

—_ =

Jiangyin Chengrun Real Estate Co., Ltd JTRMEEE X AR AT 100% 100%
Wuxi Xunyi Real Estate Co., Ltd EHREEERBRAA 100% 100%
Changzhou Xunfeng Real Estate BINREBEXERAT
Co., Ltd 86% 86%
Chaohu Shixun Real Estate Co., Ltd &Mttt RS E5RE AT 60% 60%
Nanjing Xixun Real Estate Co., Ltd EREEREEER AT - 20%
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F12H31H 2022912 A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETFIT
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
675,529,000 ordinary shares of 675,529,000 &% B
HK$0.00001 each 0.00001 8 TTH) & mAx 6 6
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29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the issued
capital of the then holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group and the capital contributions from
the equity holders of certain subsidiaries now comprising
the Group before the completion of the Reorganisation.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles
of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC,
the Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits
after tax, as determined under the Chinese accounting
standards, to statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of its registered capital. Subject to
certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC regulations
and in the articles of association of the Group, the statutory
surplus reserve may be used either to offset losses, or to
be converted to increase share capital provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the
registered capital of the Group. The reserve cannot be used
for purposes other than those for which it is created and is
not distributable as cash dividends.

29.

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 20234128311

RG]
HZE2023F12A31HILEE - KER
MNEHEBESCBEREEZHETRNEE R

&R
AEBENEHEFBEEATRAIASE
BREE T AR ERNIERAFNE
BOIRARARERKE TS THEB
RAEDRFBEANTE -

EE B

RIR P B R BDE R BRI A Y S
NAMMARERMAR - NEEASR
RizH B S £ RIEE MR A 8
10% 2R ERGFHE - EERHERA
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 30. EEMELAT
(a) ~ Chuzhou Xinxing Real Estate Co., Ltd. @ HRNBEBEBRAR
On 17 January 2023, the Group entered into an agreement MR2023F1 8178 - "EBFIY —E
to dispose of its entire interest in Chuzhou Xinxing Real Wk - DA A &) A FE1E AR AR 3R
Estate Co., Ltd. (“Chuzhou Xinxing”), a subsidiary with EEHRBMNEHEEXER A (BRM
34% of equity interest attributable to the Company, to the S0 ])(—EHEARAEEI4%BARER
non-controlling shareholders of the subsidiary for a total WMBAR)MEHER  BASREAR
cash consideration of RMB15,300,000. The disposal had AR #15,300,0007C - REEZHBEERN
been completed in February 2023. The assets and liabilities 2023F 2 A5 o HINZENEE A 5
of Chuzhou Xinxing at the disposal date were as follows: MEERABNT -
2023
—E-=
RMB’000
AR¥ET T
Net assets disposed of: FIEEEEFE
Non-current assets EMEBNEE 4,731
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREFEY 1,744
The other current assets HEMns&E 418,227
Current liabilities RBBE (378,622)
Non-current liabilities EmEatE (2,292)
Non-controlling interests IR (28,900)
Subtotal N 14,888
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary REWNB AR Z WS 412
Total consideration KRB 15,300
Satisfied by: AT 3 &SI BT -
Cash He 14,390
Other receivables H fth FEU R IE 910
15,300
Cash consideration ReRE 14,390
Cash and bank balances disposed of iR B3R & MIRITH £ (1,744)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents B RRSEBMRAFE
Non-current assets EREBEE 12,646
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30.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30.
Taihu Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (b)

On 6 August 20283, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to dispose of its entire interest in
Taihu Sanxun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Taihu Sanxun”),
a subsidiary with 30% of equity interest attributable to
the Company, to the non-controlling shareholders of the
subsidiary for a total cash consideration of RMB6,000,000.
The disposal had been completed in August 2023. The
assets and liabilities of Taihu Sanxun at the disposal date
were as follows:

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

BEEKB AR )
AP=RBEXEFRAA

20238 A6H  AEEFIY—HE
B ARAKER M IEERAER
HEERKH=-RBEAR AR K
M=2)(—MAAREEE30%RE
B AR M2 R RReRE
A ARYE,000,0007T - EEEECDR
2023F8ATERK - KM =N EE R
MEBEKBERAT :

2023
—E=E-=
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Net assets disposed of: FMEEEESE
Non-current assets IEMBNEE 395,297
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFEY 4,210
The other current assets Bt mei&eE 70,176
Current liabilities MEAE (449,698)
Non-current liabilities IERBEE (48)
Non-controlling interests IR (13,955)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BEEMBARZ WS 19
Total consideration RIE#EE 6,000
Satisfied by: AT S EEA
Cash Re 5,500
Other receivables H b el sRI8 500
6,000
Cash consideration HERE 5,500
Cash and bank balances disposed of TR ER & RIRITH (4,210)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents B MRS EEBYRAER
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,290
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 31. GEBRERERKE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)  Major non-cash transactions @ FEHREXRH
During the year, Group had non-cash additions to right- FA PR ABHERHENES F &%
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB1,432,000 BEFHAEEERTEEGGE RS
and RMB1,432,000, respectively, in respect of lease Bno R A A REA1,432,000 T & A
arrangements for office buildings (2022: RMB562,000 and R #1,432,0007C (2022 F : AR
RMB562,000). 562,0007T & A R #562,0007T) °

(b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities b) METHELENEEZS

Interest- Total
bearing Due to liabilities
bank Due to non- from

and other related controlling Lease financing
borrowings parties shareholder liabilities  activities

RE®E

HEBATR B ENFEER B
Hfpfis BEMARE BRRRE  ARAR  AREE
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTL ARETT ARBETT ARETR

At 1 January 2022 R2022%1 818 1,598,874 30,425 1,075,350 22,599 2,727,248
Cash flows from/(used in) BEEHME/

financing activities (FPR)ALTE (527,341) 15,615 (189,747 (3,501)  (704,974)
Cash flows used in FREEHHMA

non-financing activities BenE - (30,425) - (18,680) (49,105)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A31H 1,071,633 15,615 885,603 418 1,973,169
Cash flows from/(used in) BBEHME/

financing activities (FFA)ReRE (169,723) 15,607 8,980 (1,017)  (146,153)
Cash flows from FRETEDME

non-financing activities RemeE - - - 1,432 1,432
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12A31H 901,810 31,222 894,583 833 1,828,448
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

31.

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

SEBESRERWE @

HEMNB & RLER
AR SRERNEENRESRLA
BUOR :

2023 2022
—_E_= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETTT
Within financing activities mEEEN (1,017) (3,501)
32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. FREE

At the end of each year, contingent liabilities not provided
for in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

Guarantees given to banks in
connection with facilities
granted to purchasers of the
Group’s properties

IR T AEENEERD
BB MRITIEL AR

REFER ARG EMBHRRABE
MERBENT

2023
—E-=F

2022
e

— =

RMB’000
ARETTT

RMB’000
ARET T

5,310,298 5,897,790

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of
the Group’s completed properties held for sale. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in the case
of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with any accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to those banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties
were pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage
loans. Upon default on mortgage repayments by these
purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the legal
titles and will realise the pledged properties through open
auction.

AEERETRITAAKEFIEHE
ERTITMEEZRLNRBRERM
R - REBEERTHENGR  WER
RZBNR > AEEERETAZRS
RITEEREERBAERENER
PR VR BT ) B R BT -

R L2 BE - HHEYED EH TR
THERAEBEFMNERD - ZFER
REERBERE  RITBEERE
BEMBREEKEBAFBEERK
T
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32.

33.

218

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the
issuance and registration of property ownership certificates
to the purchasers, which will generally be available within
one to two years after the purchasers take possession of
the relevant properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year
in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale. The directors of the Company considered
that in the case of default on payments, the net realisable
value of the related properties would be sufficient to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued
interest and penalty, and therefore no provision has been
made in connection with the guarantees.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

32.

33.

ZAREE @)

AEENEFRBERTHBREER
BHEZ B ERY XA ER R
BERIL FRERB-—RAERE
EREMER—EMF

AEERFAVTEREFIFHERR
ITHENBERERZBREME M
BERELEMNEANEE - ARAES
R EREFRBRER  HEME
YA E B FE B A REEMIRIE
B EEAER NS RER - At
BERLERIELEE -

i
REERRE R T ISR

2023 2022

—E_= —_EF_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETIT

Contracted, but not provided for: 2 ET #4918 & R B4 -

Property under development YIEEREH 1,744,568 2,072,120
Acquisition of land use rights Uiy BE + b {58 P A 82,900 374,890
Total Bt 1,827,468 2,447,010
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34.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions

The following transactions were carried out with related
parties during the year:

31 DECEMBER 2023 | 2023412 H31H

34. BEHARS
(1) BAEHIXS
AT 52 S A 7 B R 7 31T -

2023 2022
—E-= —E_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETT
Advances to an associate HBTEE R AR 45,000 -
Repayment of advances to an Bt N AEEERK
associate 15,607 38,147
Advances to a related party ST RAE B
Companies controlled by the AR AR AR R
ultimate controlling shareholder kil lo/NC] 88,708 84,000
Repayment of advances to a BAH 5 (EE B
related party
Companies controlled by the A SRR
ultimate controlling shareholder P A B 121,296 -
Rental income from a related party B @5 HASIWA
(note) (Btat) 1,101 1,320
Property management services to %5 T BB 7T ) ) E TR
a related party (note) AR (M) 1,440 3,839
Fabrication expense to a related AR A R ERER Y
party (note) (K1at) 29,268 17,454

Note:  These transactions were carried out in accordance with the terms
and conditions mutually agreed by the parties involved, according
to the published prices and conditions similar to those offered
to major customers/suppliers of the Group. The related party
providing the property management services was disposed of to
third parties in October 2022 and re-acquired in June 2023.

Mt BERZBRBAMGHERERERETA
SEXEEF HEENEFEUNK
iR B A RS 5 5% T & 155K R IE
1T o 1R UL B 1R AR 0 B EsE 5
2022F 10 A & T8 =4 MWK 202356
AEE -
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. BEARS @)
(Continued)
(2)  Outstanding balances with related parties (2) EHEEE T M ARAE NSRS
2023 2022
—E_= —_EF_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARMEFIT
Due from related companies JFE Uk BB B N &) FR IR
Associates G R/NE] 4,500 -
Companies controlled by the PR B AR 42 IS A B4R I
ultimate controlling shareholder NG
Balances relating to trade BERE S0 ES 751 4,038
Balances relating to non-trade BHEE NG 51,412 84,000
Impairment VEREN (20,565) -
76,598 88,938
Due to related companies FEAST BB A B /08
Associates G B/NE] 31,222 15,615

(8)  Compensation of key management personnel of the  (3) ZAEETEEIEABHMIE :

Group:
2023 2022
—g=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Short-term employee benefits EEEERET 3,202 4,983
Performance-related bonuses FIREMAIEAT 133 -
Pension scheme contributions and Bk &=t 27 &
social welfare e’ 410 447
3,745 5,430
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in ERESMHENE — S F Bt AT
note 8 to the financial statements. MERKMIES
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 35. REFEASINEMIA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EFemIANREHARNERER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as S
follows:

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

Financial assets THREE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
RBE AT E
NEmMEE
RMB’000
AR®T T

Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATENFRIE - HAERFUE R

other receivables and other assets HEHMmEENSREE 1,149,218
Trade receivables (note 20) B 5 e GRIA (H7E20) 17,296
Due from related parties (note 34) JE U BE RS 5 SR IE (A 5#34) 76,598
Restricted cash (note 23) 2R HIE© (H7723) 263,864
Pledged deposits (note 23) BRI (M 523) 80,868
Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) ReRBeEEW(MiE23) 46,707
Total “RET 1,634,552

Financial liabilities THEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

REBHERATE

MEMEE
RMB’000
AR® T

Trade and bills payables (note 24) B SN HRIE R IENZE (K it24) 1,323,200
Financial liabilities included in other payables 5+ A E fih fE{~H I8 R fET & Y

and accruals TRAaE 1,100,332
Due to related parties (note 34) FE A~ BB 5 s IE (M 5F34) 31,222
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 23817 & Eh &5k (Hf7727)

(note 27) 910,810

Total #Et 3,365,564
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 35. REHESHNEMIT R
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZEHReMIARBEHRARNEREMBEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T (&)

follows: (continued)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
Financial assets THREE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
R HK AR E
MEmEE
RMB’000
AREET T
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTAFER FRIE - A ERGRIE R
other receivables and other assets HMWEENSREE 1,199,412
Trade receivables (note 20) B 5 W GRIE (K #£20) 1,127
Due from related parties (note 34) JE U RA B 5 SRR (71 34) 88,938
Restricted cash (note 23) 2R HIE S (A7723) 683,490
Pledged deposits (note 23) ERBER (M 7F23) 156,547
Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) ReRBeEEW(MiE23) 133,333
Total “RET 2,262,847
Financial liabilities THEIEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
bie E DI S
NEmERE
RMB’000
ARETIT
Trade and bills payables (note 24) B N HRIE R IENZE (K it24) 1,420,541
Financial liabilities included in other payables 5+ A E fih fE -t X IB R fET & Y
and accruals TRAaE 1,032,337
Due to related parties (note 34) FEHRARS 7 SRIB (A2t 34) 15,615
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 2877 & H b &5 (M :727)
(note 27) 1,071,533
Total et 3,540,026
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 36. TRITENAFEERAFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL [E &

INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s REMEEATECERAENESRT
financial instruments, other than those with carrying B AEBSRITANEEAERA
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as FEMT :

follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
RREE DFE
2023 2022 2023 2022
T “E-=F | DF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR

AEBTIE | AR¥TR

—EB-=F
RMB’000
AR®T

EA SN
AT EIRTT REMER

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

901,810

1,071,533 901,653 1,071,384

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted cash, trade
receivables, amounts due from related parties, financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, and amounts
due to related parties approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the chief
finance officer is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly
to the chief financial officer and the board of directors. At
each reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the board of directors twice a year for financial
reporting.

ERENBREMASEEY BER
HEX XRGRES  BHEEX
B RARIE D RIR - B ATREN R
B HEYGREREMEEN TR
BE BZERNFBARENRER &
ARMEMNRARETERANTEEA
B M FE R ESE 7 SRR X FEEE R
EEMESE  T2HRNZEFTANHR
B o

AEERMBEERENEXREH
BREEETEeMI AR FEFENRK
REREF - CEREBEFEZRMB
MENEECER NERESEH -
CEREBEEOTERTAEENE
B UYEBETEARGENEAGA
Big - M REERMARUEARMG
B -EF28FMATmAERRFR
BR - UHPEERE -
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
|NSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31
December 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial liabilities (2022
Nil).

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

36.

EMIBENAFERAEE
8 4% @)

FFERITREMERNAFEL BB
KAKR - EERREFGHRES
K T A/ E AT ] A A 2 8L 35 78 B R 2R
BeREFTHEMSE - 1K12023F12 431
A NEBEAF SRITREAMERA
BEERBYRKBRETHEATERK -

FR - pepaEns  BEF—E
TEF-_EBHRZENAFLEFEER
B #temeE A 588 5 = B4 (20224 :
7)o

AFEER
TEMAAEBSBIANHAT Et
SER

EHELFEMNRE

Fair value measurement using

RANTHENQVEE

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
SEET R
FrERfE#%
(F—B&R)
RMB’000
ARBTT

As at 31 December 2023
Interest-bearing bank and

#2023F12A31H
SHERITREMER

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
ERAHE
BAEE
(F=EB&R)
RMB’000
ARBTT

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
EATABE
BARE
(B=E®)
RMB’000
ARETTT

Ast
RMB’000
ARETT

other borrowings - 901,653 - 901,653
As at 31 December 2022 M2022%12A318
Interest-bearing bank and FHESRITREAME R

other borrowings - 1,071,384 - 1,071,384
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include
cash and bank balances, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, trade and bills payables and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, which arise
directly from its operations. The Group has other financial
assets and liabilities such as interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, amounts due to related parties, and
amounts due from related parties. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces
conservative strategies on its risk management. To keep
the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum, the
Group has not used any derivatives and other instruments
for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings set out in note 27. The Group does
not use derivative financial instruments to hedge interest
rate risk.

If the interest rate of bank and other borrowings had
increased/decreased by 100BP and all other variables held
constant, the profit before tax of the Group, through the
impact on borrowings, would have decreased/increased by
approximately RMB3,900,000 (2022: RMB1,334,000).

37.
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MRk EE B R R BUR

FEENTFESRIATIZEOERS
RRITHER - BHRBFIA - fTAR
50R - A EUGRIA R E & EH
EREE BIRNRERENER
Rt ARMENFBEREFERNS
BEE ZRFTERMIAEERRAER
2 AEEEEERMEERAE - f
WA BERIT R EME R - BB
RIE - B TR - ZE ST
ANTIZENRESFESHAREL
EZR -

AEBERESRIANTERR BT
ZRER - SNERR  EEERKERE
B2k - —RME > AEEER
ERRDRTHRE RBEREAR
SEAENZEER  AKEILEE
REMTETAREMBTAEHFA
®e AEBYEFARBETITESH
TAFEERE EFSRILBE
EEEEZERROBR  BREBXE
BT

AESEL
AEBARNTHBALBDAREE
B EE07 T R A B RTT R E A
EHEE AEEDEERTES R
TEHHHERR -

WIETREMERNFNE LA T
IO ESMAT A H & 2 4%
& AAEENBRFEINES (BB
BROFE)EDRIRD IO A
R # 3,900,000 7T (2022 F : A R ¥&
1,334,0007T) °
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
The Group has currency exposures from its cash and cash
equivalents.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the HK$ exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair values of monetary assets and liabilities).

37.

BERREEBEZEREE @)

SN [\ B

AEBARZERRR - ZRARRA
EEBEMNEDEEEUINERE
THEXBE - AEERAZ LR
Z (B Y E b SNE RR

TR & R 2
BETE BTEXTRERARS
BERT  AEERBARA(EE
BEAERAEATELRED)RAL
B BRSO RS o

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
HKS$ rate profit before tax
BTER BRBi AT A
R/ (T) #m,/ ()
% RMB’000
AR% T
2023 2023%F
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ A RE S BT E -5% 5
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ fi A R 5 & T FH& 5% (5)
2022 20224
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ i A REE 138 T B2 (& -5% 15
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ fif A R & 5 & T FH& 5% (15)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MEBERBEEEEREE@®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (Continued) (©) = EBREKE)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging SRR G EF R

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRIFERAEHIEERENES
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, BENSESEERAR  TBUASE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other KA EE (B IEA[E N EE B LR A
information is available without undue cost or effort, and BHWIS R TREEMER) » B2
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The B31BERFEREDLE - FI2%8
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial SEALREENERAME -

assets.

As at 31 December 2023 m2023qg125 31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
FEFR 2HRBEEER

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
F-KR F-RR EZRR  ELAE s
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETRE ARBTR ARBTRT ARBTRT AR%TR

Trade receivables” B S E = = = 17,296 17,296
Financial assets included FABERFE - Eft

in prepayments, other FEUFEREMEE

receivables and other assets K& RIBE

- Normal*™* —FE" 1,198,498 - - - 1,198,498
Due from related parties JE Ut BB R 5 7OE 97,163 = = = 97,163
Restricted cash XRHIEE 263,864 - - - 263,864
Pledged deposits BEATER 80,868 = = = 80,868
Cash and cash equivalents BeLALEEY 46,707 - - - 46,707
Total st 1,687,100 - - 17,296 1,704,396
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c)  Credit risk (Continued) (©)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022

12-month
ECLs
12 A A

FEBR

BERREEBEZEREE @)

EERE &)
R (25 B R K K T Ba P R (#8)

BX [A]

M2022512A31H

Stage 1 Stage 2
F-RBR  F-BER
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®TRT

Lifetime ECLs

rHRBEEER
Simplified
Stage 3 approach Total
F=ER  BERE 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT

Trade receivables* Z S EW B - - - 1,127 1,127
Financial assets included STATEAFUR - Eft

in prepayments, other EUFERENEE

receivables and other assets KIS RIBE

- Normal* —EE™ 1,199,412 - - - 1,199,412
Due from related parties JE N FERE 5 TR 88,938 - - - 88,938
Restricted cash TREFS 683,490 - - - 683,490
Pledged deposits BEATR 156,547 - - - 156,547
Cash and cash equivalents ReLALEEY 133,333 - - - 133,333
Total w5t 2,261,720 - - 1,127 2,262,847

i For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified i MAEBEABILREREZNE S ER

approach for impairment, information based on the expected credit
losses is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements. There is
no significant concentration of credit risk.

i The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

228  Sanxun Holdings Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

ke

REME - WEREEBERERNE
BB MR M FE20AHE - BIREA
FERBES -

FEATANRIA - EEEFAREME
ENERMEEFENE EXRBAY
BEENBTEREENFERARABER

AR IR KIRIE MR T HRE A
[EF]-



37.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility using interest-bearing

bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities. Cash flows
are being closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On
demand

BRER

37.

Less than
3 months

SPR=EA
RMB’000
ARETT

B 7% ¥R AR B &
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BREREEEERBE @)

mB R R

AEENBEFERMAFBRITREM
ERARBEERE  HEESHFEN
HEEE ARG FE - AREFE

FYEERENE °

AEESRABNESHRREER]
MERBEIR RO Z BB T

3to12
months
ZE+Zf@R
RMB’000
ARET R

Over

1 year
—F4LE
RMB’000
AR%T R

Total

@5t
RMB’000
AR¥TR

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H
Interest-bearing bank and FERITREMER
other borrowings 390,013 238,078 110,122 194,954 933,167
Trade and bills payables ZoENTER
EREE - 281,422 989,450 52,328 1,323,200
Lease liabilities HERE - 309 525 - 834
Due to related companies e B R R FUR 31,222 - - - 31,222
Financial liabilities included in 5+ A E fth & F008 &
other payables and accruals BT EEHNLREE - 193,507 769,134 - 962,641
Total Bt 421,235 713,316 1,869,231 247,282 3,251,064
31 December 2022 2022%F12A318
Interest-bearing bank and HERITREMER
other borrowings - 252,502 461,934 463,407 1,177,843
Trade and bills payables ZHENFER
ENEE - 314,608 1,105,933 - 1,420,541
Lease liabilities HERE - 5 196 217 418
Financial liabilities included in 5+ A E {t fE 4 2008 &
other payables and accruals BT EEHSREE - 146,734 885,603 - 1,082,337
Total @5t - 713,849 2,453,666 463,624 3,631,139

Please refer to Note 2.1 for analysis of going concern basis
of preparation.

¥

EBBECERBUEEI DN - F2
B EE2.1 ©

\
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The
Group includes, within net debt, trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, amounts due to related parties and
lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital
represents equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

37.

BEREERERBE @

BRER
AEBEAERNTIEBBRRRER
SENFELER  TRERED
BALH  AXHEBREERSR
RIEE-

AEERBEEBERNBEEEE AR
BRIFLFHE - BRFAABREALR
B AN B A RE B A R SRR A RO AR
B MBRIRIE B AN KBTI

AEEERAEABELXR(HERFHE
BRABEARINERFEN AT E) B
REAX - AKENERFIBERREES
ENRERENRE - HMBENKA
REFTER St ERTREMER
ENEETFRIEERE - BIR
RehBReEBY  BEXESREHE
BEARGERD RHEEHRNELE
BHERET :

31 December

31 December

2023 2022

2023%F12H31H 2022412 A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET T AR®ET T

Trade and bills payables B SN KB RENERE 1,323,200 1,420,541

Other payables and accruals H e FRIE N e B A 1,142,450 1,068,179

Interest-bearing bank and FTEIRIT R A fbfE sk

other borrowings 901,810 1,071,533

Due to related parties A RA RS 75 3R 31,222 156,615

Less: Cash and cash equivalents i : IR& NIREEEY (46,707) (133,333)

Net debt BIEF5 3,351,975 3,442,535
Equity attributable to owners of HRRER ARG

the parent 1,136,351 1,549,646

Capital and net debt BEARANERFEE 4,488,326 4,992,181

Gearing ratio BXRBELX 75% 69%
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 38. MAEARFEREZNIS
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING BENEAFE
INTERESTS

AEBBEAE GFERESOMNE R
AR BT

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

2023%12A31H

31 December 2023

Percentage of Profit
equity interest for the year Accumulated
held by allocated to balances of
non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
interests interests interests
FEREREE DB FHEER FERERMN
HWiRETIL RENEREF Rtk
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Suzhou Sanxun BN=2 70.0 63,650 46,742
Guangde Shengfa EERE 73.0 48,349 75,645
Hefei Jiusan BER= 70.0 40,834 97,880

31 December 2022

2022412 H31H

Percentage of Profit/(loss)
equity interest for the year Accumulated
held by allocated to balances of
non-controlling ~ non-controlling ~ non-controlling
interests interests interests
DT IR
FERERTA EREFN FEEAR IR Y
HRER DL A, (1) RETHEER
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFT
Lixin Taixun MFErBERE 66.0 100,403 103,412
Guoyang Taixun BEGERE 70.0 82,123 113,478
Hefei Jiusan SRR = 70.0 46,402 57,047

—EoCFER ceppEEaRaA - 231
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 38. BEEARFEREZNID
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING BEMEB AT m)
|NTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TR A B A B & B A B R
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts T o IEENSEIL R REMA R
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: BESECRE

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

Suzhou Guangde Hefei
Sanxun Shengfa Jiusan

BM=352 ERER® BER=

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®BTR

Revenue A 367,682 273,947 586,355
Total expenses it (246,251) (184,533) (507,660)
Income tax expense FTSiFX (30,502) (23,183) (20,361)

Profit and total comprehensive &R FI| [ 2 F 25 48 58

income for the year 90,929 66,231 58,334
Current assets MEVEE 195,797 299,855 731,455
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,077 5,850 6,038
Current liabilities mEAE (130,961) (214,308) (597,248)
Non-current liabilities FERBAaE (138) (476) (416)

66,775 90,921 139,829

Net cash flows (used in)/from  &E&EBN(FTE),/Fr1E

operating activities Rene 758 (162) (31,218) 48,834
Net cash flows used in REZSMARERE

investing activities FE - = (45,000)
Net cash flows used in BEETHARERE

financing activities Pk = = -

Net (decrease)/increase in ReERReFEY
cash and cash equivalents CRid) /s (162) (31,218) 3,834
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 38. BEEARFERERZNIBD
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING BEMNB AR @)
|NTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TR LMK E A BB E RS
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts ZoFIEENSEIL R REMA A
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: R - (&)

(Continued)

31 December 2022 2022%12 A31H

Lixin Guoyang Hefei
Taixun Taixun Jiusan
RGHERE EER=

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTTT ARETT

Revenue ON 638,729 681,912 773,677
Total expenses st (420,147) (518,905) (682,069)
Income tax expense FTiSBiF= (66,457) (45,688) (25,319)

Profit and total comprehensive % A% | 2 & E Y #4250

income for the year 152,125 117,319 66,289
Current assets MEEE 508,683 600,102 1,263,311
Non-current assets IFRBEE 1,924 4,270 27,327
Current liabilities mEAE (353,344) (441,351) (1,206,927)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (578) (910) (2,215)

156,685 162,111 81,496

Net cash flows (used in)/from  &&EE(FTA) /15

operating activities Bene$8 (11,908) (1,120) 223,753
Net cash flows used in REZHFMARSRE

investing activities P - - -
Net cash flows used in A EHFARESAE

financing activities FEE - - (258,000)
Net decrease in cash and FeRALEED

cash equivalents HA TR (11,908) (1,120) (34,247)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

39. ARRTFZ2HBMRREK

RBEHR - BEAANRAZHHRR

ROARIT

2023 2022
—=E2_-_= —=E=E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESEEY 36 2
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 3 48
Due from subsidiaries JFE U B B A B FRIE 662,239 663,430
Total current assets MENVEEBTE 662,278 663,480
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBaE
Other payables and accruals Hip et sE R ETE A 666 673
Due to subsidiaries XL ENGIE L] 6,755 6,214
Total current liabilities MENE BB 7,421 6,887
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 654,857 656,593
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEEABERRBERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 654,857 656,593
NET ASSETS BEFE 654,857 656,593
EQUITY =
Share capital A% A 6 6
Reserves HiE 654,851 656,587
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 654,857 656,593
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40.

41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  39.

OF THE COM PANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s equity is as follows:

A% R M
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RQ A Z B BAR R T )

Bt -

RARHESBENT

Share Share Accumulated

capital premium losses Total

& REE RitEE Ast

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT

At 1 January 2022 #2022%1 A1A 6 677,059 (17,374) 659,691
Issue of shares BT - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year EN2 EEBLEZE - - (3,098) (3,098)
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 6 677,059 (20,472) 656,593
At 1 January 2023 20231 A1H 6 677,059 (20,472) 656,593
Issue of shares BITRR MG - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year SR 2 EE LS = = (1,736) (1,736)
At 31 December 2023 #R2023F12A31H 6 677,059 (22,208) 654,857

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 40. REHREE

Save as disclosed in Note 27, there was no significant
subsequent event undertaken by the Company after 31
December 2023.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 41.

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.

BRBSsE27 T BB & SN - ANA F) 2023
FI2 A1 MEETTMNERIE
FIF -

HER B R

R RCHESSR2024F3 A28
A& R IREEETT -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFBESR

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT AREBTT AR®Tx
REVENUE Uz 3,108,726 3,946,091 5,616,646 4,487,643 2,623,434
Cost of sales SHERA (2,130,109)  (2,881,130)  (4,693,298)  (3,890,822)  (2,590,613)
GROSS PROFIT ES 978,617 1,064,961 923,348 596,821 32,821
Other income and gains ~ E A KMz 9,652 12,449 14,325 18,318 5,120
Selling and distribution HERDHERY

expenses (143,803) (200,203) (221,220) (173,221) (72,090)
Administrative expenses  {THBI X (104,161) (188,662) (196,307) (93,167) (59,925)
Other expenses Hipfis (9,224) (16,549) (16,789) (12,799) (19,307)
Fair value loss on BEMERNFE

investment properties EiE - - (13,324) (15,000) (10,400)
Finance costs BE A (44,313) (22,087) (39,971) (27,580) (42,293)
Share of profits and RIS FI &1 -

losses of:

Associates =N (4,124) (6,620) (4,645) 18,104 8,320
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB Al A 682,644 643,289 445,417 311,476 (257,754)
Income tax expense FTefiFEx (287,323) (275,593) (186,512) (202,836) (127,065)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR &R 3% 395,321 367,696 258,905 108,640 (384,819)
Attributable to: AT ALTIE
Owners of the parent BREHEBA 442 121 367,253 2,991 (86,124) (413,295)
Non-controlling interests  JE¥EfR iz (46,800) 443 255,914 194,764 28,476

395,321 367,696 258,905 108,640 (384,819)
Total non-current assets ~ JEREN A E L 388,489 486,141 521,822 397,749 275,841
Total current assets MBEEST 12,987,942 16,477,338 16,689,343 13,780,805 10,882,520
Total assets BEE 13,376,431 16,963,479 17,211,165 14,178,554 11,158,361
Total non-current liabilities 3E7i 8N & E4E%E 928,242 1,078,970 249,519 437,258 236,493
Total current liabilities REAEESE 11,567,482 14,341,954 14,356,365 11,225,278 8,833,525
Total liabilities BERE 12,495,724 15,420,924 14,605,884 11,622,536 9,070,018
Equity attributable to HRRHEAARLER

owners of parent 580,506 947,759 1,641,215 1,549,652 1,136,357
Non-controlling interests  3Ei% A& fE25 300,201 594,796 964,066 966,366 951,986
Total equity Mg 880,707 1,542,555 2,605,281 2,516,018 2,088,343
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